
THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt about the action 
you should take, you are recommended to seek your own financial advice immediately from an independent financial 
adviser who is authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) (“FSMA”) if you are in the 
United Kingdom, or from another appropriately authorised independent financial adviser if you are in a territory outside 
the United Kingdom. 

This document, which comprises a prospectus relating to Ruffer Investment Company Limited (the “Company”) has been approved 
by the Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA”), as competent authority under the Prospectus Regulation and has been delivered to 
the FCA in accordance with Rule 3.2 of the Prospectus Regulation Rules. This document has been made available to the public as 
required by the Prospectus Regulation Rules.  

 

This document has been approved by the FCA of 12 Endeavour Square, London E20 1JN, as competent authority under the 
Prospectus Regulation. Contact information relating to the FCA can be found at http://www.fca.org.uk/contact.  

The FCA only approves this document as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the 
Prospectus Regulation. Such approval should not be considered as an endorsement of the Company or the quality of the securities 
that are the subject of this document. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the securities.  

 

The Shares, as at the date of this document, are admitted to the premium segment of the Official List and to trading on the London 
Stock Exchange’s main market for listed securities. No application has been made or is currently intended to be made for the Shares 
to be admitted to listing or trading on any other stock exchange.  

 

The Company and each of the Directors, whose names appear on page 25 of this document, accept responsibility for the information 
contained in this document. To the best of the knowledge of the Company and the Directors, the information contained in this document 
is in accordance with the facts and this document makes no omission likely to affect its import.  

 

The Investment Manager accepts responsibility for the information and opinions related to or attributed to the Investment Manager or 
any Affiliate of the Investment Manager contained in Part 2 (Risk Factors), paragraphs 1 and 8 of Part 5 (The Company), paragraphs 
1 and 2 of Part 6 (The Portfolio and Investment Outlook) and paragraphs 2 and 5 of Part 7 (Directors, Investment Manager and 
Administration) of this document (the “Investment Manager Sections”). To the best of the Investment Manager’s knowledge, the 
Investment Manager Sections are in accordance with the facts and make no omission likely to affect their import. 

The Company is not offering any new shares nor any other securities in connection with this document. This document does not 
constitute an offer to sell, or the solicitation of an offer to subscribe for or to buy, any shares nor any other securities of the Company 
in any jurisdiction. The Shares will not be generally made available or marketed to the public in the UK or in any other jurisdiction in 
connection with the publication of this document. 

Investors should read the entire document and, in particular, Part 2 (Risk Factors) when considering an investment in the 
Company.  
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Investec Bank plc (“Investec”) is authorised in the United Kingdom by the Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by the Financial 
Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority. Investec is acting exclusively for the Company and for no one else in relation 
to the arrangements referred to in this document. Investec will not regard any other person (whether or not a recipient of this document) 
as their client in relation to the arrangements referred to in this document and will not be responsible to anyone other than the Company 
for providing the protections afforded to its clients or for providing any advice in relation to the contents of this document or any 
transaction or arrangement referred to in this document.  

Apart from the responsibilities and liabilities, if any, which may be imposed on Investec by FSMA or the regulatory regime established 
thereunder, Investec makes no representation, express or implied, in relation to, nor accepts any responsibility whatsoever for, the 
contents of this document or any other statement made or purported to be made by it or on its behalf in connection with the Company, 
the Shares or the Tap Issue. Investec (and its Affiliates) accordingly, to the fullest extent permissible by law, disclaims all and any 
responsibility or liability (save for statutory liability), whether arising in tort, contract or otherwise which it might otherwise have in respect 
of the contents of this document or any other statement made or purported to be made by it or on its behalf in connection with the 
Company, the Shares or the Tap Issue. 

No person has been authorised to give any information or make any representations in relation to the Company other than those 
contained in this document and, if given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having been so 
authorised by the Company, the Investment Manager and/or Investec. Without prejudice to the Company’s obligations under the 
Prospectus Regulation Rules, the Listing Rules, the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules, the Prospectus Regulation and 
MAR, the delivery of this document does not, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the 
affairs of the Company since, or that the information contained herein is correct at any time subsequent to, the date of this document.  

Investec and its Affiliates may have engaged in transactions with, and provided various investment banking, financial advisory and 
other services for, the Company and/or the Investment Manager for which they would have received customary fees. Investec and its 
Affiliates may provide such services to the Company and/or the Investment Manager and any of their respective Affiliates in the future.  

 



None of Investec or its Affiliates intends to disclose the extent of any such investment or transactions otherwise than in accordance 
with any legal or regulatory obligation to do so. In addition, Investec and its Affiliates may enter into financing arrangements with 
investors, such as share swap arrangements or lending arrangements in connection with which Investec and its Affiliates may from 
time to time acquire, hold or dispose of shareholdings in the Company.  

The contents of this document is not to be construed as legal, financial, business, investment or tax advice. Investors should consult 
their own legal adviser, financial adviser or tax adviser for legal, financial, business, investment or tax advice. Investors must inform 
themselves as to: (a) the legal requirements within their own countries for the purchase, holding, transfer, redemption or other disposal 
of Shares; (b) any foreign exchange restrictions applicable to the purchase, holding, transfer or other disposal of Shares which they 
might encounter; and (c) the income and other tax consequences which may apply in their own countries as a result of the purchase, 
holding, transfer or other disposal of for Shares. Investors must rely on their own representatives, including their own legal advisers and 
accountants, as to legal, financial, business, investment, tax, or any other related matters concerning the Company and an investment 
therein. None of the Company, the Investment Manager, Investec nor any of their respective representatives is making any representation 
to any person regarding the legality of an investment in the Shares by such person under the laws applicable to such person. 

Notice to US and other overseas persons 

This document may not be used for the purpose of, and does not constitute, an offer or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction or in 
any circumstances in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful or not authorised or would impose any unfulfilled registration, 
qualification, publication or approval requirements on the Company and/or Investec or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make 
such offer or solicitation. The offer and sale of Shares has not been and will not be registered under the applicable securities laws of 
Canada, Australia, the Republic of South Africa, Japan or any member state of the EEA. Subject to certain exemptions, the Shares 
may not be offered to or sold within Canada, Australia, the Republic of South Africa, Japan or any member state of the EEA or to any 
national, resident or citizen of Canada, Australia, the Republic of South Africa, Japan or any member state of the EEA. 

The Shares have not been and will not be registered under the US Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “US Securities Act”) or 
with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States and the Shares may not be offered, sold, 
exercised, resold, transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, US Persons 
(as defined in Regulation S under the US Securities Act) except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the 
registration requirements of the US Securities Act and in compliance with any applicable securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction 
in the United States. There will be no public offer of the Shares in the United States. The Shares may only be offered or sold outside 
the United States to non-US Persons in offshore transactions in reliance on the exemption from the registration requirements of the 
US Securities Act provided by Regulation S thereunder. The Company has not been and will not be registered under the US Investment 
Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “US Investment Company Act”) and investors will not be entitled to the benefits of the 
US Investment Company Act. 

The Shares have not been approved or disapproved by the US Securities and Exchange Commission, any state securities 
commission in the United States or any other US regulatory authority, nor have any of the foregoing authorities passed 
upon or endorsed the merits of the offering of Shares or the accuracy or adequacy of this document. Any representation 
to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States and any re-offer or resale of any of the Shares in the United 
States or to US Persons may constitute a violation of US law or regulation.  

The Company is an authorised closed-ended investment scheme pursuant to the Protection of Investors (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 
2020 (the “POI Law”) and the Authorised Closed Ended Investment Schemes Rules and Guidance, 2021 (the “Rules”) issued by the 
Guernsey Financial Services Commission (the “GFSC”).  

The distribution of this document may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Other than in the United Kingdom, no action has 
been or will be taken to permit the possession, issue or distribution of this document (or any other offering or publicity material relating 
to the Shares) in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose may be required or where doing so is restricted by law. Accordingly, 
neither this document nor any advertisement, nor any other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction except 
under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this 
document comes should inform themselves about and observe any such restrictions. None of the Company, Investec or the Investment 
Manager or any of their respective Affiliates or advisers accepts any legal responsibility to any person, whether or not such person is 
a potential investor, in respect of any such restrictions. 

 

 Copies of this document will be available on the Company’s website (ruffer.co.uk/ric) and the National Storage Mechanism of the FCA 
at https://data.fca.org.uk/a/nsm/nationalstoragemechanism.  

 

 Without limitation, neither the contents of the Company’s or the Investment Manager’s or Investec’s website (or any other 
website) nor the content of any website accessible from hyperlinks on the Company’s or the Investment Manager’s 
website (or any other website) is incorporated into, or forms part of this document, or has been approved by the FCA. 
Investors should base their decision whether or not to invest in the Shares on the contents of this document. 

Dated: 15 December 2022
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Part 1 

Summary 

 

 1 INTRODUCTION AND WARNINGS 
1.1 Name and international securities identifier number (ISIN) of the securities 

The securities which the Company intends to issue are Shares with ISIN GB00B018CS46. 

1.2 Identity and contact details of the issuer, including its Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) 
The issuer’s name is Ruffer Investment Company Limited (the “Company”). The Company’s registered 
office is at Sarnia House, Le Truchot, St Peter Port, Guernsey GY1 1GR and its telephone number is 
+44 (0)1481 737600. The Company’s Legal Entity Identifier is 21380068AHZKY7MKNO47. 

1.3 Identity and contact details of the competent authorities approving the document 
This document has been approved by the FCA with its head office at 12 Endeavour Square, London 
E20 1JN and telephone number +44 (0) 20 7066 1000, as competent authority under Regulation (EU) 
2017/1129 (as amended) as it forms part of retained EU law by virtue of the European Union 
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the “Prospectus Regulation”). 

1.4 Date of approval of this document 
This document was approved by the FCA on 15 December 2022. 

1.5 Warning 
This summary has been prepared in accordance with Article 7 of the Prospectus Regulation and should 
be read as an introduction to this document and any decision to invest in Shares should be based on 
consideration of this document as a whole by the investor. The investor could lose all or part of its 
invested capital. Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled the summary including 
any translation thereof, but only where the summary is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when 
read together with the other parts of this document or it does not provide, when read together with 
the other parts of this document, key information in order to aid investors when considering whether 
to invest in Shares. 

 

2 KEY INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER 
2.1 Who is the issuer of the securities? 
(a)     Domicile, legal form, LEI, jurisdiction of incorporation and country of operation 

The Company was incorporated in Guernsey on 1 June 2004 as a non-cellular company limited by 
shares under The Companies (Guernsey) Law 1994-1996, as amended, with registered number 
41996. The Company is domiciled in Guernsey. The Company has an indefinite life. The principal 
legislation under which the Company operates is the Companies Law and ordinances and 
regulations made thereunder. The Company is not regulated as a collective investment scheme by 
the FCA but is an AIF under the AIFM Regime and the EU AIFM Directive. The Company’s LEI is 
21380068AHZKY7MKNO47. 

(b)     Principal activities 
The Company’s principal activity is to seek to achieve a positive total annual return, after all expenses, 
of at least twice the Bank of England base rate through predominantly investing in internationally listed 
or quoted equities or equity-related securities (including convertibles) or bonds which are issued by 
corporate issuers, supra-nationals or government organisations.  

The Company’s investment objective and investment policy are set out below. 

        Investment objective 
The principal objective of the Company is to achieve a positive total annual return, after all expenses, 
of at least twice the Bank of England base rate. 

The Company predominantly invests in internationally listed or quoted equities or equity-related 
securities (including convertibles) or bonds which are issued by corporate issuers, supra-nationals or 
government organisations. Where appropriate, collective investment schemes will also be used to gain 
exposure to these assets. 
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        Investment policy 

The Company invests across a broad range of assets, geographies and sectors to achieve its objective. 
This allocation will change over time to reflect the risks and opportunities identified by the Investment 
Manager across global financial markets, with an underlying focus on capital preservation. The 
allocation of the portfolio between different asset classes will vary from time to time so as to enable 
the Company to achieve its objective. There are no restrictions on the geographical or sectoral 
exposure of the portfolio (except those restrictions noted below). 

In selecting investments, the Company does not adopt any investment weightings by reference to any 
benchmark. Both the Board and the Investment Manager believe that the adoption of any index related 
investment style would inhibit the ability of the Company to deliver its objective. 

The universe of equity, equity related securities or bonds in which the Company may invest is wide 
and may include companies domiciled in, and bonds issued by entities based in, non-European 
countries, including countries that are classed as emerging or developing. This may result in a 
significant exposure to currencies other than pound sterling. Where appropriate, the Investment 
Manager will also use in-house funds to gain exposure to certain asset classes. 

        Borrowing and gearing policy 

It is not intended for the Company to have any structural gearing. The Company has the ability to 
borrow up to 30 per cent. of the NAV at any time for short term or temporary purposes, as may be 
necessary for settlement of transactions, to facilitate share redemption or to meet ongoing expenses. 

        Use of derivatives 

The Company may use derivatives, including (but not limited to) futures, options, swap agreements, 
structured products, warrants and forward currency contracts, for investment and efficient portfolio 
management purposes. 

        Investment restrictions 

The proportion of the portfolio invested into companies based in emerging or developing countries will 
be limited, at the time of any investment, to below 15 per cent. of the Company’s gross assets. 

The Directors have determined that the Company will engage in currency hedging where the 
Investment Manager considers such hedging to be in the interests of efficient portfolio management. 

Total exposure to any single counterparty in the management of cash and the use of derivatives should 
not exceed 15 per cent. of the Company’s gross assets. 

The Directors have determined that no more than 15 per cent. in aggregate of the Company’s gross 
assets at the time of acquisition will be invested in listed investment companies (including investment 
trusts), with a maximum of 10 per cent. of gross assets invested in investment companies not having 
stated investment policies allowing them to invest no more than 15 per cent. of their own gross assets 
in other UK listed investment companies (including investment trusts). 

        Breach of investment policy 

In the event of a breach of the investment objective and/or investment policy set out above, a 
notification will be made to a Regulatory Information Service if the Directors consider the breach to be 
material. 

        Material change to investment objective and/or investment policy 

In accordance with the requirements of the FCA, any material changes in the Company’s investment 
objective and/or investment policy set out above will require the approval of the FCA and Shareholders 
by way of an ordinary resolution at a general meeting. 

(c)     Major shareholders 
As at 14 December 2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document), 
the Company had been notified under the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules that the 
following persons held, directly or indirectly, 3 per cent. or more of the issued share capital and voting 
rights in the Company: 
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                                                                                                                                     Percentage of 
                                                                                                                                       issued share  
                                                                                                                                      capital/voting  
Name                                                                                                   No. of Shares(1)               rights 

RBC Brewin Dolphin, stockbrokers                                                            55,033,474               15.13 
Hargreaves Lansdown, stockbrokers                                                         33,378,674                 9.18 
Rathbones                                                                                                 30,379,759                 8.35 
Interactive Investor                                                                                    28,046,744                 7.71 
Charles Stanley                                                                                          18,412,766                 5.06 
AJ Bell, stockbrokers                                                                                 16,545,566                 4.55 
Evelyn Partners                                                                                          16,232,224                 4.46 

          (1)       Based on latest available share register analysis produced by Richard Davies Investor Relations Limited. 

(d)     Key managing directors 
The Board is comprised of Christopher Russell (Independent Non-Executive Chair), Nicholas Pink 
(Independent Non-Executive Director and Senior Independent Director), Shelagh Mason (Independent 
Non-Executive Director), Sally-Ann Farnon (known as ‘Susie’) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
and Solomon Soquar (Independent Non-Executive Director).  

(e)     Identity of statutory auditors 
The auditors of the Company are Deloitte LLP of Regency Court, Glategny Esplanade, St Peter Port, 
Guernsey GY1 3HW. 

 

2.2 What is the key financial information regarding the issuer? 
(a)     Table 1: Additional information relevant to closed end funds 

Share                                                              NAV per          Historical performance  
class        Total NAV(1)         No. of Shares(2)       Share(1)            of the Company(2) 

Shares     £952,784,773    363,767,764          £2.9498          Since its initial public offering, the 
Company has paid or declared 
cumulative dividends amounting to 
45.25 pence per Share. 

(1)       Audited NAV calculated on an IFRS basis as at 30 June 2022. 

(2)       As at 14 December 2022, being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document. 

(b)     Table 2: Income statement for closed end funds 

Year ended Year ended Year ended  
30 June 30 June 30 June  

2022 2021 2020  
£ £ £ 

(audited) (audited) (audited) 

Fixed interest income 1,524,401 1,234,890 1,159,039 
Dividend income 9,375,207 5,971,289 3,649,428 
Net changes in fair value of financial assets at  
fair value through profit or loss 42,910,229 50,578,046 49,202,890 
Other gains/(losses) (15,411,877) 15,755,244 (7,835,401) 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

Total income 38,397,960 73,539,469 46,175,956 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

Management fees (7,077,617) (4,693,521) (3,921,402) 
Expenses (853,105) (632,121) (633,225) 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 
Total expenses (7,930,722) (5,325,642) (4,554,627) 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

Profit for the year before tax 30,467,238 68,213,827 41,621,329 
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Year ended Year ended Year ended  
30 June 30 June 30 June  

2022 2021 2020  
£ £ £ 

(audited) (audited) (audited) 

Withholding tax (856,738) (424,880) (439,359) 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 
Profit for the year after tax 29,610,500 67,788,947 41,181,970 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––  –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

Total comprehensive income for the year 29,610,500 67,788,947 41,181,970 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––  –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

Basic and diluted earnings per share 11.83p 36.43p 22.78p 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––  –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

(c)     Table 3: Balance sheet for closed end funds 

Year ended Year ended Year ended  
30 June 30 June 30 June  

2022 2021 2020  
£ £ £ 

(audited) (audited) (audited) 

Assets 
Non-current assets 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 852,380,832 516,760,500 400,997,042 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 91,882,581 55,833,380 42,667,336 
Trade and other receivables 29,702,666 6,011,217 8,877,207 
Derivative financial assets 989,682 270,023 – 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 
Total current assets 122,574,929 62,114,620 51,544,543 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

Total assets 974,955,761 578,875,120 452,541,585 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––  –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables (21,667,315) (595,622) (4,887,485) 
Derivative financial liabilities (503,673) (2,428,165) (3,541,719) 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 
Total liabilities (22,170,988) (3,023,787) (8,429,204) 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

Net assets 952,784,773 575,851,333 444,112,381 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––  –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

Equity 
Capital and reserves attributable to  
the Company’s shareholders 
Share capital 608,654,303 253,904,821 186,459,986 
Capital reserve 240,914,299 220,493,564 158,853,795 
Retained revenue reserve 8,166,612 6,403,389 3,749,041 
Other reserves 95,049,559 95,049,559 95,049,559 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––  –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

Total equity 952,784,773 575,851,333 444,112,381 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––  –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

Net assets attributable to holders of  
redeemable participating preference  
shares (per share) 2.9498 2.8129 2.4565 
 –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––  –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– 

The auditors’ reports on the Company’s financial statements for the financial years ended 30 June 
2020, 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2022 were unqualified. 
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 2.3 What are the key risks that are specific to the issuer? 
The attention of investors is drawn to the key risks associated with an investment in the Company 
which, in particular, include the following: 

        Key risks relating to the Company 
          l      The past performance of the Company and/or its investments is no indication of future results.  

          l      The Company has no employees and is reliant on the performance of third party service providers 
for its executive function. In particular, the Investment Manager, Administrator, Registrar, Custodian 
and Depositary will be performing services which are integral to the operation of the Company. 

          l      The performance of the Company will depend, to a large extent, upon the performance of the 
underlying portfolio which itself could be subject to disruption to the liquidity of its investments. 

          l      The level of dividends and other distributions to be paid by the Company may fluctuate and there 
is no guarantee that any such distributions will be paid. 

          l      The effects of both normal market fluctuations and potential economic crises may impact the 
Company’s business, operating results or financial condition. 

          l      The Company may be subject to potential geopolitical and economic impacts, including those 
arising from the war in Ukraine, and current and potential interest rate rises and increases in 
inflation.  

          l      The Company and its service providers are susceptible to operational and information security 
and related risks of cyber security incidents. 

          l      The risks posed by climate change and other ESG factors have led to increasing governmental 
regulation and taxation, changes in consumer preferences and stakeholder pressure to reduce 
carbon and broader environmental footprints, which could lead to additional costs for the 
Company and the companies into which it has invested or negatively impact their performance.  

        Key risk relating to the Investment Manager 
          l      The Company depends on the diligence, skill and judgement of the Investment Manager’s 

investment professionals. 

        Key risks relating to the Company’s investment objective, investment policy and investment 
strategy 

          l      The Company may not meet its investment objective. 

          l      The value of the Company’s assets may be affected by uncertainties such as political, regulatory, 
settlement and sub-custodial risk in the countries in which it makes investments. 

          l      The Company may be forced to dispose of investments when it will not be able to obtain best 
value for its investments. 

        Key risk relating to regulation and taxation 
          l      Changes in law or regulations governing the Company’s operations may adversely affect the 

Company’s business. 
 

 3 KEY INFORMATION ON THE SECURITIES 
3.1 What are the main features of the securities? 
(a)     Type, class and ISIN 

The securities which the Company issued under the Tap Issue are Shares with ISIN GB00B018CS46. 

(b)     Currency, denomination, par value, number of securities issued and duration 
The currency of the Shares is Sterling. The issued share capital of the Company as at 14 December 
2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this document), is 363,767,764 Shares 
of 0.01p each, all of which are fully paid or credited as fully paid.  
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(c)     Rights attached to the Shares 
The Shares have the following rights: 

                                                    Shares 

Dividends                                   The Shares carry the right to receive the profits of the Company 
available for distribution at such times as the Directors may 
determine in accordance with the Articles. 

Rights in respect to capital      Subject to the rights of any C Shares in issue, on a winding-up, the 
surplus capital and assets of the Company shall be divided amongst 
the holders of Shares pro rata according to the nominal capital paid 
up on their holdings of Shares. 

Voting                                         Holders of Shares have the right to receive notice of, and to attend 
and vote at, general meetings and class meetings of the Company. 
Each holder of Shares on a poll has one vote in respect of each 
Share held. 

(d)     Rank of securities in the issuer’s capital structure in the event of insolvency 
On a winding-up, provided the Company has satisfied all its liabilities and subject to the rights conferred 
on any other class of shares in issue at that time to participate in the winding-up, the holders of Shares 
shall be entitled to all of the Company’s remaining net assets after taking into account any net assets 
attributable to any C Shares (if any) in issue. 

(e)     Restrictions on the free transferability of Shares 
There are no restrictions on the free transferability of the Shares, subject to compliance with applicable 
securities laws and the restrictions on transfer contained in the Articles. 

(f)      Dividend policy 
The Board’s policy is to pay dividends semi-annually, which are typically declared in October and 
February, with an objective of retaining no more than 15 per cent. of the Company’s income each year, 
with “income” interpreted in accordance with the HMRC conditions for approval as an investment trust, 
which does not include capital movements which are treated as income under IFRS but not for the 
purposes of corporation tax.  

Dividends will only be paid from the Company’s revenue account and not from capital. Dividend 
payments by the Company will depend on the net income stream generated by the underlying 
investments in the Company’s investment portfolio and therefore no assurance can be given that 
dividends will continue to be paid. 

The payment of any dividend by the Company is subject to the satisfaction of a solvency test as 
required by the Companies Law, whereby the Board must be satisfied on reasonable grounds that the 
Company will, immediately after payment of any dividend, be able to pay its debts as they become 
due and that the value of the Company’s assets would be greater than the value of its liabilities. 

The Board has the discretion to increase or reduce the dividend, or not to declare a dividend, as 
appropriate in consideration of the financial position of the Company. 

Investors should note that the declaration and payment frequency of dividends are not profit 
forecasts. There may be a number of factors that adversely affect the Company’s ability to 
declare and pay a dividend and there can be no assurance that any dividend will be paid. 
This should not be seen as an indication of the Company’s expected or actual results or 
returns. Accordingly, investors should not assume that the Company will make any 
distributions at all in deciding whether to invest in the Shares. 

 

 3.2 Where will the securities be traded? 
The Shares, as at the date of this document, are admitted to the premium segment of the Official List 
and to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s main market for listed securities. No application has 
been made or is currently intended to be made for the Shares to be admitted to listing or trading on 
any other stock exchange.

 

9



 

3.3 What are the key risks specific to the securities? 
The attention of investors is drawn to the risks associated with an investment in the Shares which, in 
particular, include the following: 

          l      The value and/or market price of the Shares may go down as well as up and may not trade in 
line with Net Asset Value. 

          l      It may be difficult for Shareholders to realise their investment at NAV and there may not be a liquid 
market in the Shares. 

 

 4 KEY INFORMATION ON THE OFFER OF SECURITIES TO THE PUBLIC AND ADMISSION TO 
TRADING ON A REGULATED MARKET 

4.1 Under which conditions and timetable can I invest in this security? 
The Company is not offering any new shares nor any other securities in connection with the publication 
of this document. This document does not constitute an offer to sell, or the solicitation of an offer to 
subscribe for or to buy, any shares nor any other securities of the Company in any jurisdiction. 

 

 4.2 Why is this prospectus being produced? 
Since February 2021, the Shares have continued to trade at a premium to the Net Asset Value per 
Share indicating strong ongoing demand for the Shares in the market. As part of the Board’s efforts to 
satisfy this demand and instil a degree of premium control, the Company has issued 67,262,000 
Shares in the period from 16 May 2022 to 14 December 2022 (being the latest practicable date prior 
to the publication of this document) by way of regular issue of Shares. These issues of shares are 
commonly known as tap issues. 

The Board remains cognisant of the need to comply with the requisite provisions of the Prospectus 
Regulation when issuing new Shares and, more particularly, the rolling requirement that the Company 
should not issue more than 20 per cent. of its share capital during any preceding twelve-month period 
without having published a prospectus. Accordingly, this document is being published in order to ‘reset’ 
the Company’s 20 per cent. capacity to issue further Shares by way of tap issue afforded under the 
Prospectus Regulation. 
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Part 2 

Risk Factors 

 

Any investment in Shares is subject to a number of risks. Accordingly, prior to making any 
investment decision, investors should carefully consider all the information contained in this 
document and, in particular, the risk factors described in this Part 2 (Risk Factors). This summary 
of risk factors is not intended to be exhaustive nor is it an explanation of all of the risk factors 
involved in investing in the Company. It should be noted that the risks described below are not 
the only risks faced by the Company and there may be additional risks that the Directors currently 
consider not to be material or of which they are not currently aware. 

An investment in the Shares should not be regarded as short-term in nature and involves a high 
degree of risk, including but not limited to the risks referred to below in relation to the Company 
and the Shares. If any of the risks referred to in this document were to occur this could materially 
and adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results. If that were to occur, 
the trading price of the Shares and/or the Net Asset Value and/or the level of dividends or 
distributions received from the Shares could decline significantly and investors could lose all or 
part of their investment.  

As required by the UK Prospectus Regulation, the risk that the Directors consider to be the most 
material risk in each category, taking into account the negative impact on the Company and the 
probability of its occurrence, has been set out first. Given the forward looking nature of the risks, 
there can be no guarantee that any such risk is, in fact, the most material or the most likely to 
occur. Investors should, therefore, review and consider each risk. 

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY 

Past performance is no indication of future results 
The past performance of the Company or other investments managed or advised by the Investment 
Manager or any of its investment professionals cannot be relied upon as an indicator of the future 
performance of the Company. Investor returns will be dependent upon the Company successfully pursuing 
its investment policy.  

The success of the Company will depend, amongst other things, on the ability of the Investment Manager 
to identify, acquire and realise investments in accordance with the Company’s investment objective and 
investment policy. This, in turn, will depend on the ability of the Investment Manager to apply the Company’s 
investment policy and the Investment Manager’s processes in a way which is capable of identifying suitable 
investments for the Company to invest in, and to monitor and exit such investments effectively. 

The Company has no employees and is reliant on the performance of third party service 
providers 
The Company has no employees and the Directors have all been appointed on a non-executive basis. 
Therefore, the Company is reliant upon the performance of third party service providers for its executive 
function. In particular, the Investment Manager, the Administrator, the Registrar, the Custodian, the Auditor 
and the Depositary will be performing services which are integral to the operation of the Company. Failure 
by any of these or any other service provider to carry out its obligations to the Company in accordance with 
the terms of its appointment (including as a result of a failure of its systems and controls), together with a 
failure by the Company to enforce such terms or of the Directors to act in accordance with applicable law 
and regulation, the AIC Code and/or the Articles and policies of the Company, could have a materially 
detrimental impact on the operation of the Company. 

The performance of the Company will depend, to a large extent, upon the performance of the 
underlying portfolio which itself could be subject to disruption to the liquidity of its investments 
The Company can offer no assurances that the investments made by the Company in accordance with its 
investment policy will generate gains or income or that any gains or income that may be generated on 
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particular investments will be sufficient to offset any losses that may be sustained in other investments, 
which itself could be subject to disruption to the liquidity of its investments. 

The level of dividends and other distributions to be paid by the Company may fluctuate and 
there is no guarantee that any such distributions will be paid 
Whilst the Board’s policy is to pay dividends semi-annually, with an objective of retaining no more than 
15 per cent. of the Company’s income each year, with “income” interpreted in accordance with the HMRC 
conditions for approval as an investment trust, which does not include capital movements which are treated 
as income under IFRS but not for the purposes of corporation tax, there is no guarantee that actual (or any) 
dividends will be at or near this level. The declaration, payment and amount of any future dividends or 
distributions by the Company are subject to the discretion of the Directors and will depend upon, among 
other things, the performance of the Company, the running costs of the Company, the Company’s financial 
position and cash requirements and the ability of the Company to comply with the applicable legal 
requirements for paying dividends under the Companies Law. Accordingly, the actual rate of return achieved 
or dividends or other distributions made may be materially lower than the targeted minimum of the Company, 
or may result in a partial or total loss, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
performance, financial condition and business prospects. 

The effects of both normal market fluctuations and potential economic crises may impact the 
Company’s business, operating results or financial condition 
The Company may experience fluctuations in its operating results due to fluctuations in markets generally, 
which may be considered normal or may be the result of a financial or economic crisis or other 
macroeconomic shock. The Company’s results may be affected in these circumstances by, for example, 
changes in the values of investments made by the Company, changes in operating expenses, and general 
economic and market conditions (including changes to interest rates, credit spreads, equity risk premium, 
inflation and bond ratings, changes in laws or regulations, national and international political circumstances 
as well as the general market pricing of similar investments). 

Such variability may lead to volatility in the trading price of the Shares and cause the Company’s results for 
a particular period not to be indicative of its performance in a future period and this may materially adversely 
affect the performance of the Company, the NAV, the Company’s earnings and returns to Shareholders. 

The Company may be subject to certain risks arising from potential geopolitical and economic 
impacts, including those arising from the war in Ukraine, and current and potential interest rate 
rises and increases in inflation  
The Company may be subject to certain risks arising from potential geopolitical and economic impacts, 
including those arising from the war in Ukraine, and current and potential interest rate rises and increases 
in inflation. The current war in Ukraine and the resulting sanctions imposed on the Russian Federation by 
various countries around the world has significantly increased the level of macroeconomic and market 
uncertainty globally and may cause further unforeseen, long term and far-reaching consequences for the 
global economy and the individual economies of countries to which the Company may be directly or indirectly 
exposed. Such consequences could have a negative impact on the performance of the Company’s portfolio 
which may, in turn, have a material adverse effect on the Company’s performance. 

The Company may be subject to certain epidemic-related risks, such as the coronavirus 
(COVID-19)  
The operations and performance of the assets in which the Company has invested, or may invest in the 
future, may be affected by the impact on the global economy and businesses that COVID-19 (or another 
pandemic or epidemic) has had to date or may have in the future. Global capital markets have suffered 
downturns and volatility as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, which may, as a result of the resurgence of 
existing or the emergence of new COVID strains (or similar outbreaks or pandemics), continue to have 
sustained impact on businesses across the world. Such similar volatility and downturn could have an impact 
on the liquidity of the Shares. Risks relating to COVID-19 and future pandemics or epidemics may become 
more expensive or impossible to insure against. Investors should be aware that if any of the global impacts 
of COVID-19 resurge for a sustained period of time, and should any of the risks identified above materialise, 
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it could have a material adverse effect on the performance of the Company, the Net Asset Value, the 
Company’s earnings and returns to Shareholders. 

Cyber security risk 
The Company and its service providers are susceptible to operational and information security and related 
risks of cyber security incidents. In general, cyber incidents can result from deliberate attacks or unintentional 
events. Cyber security attacks include, but are not limited to, gaining unauthorised access to digital systems 
(e.g. through “hacking” or malicious software coding) for purposes of misappropriating assets or sensitive 
information, corrupting data or causing operational disruption. Cyber attacks also may be carried out in a 
manner that does not require gaining unauthorised access, such as causing denial-of-service attacks on 
websites (i.e. efforts to make services unavailable to intended users). Cyber security incidents affecting the 
Directors, the Company, the Investment Manager, the Administrator, the Depositary or other service providers 
such as financial intermediaries have the ability to cause disruptions and impact business operations, 
potentially resulting in financial losses, including: by interference with the Company’s ability to calculate its 
Net Asset Value; impediments to trading for the Company’s portfolio; the inability of Shareholders to sell 
their Shares; violations of applicable privacy, data security or other laws; regulatory fines and penalties; 
reputational damage; reimbursement or other compensation or remediation costs; legal fees; or additional 
compliance costs. Similar adverse consequences could result from cyber security incidents affecting issuers 
of securities in which the Company invests, counterparties with which the Company engages in transactions, 
governmental and other regulatory authorities, exchange and other financial market operators, banks, 
brokers, dealers, insurance companies and other financial institutions and other parties. While information 
security management systems and business continuity plans have been developed which are designed to 
mitigate the risks associated with cyber security, there are inherent limitations in any cyber security risk 
management system or business continuity plan, including the possibility that certain risks have not been 
identified. 

Climate change and other ESG factors 
The risks posed by climate change and other ESG factors have led to increasing governmental regulation 
and taxation, changes in consumer preferences and stakeholder pressure to reduce carbon and broader 
environmental footprints, which could lead to additional costs for the Company and the companies into 
which it has invested or negatively impact their performance. Whilst the Company’s portfolio is generally 
not immediately vulnerable to the risks posed by climate change, companies into which the Company has 
invested are subject not only to changes in the ESG landscape of the jurisdiction in which they are 
incorporated, but are also susceptible to changes in the ESG landscape in the various jurisdictions in which 
they operate, which could negatively affect the value of their shares and their wider performance.  

While the ESG approach taken by the Company and the Investment Manager aims to mitigate against the 
negative impact of climate change and other ESG factors there is no guarantee that the performance of the 
Company and/or its investments will not be affected by climate change and other ESG risks. 

The UK’s exit from the European Union could have a material impact on the Company’s 
activities 
The process of the United Kingdom leaving the European Union was completed on 31 December 2020 
(“Brexit”). Brexit has set in train a sustained period of uncertainty both in the United Kingdom and the 
European Union. As a result, investors face a degree of ongoing uncertainty and potential risk regarding, 
inter alia, the United Kingdom and European economies, currency movements, the impact in the UK and 
global markets, and the financial services regulatory regime to which the Company is subject.  

Future financial services regulation between the UK and the EU is uncertain, and Brexit may have a significant 
adverse effect on the ability of the Company to raise capital from EU investors and for the Company to 
acquire assets or pursue investment opportunities in the EU in future. The Investment Manager is now 
classified as a third-country AIFM pursuant to the EU AIFM Directive and no longer has access to the 
marketing and management passport regime under such directive. In order to access investors in EEA 
countries, the Investment Manager will need to market the Shares via the National Private Placement Regime 
(“NPPR”) under Article 42 of the EU AIFM Directive. The implementation of the NPPR varies across the 
member states, and as such, can be a lengthy process and lead to additional costs associated with 
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registration and maintaining ongoing compliance within the individual regulatory regimes. This may therefore 
restrict the Company’s ability to reach investors in certain EEA countries. 

As the full impact of Brexit continues to evolve over time, it could result in an adverse effect on the financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects of the Company and its investments. 

RISKS RELATING TO THE INVESTMENT MANAGER 

The Company depends on the diligence, skill and judgement of the Investment Manager’s 
investment professionals 
The Company depends on the diligence, skill and judgement of the Investment Manager’s investment 
professionals and the information they generate and communicate to the Company during the normal course 
of their activities. The Company’s future success depends on the continued service of these individuals 
(or their replacements from time to time) who are not obligated to remain employed with the Investment 
Manager, and the Investment Manager’s ability to recruit, retain and motivate new talented personnel. 
However, the Investment Manager may not be successful in its efforts to recruit, retain and motivate the 
required personnel as the market for qualified investment professionals is competitive. The Investment 
Manager’s inability to recruit, retain and motivate the required personnel may have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s profitability, NAV and the price of the Shares. 

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to find a replacement Investment 
Manager if the Investment Manager resigns  
Under the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager may resign on 12 months’ notice. 
The Investment Manager shall, from the date any such resignation takes effect, cease to provide AIFM 
services and portfolio management services in respect of the Company. In those circumstances a 
replacement investment manager would have to be identified and appointed and there can be no assurance 
that such a replacement with the necessary skills and experience could be appointed on terms acceptable 
to the Company. If a replacement investment manager cannot be found, this would have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s profitability, NAV and the price of the Shares. In that event, the Directors might 
have to formulate and put forward to Shareholders proposals for the future of the Company, which may 
include a reconstruction or winding up. 

The Investment Manager and its affiliates provide services to other clients 
The Investment Manager and its officers, employees and affiliates are involved in other financial, investment 
or professional activities that may give rise to conflicts of interest with the Company. In particular, the 
Investment Manager provides investment management and other services in relation to other companies, 
funds and accounts that may have similar investment objectives and/or policies to that of the Company. 
This may on occasion give rise to conflicts of interest which the Investment Manager will manage in 
accordance with its policies and procedures relating to conflicts of interest. If such conflicts of interest are 
managed to the detriment of the Company by the Investment Manager, they could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s profitability, NAV and the price of the Shares. 

The Investment Manager may allocate some of its resources to activities in which the 
Company is not engaged 
The Investment Manager is not required to commit all of its resources to the Company’s affairs. Insofar as 
the Investment Manager devotes resources to its responsibilities to other business interests, its ability to 
devote resources and attention to the Company’s affairs will be limited. This could adversely affect the 
Company’s ability to achieve its investment objective, which could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s profitability, NAV and the price of the Shares. 

Due diligence risk 
The due diligence process that the Investment Manager will undertake in connection with the Company’s 
investments may not reveal all facts and circumstances that may be relevant in connection with an 
investment. 
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When conducting due diligence, the Investment Manager will typically evaluate a number of issues in 
determining whether or not to proceed with an investment, including whether or not a potential investment 
is consistent with the Company’s investment strategy. Nevertheless, when conducting due diligence and 
making an assessment regarding an investment, the Company will be required to rely on resources available 
to it, including information provided by the target of the investment and, in some circumstances, third party 
investigations. The due diligence process may at times be subjective, especially with respect to elements 
of the Company’s investment strategy for which only limited information is available particularly for smaller 
companies or those based overseas. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that due diligence 
investigations with respect to any investment opportunity will reveal or highlight all relevant facts and 
circumstances that may be necessary or helpful in evaluating such investment opportunity. 

Any failure by the Investment Manager to identify relevant facts and circumstances through the due diligence 
process may lead to unsuccessful investment decisions, which could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s profitability, NAV and the price of the Shares. 

Cash management 
 

There is no restriction on the amount of cash or cash equivalent investments that the Company may hold 
and there may be times when it is appropriate for the Company to have a significant cash or cash equivalent 
position instead of being fully or near fully invested, to manage the working capital requirements of the 
Company. This may affect opportunities to increase the NAV. The Company’s returns are reliant on the 
amount of capital invested in, and the performance of, the Company’s portfolio of investments in accordance 
with its investment policy. There can be no guarantee that the Company will deploy its capital in the manner 
anticipated. Any delays in the speed of capital deployment and any material cash or cash equivalent holdings 
may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s profitability, NAV and the price of the Shares. 

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY’S INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE, INVESTMENT POLICY AND 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

The Company may not meet its investment objective 
The Company may not achieve its investment objective. Meeting that objective is a target but the existence 
of such an objective should not be considered as an assurance or guarantee that it can or will be met. The 
Company’s ability to meet its investment objective will largely depend on the Investment Manager’s ability 
to identify suitable investments that are in accordance with the Company’s investment policy. There can be 
no assurance that the Company will be successful in implementing the investment strategy of the Company 
as it cannot be guaranteed that the Investment Manager will be able to identify suitable investments in 
accordance with the Company’s investment policy. A failure of the Company to meet its investment objective 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s profitability, NAV and the price of the Shares.  

 

Political, regulatory, settlement and sub-custodial risk 
The value the Company’s assets may be affected by uncertainties such as geopolitical developments 
(e.g. the current war in Ukraine), changes in government policies, sanctions, changes in taxation, restrictions 
on foreign investment and currency repatriation, currency fluctuations and other developments in the laws 
and regulations of countries in which investment may be made. Furthermore, the legal infrastructure and 
accounting, auditing and reporting standards in certain countries in which investment may be made may 
not provide the same degree of investor protection or information to investors as would generally apply in 
major securities markets. As the Company may invest in markets where the trading, settlement and custodial 
systems are not fully developed, the assets which are traded in such markets and which have been entrusted 
to sub-custodians in such markets may be exposed to higher risk. 

The Company may be forced to dispose of investments when it will not be able to obtain best 
value for its investments 
Whilst the Company does not have a limited life and there is no obligation to sell investments within a fixed 
time frame, there can be no assurance that, at the time the Company seeks to dispose of investments (for 
example if an investment is no longer consistent with the Company’s investment strategy), conditions in the 
relevant market will be favourable or that the Company will be able to maximise the return on such disposed 
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investments. To the extent that market conditions are not favourable, the Company may not be able to 
dispose of investments at a gain. If the Company were required to dispose of an investment on unsatisfactory 
terms, it may realise less than the value at which the investment was previously recorded. 

The Company will be exposed to currency and foreign exchange risks 
The Company will have investments denominated in currencies other than Sterling, particularly US Dollars 
and the Euro. The Company is, therefore, exposed to foreign exchange risk. Changes in the rates of 
exchange between Sterling and another currency will cause the value of any investment denominated in 
that currency, and any income arising out of the relevant investment, to go down or up in Sterling terms. In 
order to mitigate such exposure to any fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, the Company may, but is not 
obliged to, enter into hedging arrangements. If the Company were to enter into hedging arrangements, 
there is no assurance that the Company will be able to settle any such hedging arrangements (either on 
favourable terms, in a timely manner or at all) or that any such arrangements would provide sufficient 
protection to the Company against any adverse currency movements. Adverse currency movements could 
have an adverse effect on the returns realised by the Company from the portfolio, with a consequential 
adverse effect on the performance of the Company, the NAV, the Company’s earnings and returns to 
Shareholders. 

 

The Company may use derivative instruments 
The Company may utilise derivative instruments (including contracts for differences “CFDs”) for investment 
and efficient portfolio management purposes. Such derivative instruments inherently contain much greater 
leverage than a non-margined purchase of the underlying security or instrument. This is due to the fact that, 
generally, only a very small portion (and in some cases none) of the value of the underlying security or instrument 
is required to be paid in order to make such leveraged investments. As a result of any derivatives instruments 
employed by the Company, small changes in the value of the underlying assets may cause a relatively large 
change in the Net Asset Value of the Company. Many such derivative instruments are subject to variation or 
other interim margin requirements, which may force premature liquidation of investment positions. 

Where the Company utilises CFDs or over the counter (OTC) derivatives, it is likely to take a credit risk with 
regard to the parties with whom it trades and may also bear the risk of settlement default. These risks may 
differ materially from those entailed in exchange-traded transactions that generally are backed by clearing 
organisation guarantees, daily marking-to-market and settlement, and segregation and minimum capital 
requirements applicable to intermediaries. Transactions entered into directly between counterparties 
generally do not benefit from such protections and expose the parties to the risk of counterparty default. 

Accordingly, the use of CFDs and OTC derivatives by the Company may expose the Company to greater 
risk and have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s performance. 

 

Leverage risk 
Although the Company has no structural gearing and is not geared as at the date of this document, it has 
the ability to borrow up to 30 per cent. of its Net Asset Value for working capital purposes. The use of 
derivatives or borrowing to increase the exposure of the Company to the market or to leverage the Company 
will make the value of the Company’s investments change more quickly in response to increases or 
decreases in general market prices than would be the case with an unleveraged portfolio. If the Investment 
Manager correctly anticipates the direction in which the market or the specific security price will move, the 
result of using leverage will be improved Company performance by a greater extent than would be possible 
with an unleveraged portfolio. Conversely, if the Investment Manager’s assessment of market direction proves 
to be incorrect, the Company may be adversely affected to a much greater extent than the actual change 
in security prices might suggest due to the multiplier effect of using leverage. 

Exchange controls 
The Company may purchase investments that will subject the Company to exchange controls or withholding 
taxes in various jurisdictions. In the event that exchange controls or withholding taxes are imposed with 
respect to any of the Company’s investments, the effect will generally reduce the income received by the 
Company on its investments. 
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RISKS RELATING TO THE SHARES 

The Shares may not trade in line with Net Asset Value per Share 
The value of an investment in the Company, and the returns derived from it, may go down as well as up and 
an investor may not get back the amount invested. The market price of the Shares, like shares in all 
investment companies, may fluctuate independently of their underlying NAV and may trade at a discount or 
premium to NAV per Share at different times, depending on factors such as supply and demand for the 
Shares, market conditions and general investor sentiment. There can be no guarantee that any discount or 
premium control policy will be successful or capable of being implemented. The market value of a Share 
may vary considerably from its NAV. The NAV per Share may not be an accurate guide to the value that a 
Shareholder may realise on a disposal of Shares. 

It may be difficult for Shareholders to realise their investment at NAV and there may not be a 
liquid market in the Shares 
While the Directors retain the right to effect repurchases of Shares in the manner described in this document 
(and may in future be granted authority to repurchase other classes of shares), they are under no obligation 
to use such powers or to do so at any time and Shareholders should not place any reliance on the willingness 
of the Directors so to act. Shareholders wishing to realise their investment in the Company may have to 
dispose of their Shares in the market. There can be no guarantee that a liquid market in the Shares will exist 
at the time or that the Shares will trade at prices close to their underlying NAV. Accordingly, Shareholders 
may be unable to realise all or part of their investment at such NAV or at all. 

 

RISKS RELATING TO REGULATION AND TAXATION 

Changes in laws or regulations governing the Company’s operations may adversely affect the 
Company’s business 
The Company is subject to laws and regulations enacted by national and local governments. In particular, 
the Company will be required to comply with certain regulatory requirements that are applicable to listed 
closed-ended investment companies. The Company must comply with the Listing Rules, the Prospectus 
Regulation, the Prospectus Regulation Rules, the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules, the MAR, 
the PRIIPs Regulation, the POI Law and the Rules. In addition, the Company is subject to the continuing 
obligations imposed by the GFSC and the FCA on all investment companies whose shares are listed on the 
premium segment of the Official List and is subject to the admission and disclosure standards of the London 
Stock Exchange. A failure by the Company to comply with those obligations and standards may result in 
the Shares being suspended from listing. 

Any change in the law and regulation affecting the Company may have a material adverse effect on the 
ability of the Company to carry on its business and successfully pursue its investment objective and on the 
Company’s investments. In such event, this may also have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
profitability, NAV and the price of the Shares. 

Tax residency 
In order to maintain its non-UK resident status, the Company is required to be controlled and managed 
outside the United Kingdom. The composition of the Board, the place of residence of the individual Directors 
and the location(s) in which the Board makes decisions will be important in determining and maintaining the 
non-UK tax resident status of the Company. Although the Company is established outside the United 
Kingdom, continued attention must be given to ensure that major decisions are not made in the United 
Kingdom or the Company may lose its non-UK tax resident status. As such, management errors could 
potentially lead to the Company being considered a UK tax resident which would negatively affect its financial 
and operating results, the value of the Shares and/or the post-tax return to Shareholders. 

The Sterling value of an investment with significant overseas earnings could be adversely 
affected by exchange rate movements 
The earnings of an investment may not be denominated in or hedged to Sterling, and are therefore subject 
to the risk of movements in exchange rates. As a result, the Sterling value of investments that have a high 
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proportion of overseas earnings may rise or fall solely on account of exchange rate movements between 
Sterling and other currencies that the investment’s earnings are denominated in.  

Tax legislation 
Changes in taxation legislation or practice, whether in Guernsey, the UK or elsewhere, may adversely affect 
the value of the Company’s investments, affect the Company’s ability to provide returns to Shareholders, 
and affect the tax treatment for Shareholders of their investment in the Company (including rates of tax and 
availability of reliefs). Investors should consult their tax advisers with respect to their own particular tax 
circumstances and the tax effects of an investment in the Company. Statements in this document concerning 
the taxation of investors in respect of Shares are based upon current tax law and tax authority practice as 
at the date of this document, each of which is, in principle, subject to change. The value of particular tax 
reliefs, if available, will depend on each Shareholder’s particular circumstances. This document does not 
constitute tax advice and must not therefore be treated as a substitute for independent tax advice. 

Due diligence and reporting obligations 
The Company will be required to comply with certain due diligence and reporting requirements under the 
Income Tax (Approved International Agreements) (Implementation) (United Kingdom and United States of 
America) Regulations, 2014, as amended, and the Income Tax (Approved International Agreements) 
(Implementation) (Common Reporting Standard) Regulations 2015, as amended, which were enacted to 
meet Guernsey’s obligations under FATCA and the Common Reporting Standard developed by the 
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Shareholders may be required to provide 
information to the Company to enable the Company to satisfy its obligations under the regulations. Failure 
by the Company to comply with its obligations under the regulations may result in fines being imposed on 
the Company and, in such event, the target returns of the Company may be adversely affected. 

The Company may be treated as a passive foreign investment company 
The Company may be treated as a “passive foreign investment company” (often referred to as a “PFIC”) for 
US federal income tax purposes, which could have adverse consequences on US investors. If the Company 
is classified as a PFIC for any taxable year, holders of Shares that are US taxpayers may be subject to 
adverse US federal income tax consequences. Further, investors should assume that a “qualified electing 
fund” election, which, if made, could serve as an alternative to the general PFIC rules and could reduce any 
adverse consequences to US taxpayers if the Company were to be classified as a PFIC, will not be available 
because the Company does not intend to provide the information needed to make such an election. 
A “mark-to-market” election may be available, however, if the Company’s Shares are regularly traded. 
Prospective purchasers of Shares that are US taxpayers are urged to consult with their own tax advisers 
concerning the US federal income tax considerations associated with acquiring, owning and disposing of 
Shares in light of their particular circumstances. 

The ability of certain persons to hold Shares and make secondary transfers in the future may 
be restricted as a result of ERISA and other regulatory considerations 
Unless otherwise expressly agreed with the Company, each initial purchaser and subsequent transferee of 
Shares will be required to represent and warrant or will be deemed to represent and warrant that it is not a 
“benefit plan investor” (as defined in section 3(42) of ERISA), and that it is not, and is not using assets of, a 
plan or other arrangement subject to provisions under applicable federal, state, local, non-US or other laws 
or regulations that are substantially similar to section 406 of ERISA or section 4975 of the US Tax Code 
unless its purchase, holding and disposition of Shares does not constitute or result in a non-exempt violation 
of any US federal, state, local or foreign law that is similar to section 406 of ERISA or section 4975 of the 
US Tax Code. In addition, under the Articles, the Board has the power to refuse to register a transfer of 
Shares or to require the sale or transfer of Shares in certain circumstances, including any purported 
acquisition or holding of Shares by a benefit plan investor. 

The Shares have not been and will not be registered under the US Securities Act or with any securities regulatory 
authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States. In order to avoid being required to register under 
the US Investment Company Act, the Company has imposed significant restrictions on the transfer of Shares 
which may materially affect the ability of Shareholders to transfer Shares in the United States or to US Persons. 

 

18



The Shares will be subject to significant transfer restrictions for investors in certain 
jurisdictions as well as forced transfer provisions 
The Shares have not been registered and will not be registered in the United States under the US Securities 
Act or under any other applicable securities laws. Moreover, offers and sales of the Shares may only be 
made outside the United States to non-US Persons (as defined in Regulation S under the US Securities 
Act), in reliance on the exemption from the registration requirements of the US Securities Act provided by 
Regulation S and in the United States or to US Persons only to persons reasonably believed to be “Qualified 
Institutional Buyers” that are also “Qualified Purchasers”. 

If at any time the holding or beneficial ownership of any Shares by any person (whether on its own or taken 
with other shares), in the opinion of the Directors: (i) would cause the assets of the Company to be treated 
as “plan assets” of any benefit plan investor under section 3(42) of ERISA or the US Tax Code; or (ii) would 
or might result in the Company and/or its Shares and/or any of its appointed investment managers or 
investment advisers being required to register or qualify under the US Investment Company Act, and/or 
US Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended and/or the US Securities Act and/or the US Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and/or any laws of any state of the US or other 
jurisdiction that regulate the offering and sale of securities; or (iii) may cause the Company not to be 
considered a “foreign private issuer” under the Exchange Act; or (iv) may cause the Company to be a 
“controlled foreign corporation” for the purpose of the US Tax Code; or (v) creates a significant legal or 
regulatory issue for the Company under the US Bank Holding Company Act 1956, as amended or 
regulations or interpretations thereunder; or (vi) would cause the Company adverse consequences under 
the foreign account tax compliance provisions of the US Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act of 
2010, including the Company becoming subject to any withholding tax or reporting obligation (including by 
reason of the failure of the Shareholder concerned to provide promptly to the Company such information 
and documentation as the Company may have requested to enable the Company to avoid or minimise such 
withholding tax or to comply with such reporting obligations), the Directors may require the holder of such 
Shares to dispose of such Shares and, if the Shareholder does not sell such Shares, may dispose of such 
Shares on their behalf. These restrictions may make it more difficult for a US Person to hold and Shareholders 
generally to sell the Shares and may have a material adverse effect on the market value of the Shares. 
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Part 3 

Important Information 

GENERAL 
No action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of the Shares. This 
document may not be distributed or published in or from any country or jurisdiction except under 
circumstances that will result in compliance with any and all applicable rules and regulations of any such 
country or jurisdiction. Any failure to comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities 
laws of any such jurisdiction. This document does not constitute an offer to subscribe for any of the Shares 
to any person in any jurisdiction. 

No person has been authorised by the Company to issue any advertisement or to give any information or 
to make any representations in connection with the offering or sale of Shares. Without prejudice to the 
Company’s obligations under the Prospectus Regulation Rules, the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency 
Rules, the Prospectus Regulation and MAR, the delivery of this document does not, under any 
circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Company since, 
or that the information contained herein is correct at any time subsequent to, the date of this document. 

All Shareholders are entitled to the benefit of, and are bound by and are deemed to have notice of, 
the provisions of the Articles. 

This document sets out information relating to the Tap Shares. The gross proceeds from the issue of the 
Tap Shares was £206,454,845 and the aggregate expenses of the issues amounted to £1,032,274. The 
net proceeds of £205,422,571 have all been invested in accordance with the Company’s investment 
objective and investment policy. 

GUERNSEY REGULATORY INFORMATION 
The Company is an authorised closed-ended investment scheme registered pursuant to the POI Law and 
the Rules. 

FOR THE ATTENTION OF UNITED STATES RESIDENTS 
The Shares have not been and will not be registered under the US Securities Act or with any securities 
regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States and the Shares may not be offered, 
sold, exercised, resold, transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, within the United States or to, or for 
the account or benefit of, US Persons (as defined in Regulation S under the US Securities Act), except 
pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the 
US Securities Act and in compliance with any applicable securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction in 
the United States. There will be no public offer of the Shares in the United States. The Shares may only be 
offered or sold outside the United States to non-US Persons in offshore transactions in reliance on the 
exemption from the registration requirements of the US Securities Act provided by Regulation S thereunder. 
The Company has not been and will not be registered under the US Investment Company Act and investors 
will not be entitled to the benefits of the US Investment Company Act. 

The Shares have not been approved or disapproved by the US Securities and Exchange Commission, any 
state securities commission in the United States or any other US regulatory authority, nor have any of the 
foregoing authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of the offering of Shares or the accuracy or 
adequacy of this document. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States 
and any re-offer or resale of any of the Shares in the United States or to US Persons may constitute a 
violation of US law or regulation. Any person in the United States who obtains a copy of this document is 
requested to disregard it. 

Service of process and enforceability of civil liabilities 
All of the Directors are residents of Guernsey or the UK, and the Company has been incorporated under 
Guernsey law. Service of process upon Directors and officers of the Company may be difficult to obtain 
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within the United States. Shareholders based in the United States may have difficulties enforcing in courts 
outside the United States judgments obtained in US courts against some of the Directors or the Company 
(including actions under the civil liability provisions of the US securities laws). In addition, an award or awards 
of punitive damages in actions brought in the United States or elsewhere may be unenforceable in Guernsey 
and the UK. 

Shareholder may also have difficulty enforcing liabilities under the US securities laws in legal actions originally 
brought in jurisdictions located outside the United States. 

FOR THE ATTENTION OF RESIDENTS IN CANADA, JAPAN, AUSTRALIA OR THE REPUBLIC OF 
SOUTH AFRICA 
The offer and sale of Shares has not been and will not be registered under the applicable securities laws of 
Canada, Japan, Australia or the Republic of South Africa. Subject to certain exemptions, the Shares may 
not be offered to or sold within Canada, Japan, Australia or the Republic of South Africa or to any national, 
resident or citizen of such territories. 

NON-MAINSTREAM POOLED INVESTMENTS AND MIFID II 
The Company notes the rules of the FCA on the promotion of non-mainstream pooled investments. The 
Company conducts its affairs so that the Shares can be recommended by financial advisers to retail investors 
in accordance with the FCA’s rules in relation to non-mainstream pooled investment products. The Shares 
are excluded from the FCA’s restrictions which apply to non-mainstream pooled investment products 
because the Company would qualify for approval as an investment trust by HMRC under sections 1158 
and 1159 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 if resident in the United Kingdom.  

The Company intends to conduct its affairs so that the Shares can be recommended by financial advisers 
to retail investors in accordance with the rules on the distribution of financial instruments under The Markets 
in Financial Instruments Directive II (“MiFID II”). The Directors consider that the requirements of Article 57 
of the MiFID II delegated regulation of 25 April 2016 will be met in relation to the Shares and that, accordingly, 
the Shares should be considered “non-complex” for the purposes of MiFID II. 

INFORMATION TO DISTRIBUTORS 
Solely for the purposes of the product governance requirements contained within PROD 3 of the FCA’s 
Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the “Product Governance Requirements”), 
and disclaiming all and any liability, whether arising in tort, contract or otherwise, which any “manufacturer” 
(for the purposes of the Product Governance Requirements) may otherwise have with respect thereto, the 
Shares have been subject to a product approval process, which has determined that the Shares are: 
(i) compatible with an end target market of retail investors and investors who meet the criteria of professional 
clients and eligible counterparties, each as defined in COBS 3.5 and 3.6 of the FCA’s Conduct of Business 
Sourcebook, respectively; and (ii) eligible for distribution through all distribution channels as are permitted 
by the Product Governance Requirements (the “Target Market Assessment”). 

Notwithstanding the Target Market Assessment, distributors should note that: (a) the price of the Shares 
may decline and investors could lose all or part of their investment; (b) the Shares offer no guaranteed 
income and no capital protection; and (c) an investment in the Shares is compatible only with investors who 
do not need a guaranteed income or capital protection, who (either alone or in conjunction with an 
appropriate financial or other adviser) are capable of evaluating the merits and risks of such an investment 
and who have sufficient resources to be able to bear any losses that may result therefrom.  

For the avoidance of doubt, the Target Market Assessment does not constitute: (a) an assessment of 
suitability or appropriateness for the purposes of the FCA’s Conduct of Business Sourcebook; or (b) a 
recommendation to any investor or group of investors to invest in, or purchase, or take any other action 
whatsoever with respect to the Shares.  

Each distributor is responsible for undertaking its own Target Market Assessment in respect of the Shares 
and determining appropriate distribution channels. 
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PRIIPS REGULATION 
In accordance with the PRIIPs Regulation, a Key Information Document in respect of the Shares has been 
prepared by the Investment Manager and is available to investors at ruffer.co.uk/ric. If you are distributing 
the Shares, it is your responsibility to ensure that the relevant Key Information Document is provided to any 
clients that are “retail clients” prior to purchase pursuant to the PRIIPs Regulation. 

The Investment Manager is the only manufacturer of the Shares for the purposes of the PRIIPs Regulation 
and Investec is not a manufacturer for these purposes. Investec makes no representations, express or 
implied, or accepts any responsibility whatsoever for the contents of any Key Information Document 
prepared by the Investment Manager nor accepts any responsibility to update the contents of any Key 
Information Document in accordance with the PRIIPs Regulation, to undertake any review processes in 
relation thereto or to provide such Key Information Documents to future distributors of Shares. Investec and 
its Affiliates accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise which it 
or they might have in respect of any Key Information Document prepared by the Investment Manager. 

DATA PROTECTION 
The information that an investor in the Company provides in documents in relation to a subscription for or 
acquisition of Shares or subsequently by whatever means which relates to the investor (if it is an individual) 
or a third party individual (“personal data”) will be held and processed by the Company (and any third party 
in Guernsey or the United Kingdom to whom it may delegate certain administrative functions in relation to 
the Company) in compliance with: (a) the relevant DP Legislation and regulatory requirements applicable in 
Guernsey and/or the United Kingdom as appropriate; and (b) the Company’s privacy notice, a copy of which 
is available for consultation on the Company’s website at ruffer.co.uk/privacy (“Privacy Notice”) (and if 
applicable any other third party delegate’s privacy notice). 

Without limitation to the foregoing, each investor acknowledges that it has been informed that such 
information will be held and processed by the Company (or any third party, functionary, or agent appointed 
by the Company, which may include, without limitation, the Registrar) in accordance with and for the 
purposes set out in the Privacy Notice which include: 

l      verifying the identity of the investor to comply with statutory and regulatory requirements in relation to 
anti-money laundering procedures; 

l      carrying out the business of the Company and the administering of interests in the Company; and 

l      meeting the legal, regulatory, reporting and/or financial obligations of the Company in Guernsey, 
the United Kingdom or elsewhere or any third party functionary or agent appointed by the Company. 

Where necessary to fulfil the purposes set out above and in the Privacy Notice, the Company (or any third 
party, functionary, or agent appointed by the Company, which may include, without limitation, the Registrar) 
will: 

l      disclose personal data to third party service providers, affiliates, agents or functionaries appointed by 
the Company or its agents to operate and administer the Company; and 

l      transfer personal data outside of Guernsey to countries or territories which do not offer the same level 
of protection for the rights and freedoms of investors in Guernsey, provided that suitable safeguards 
are in place for the protection of such personal data, details of which shall be set out in the Privacy 
Notice or otherwise notified from time to time. 

The foregoing processing of personal data is required in order to perform the contract with the investor, 
to comply with the legal and regulatory obligations of the Company or is otherwise necessary for the 
legitimate interests of the Company. 

If the Company (or any third party, functionary or agent appointed by the Company, which may include, 
without limitation, the Registrar) discloses personal data to such a third party, agent or functionary and/or 
makes such a transfer of personal data it will ensure that adequate safeguards are in place for the protection 
of such personal data, details of which shall be set out in the Privacy Notice or otherwise notified from time 
to time. 
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Investors are responsible for informing any third party individual to whom the personal data relates of the 
disclosure and use of such data in accordance with these provisions. Individuals have certain rights in relation 
to their personal data; such rights and the manner in which they can be exercised are set out in the Privacy 
Notice. 

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
The financial statements of the Company referred to in this document have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of IFRS, the Listing Rules, the Companies Law and other applicable law. All future 
financial information for the Company will be prepared under IFRS and applicable law. 

Certain financial and statistical information contained in this document has been rounded to the nearest 
whole number or the nearest decimal place. Therefore, the actual arithmetic total of the numbers in a column 
or row in a certain table may not conform exactly to the total figure given for that column or row. In addition, 
certain percentages presented in the tables in this document reflect calculations based upon the underlying 
information prior to rounding, and, accordingly, may not conform exactly to the percentages that would be 
derived if the relevant calculations were based upon the rounded numbers. 

None of the financial information used in this document has been prepared in accordance with US Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (“US GAAP”) or audited in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAS”) or auditing standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”). US GAAS and the auditing standards of the PCAOB 
do not provide for the expression of an opinion on accounting standards which have not been finalised and 
are still subject to modification, as is the case with accounting standards as adopted for use in the EU and 
included in the financial statements of the Company referred to in this document. Accordingly, it would not 
be possible to express any opinion on the financial statements of the Company referred to in this document 
under US GAAS or the auditing standards of the PCAOB. In addition, there could be other differences 
between the auditing standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council in the United Kingdom and those 
required by US GAAS or the auditing standards of the PCAOB. Potential investors should consult their own 
professional advisers to gain an understanding of the financial statements of the Company referred to in 
this document and the implications of differences between the auditing standards noted herein. 

The financial information included in this document is not intended to comply with the US Securities and 
Exchange Commission reporting requirements. Compliance with such requirements would entail the 
modification, reformulation or exclusion of certain financial measures and changes to the presentation of 
certain other information. No reconciliation to US GAAP is provided in this document. 

PRESENTATION OF MARKET AND OTHER DATA 
Market and economic data used throughout this document is sourced from various independent sources. 
The Company confirms that such data has been accurately reproduced and, so far as the Company is 
aware and is able to ascertain from information published from such sources, no facts have been omitted 
which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. 

CURRENCY PRESENTATION 
Unless otherwise indicated, all references in this document to “£”, “pence” or “GBP” are to the lawful 
currency of the UK, all references in this document to “Euro” or “€” are to the currency adopted by those 
nations participating in the third stage of the economic and monetary union provisions of the Treaty on 
European Union, signed at Maastricht on 7 February 1992 and all references in this document to “US$” are 
to the lawful currency of the United States. 

DEFINITIONS 
Capitalised terms contained in this document shall have the meanings ascribed to them in Part 11 
(Definitions) of this document, save where the context indicates otherwise. 
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EUROPEAN UNION LEGISLATION 
If and when a European Union instrument is incorporated into the law of the United Kingdom, a reference 
to that European Union instrument in this document shall, except where the context requires otherwise, 
mean the European Union instrument as so incorporated and any enactment, statutory provision or 
subordinate legislation that from time to time (with or without modifications) re-enacts, replaces or 
consolidates it for the purposes of the law of the United Kingdom. 

 

WEBSITE 
Without limitation, neither the contents of the Company’s or the Investment Manager’s website (or any other 
website) nor the content of any website accessible from hyperlinks on the Company’s or the Investment 
Manager’s website (or any other website) is incorporated into, or forms part of this document, or has been 
approved by the FCA.  

GOVERNING LAW 
Unless otherwise stated, statements made in this document are based on the law and practice currently in 
force in England and Wales and/or the law and practice of the Island of Guernsey (as relevant) and are 
subject to changes therein. 

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 
This document contains forward looking statements, including, without limitation, statements containing 
the words “believes”, “estimates”, “anticipates”, “expects”, “intends”, “may”, “might”, “will” or “should” or, 
in each case, their negative or other variations or similar expressions. Such forward looking statements 
involve unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, financial condition, 
performance or achievement of the Company, or industry results, to be materially different from any future 
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. 

Given these uncertainties, investors are cautioned not to place any undue reliance on such forward looking 
statements. These forward looking statements speak only as at the date of this document. Subject to its 
legal and regulatory obligations (including under the Prospectus Regulation Rules), the Company expressly 
disclaims any obligations to update or revise any forward looking statement contained herein to reflect any 
change in expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which 
any such statement is based unless required to do so by law or any appropriate regulatory authority, including 
FSMA, the Prospectus Regulation Rules, the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules, the Prospectus 
Regulation and MAR. 

Nothing in the preceding two paragraphs should be taken as limiting the working capital statement in 
paragraph 9 of Part 9 (General Information) of this document.  
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Part 5 

The Company 

1      INTRODUCTION 
Ruffer Investment Company Limited was incorporated in Guernsey as a non-cellular company limited by 
shares on 1 June 2004 with the objective of achieving a positive total annual return, after all expenses, of 
at least twice the Bank of England base rate. The Company is domiciled in Guernsey. The Company operates 
under the Companies Law and ordinances and regulations made thereunder and, following the passing of 
a continuation resolution at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 8 November 2007, has an 
indefinite life. The Shares are admitted to the premium segment of the Official List and to trading on the 
London Stock Exchange’s main market for listed securities. The Company has been a constituent of the 
FTSE 250 Index since March 2022.  

 

As at 13 December 2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document), 
the Company had unaudited net assets of c.£1.09 billion and a market capitalisation of c.£1.13 billion. Since 
its IPO, the Company has paid or declared cumulative dividends amounting to 45.25 pence per Share.  

For the 12 months to 30 June 2022, the Net Asset Value total return per Share was 6.0 per cent., the NAV 
per Share rising from 281p to 295p, and the Share price total return was 5.6 per cent., reflecting a modest 
fall in the premium of Share price to NAV. This performance was achieved despite substantial falls in financial 
markets in the second half of the Company’s financial year, including a halving in the value of long-dated 
index-linked stocks between November 2021 and 30 June 2022. Index-linked stocks have long been a 
significant percentage of the assets of the Company, so the Company’s positive performance demonstrates 
the continuing effectiveness of the Investment Manager’s active management of duration risk through 
offsetting derivative strategies. The compound annualised NAV total return to 30 June 2022 since the 
Company’s launch in July 2004 was 7.7 per cent.  

During the 12 months to 30 June 2022 the Company generated 3.67p per Share of revenue and 8.16p per 
Share of capital gain. The Company invests for total return which gives flexibility to the Investment Manager 
to pursue the optimal investment strategy for the long-term generation of return and the preservation of 
capital. Further information on the Portfolio is set out in Part 6 (The Portfolio) of this document.  

The Company has an independent Board of non-executive directors and has engaged Ruffer AIFM Limited, 
a private limited company incorporated in England and Wales, which is authorised and regulated in the UK 
by the FCA, as the Company’s AIFM to provide portfolio and risk management services to the Company. 
The Investment Manager is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ruffer LLP.  

Ruffer has been looking after investments for institutions, pension funds, charities, financial planners and 
private clients, in the UK and internationally, since 1994. With £26.5 billion of assets under management as 
at 30 September 2022, Ruffer has a 27 year track record of 8.9 per cent. net annualised returns1. The Ruffer 
team, based in four offices in London, Edinburgh, Paris and Guernsey, comprises over 340 staff of various 
disciplines. Further information on Ruffer is set out in Part 7 (Directors, Investment Manager and 

Administration) of this document. 

2      TAP SHARES 
Since February 2021, the Shares have continually traded at a premium to the Net Asset Value per Share, 
indicating strong ongoing demand for the Shares in the market. As part of the Board’s efforts to satisfy this 
demand, and thereby to instil a degree of premium control, the Company has issued 67,262,000 Tap Shares 
in the period from the publication of the Company’s previous prospectus on 16 May 2022 to 14 December 
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1 Cumulative performance 30 June 1995 to 30 September 2022, in Sterling. Ruffer’s representative portfolio is an unconstrained 
segregated portfolio following Ruffer’s investment approach. Ruffer performance is shown after deduction of all fees and management 
charges, and all figures include reinvested income. Annual performance, year to: 30 September 2017 0.3 per cent., 30 September 
2018 1.0 per cent., 30 September 2019 0.4 per cent., 30 September 2020 11.1 per cent., 30 September 2021 14.8 per cent. and 
30 September 2022 6.6 per cent. Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.



2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document) by way of regular issue of 
Tap Shares. Tap issues over that period have been undertaken at an average price of 307.0 pence per 
Share and at an average 2.77 per cent. premium to the Net Asset Value per Share at the time of issue. 

The Board remains cognisant of the need to comply with the requisite provisions of the Prospectus 
Regulation when issuing Tap Shares and, more particularly, the rolling requirement that the Company should 
not issue more than 20 per cent. of its share capital during any preceding twelve-month period without 
having published a prospectus. The opportunity was taken to reset the 20 per cent. capacity with the 
publication of a prospectus on 16 May 2022 (the “Previous Prospectus”). As the 67,262,000 Tap Shares 
that the Company has issued since publication of the Previous Prospectus represent 18.49 per cent. of the 
Company’s issued share capital as at 14 December 2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to the 
publication of this document), the 20 per cent. capacity has again been very largely utilised. Accordingly, 
this document is being published in order to ‘reset’ once more the Company’s 20 per cent. capacity to 
issue further Shares by way of tap issue afforded under the Prospectus Regulation. 

Paragraph 3.3(d) of Part 9 (General Information) of this document sets out further details of the Tap Shares 
that have been issued. 

 

3      BACKGROUND TO, REASONS FOR AND THE BENEFITS OF THE ISSUE OF THE TAP 
SHARES 

The Directors believe that the issue of the Tap Shares has yielded, and the issue of further Shares by way 
of tap issue should continue to yield, the following principal benefits: 

l      maintenance of the Company’s ability to issue Shares to meet ongoing demand in the market in order 
to provide effective management of the premium to Net Asset Value per Share at which the Shares 
may trade so as to help to ensure that long-term investors who regularly acquire Shares are not 
disadvantaged; 

l      an increase in the size of the Company, thereby spreading operating costs, other than management 
fees which are charged by reference to the Net Asset Value, over a larger capital base which should 
reduce the ongoing charges ratio; 

l      enhancement of the Net Asset Value per Share of existing Shares through share issuance at a premium 
to the last published Net Asset Value per Share plus the costs of the issue; and 

l      improvement of liquidity in the market for the Shares enabling easy purchase and sale providing 
Shareholders with flexibility in the management of their own wealth without impacting the investment 
decisions of the Company. 

4      INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE AND INVESTMENT POLICY 
 

Investment objective 
The principal objective of the Company is to achieve a positive total annual return, after all expenses, of at 
least twice the Bank of England base rate.  

The Company predominantly invests in internationally listed or quoted equities or equity-related securities 
(including convertibles) or bonds which are issued by corporate issuers, supra-nationals or government 
organisations. Where appropriate, collective investment schemes will also be used to gain exposure to these 
assets. 

 

Investment policy 
The Company invests across a broad range of assets, geographies and sectors to achieve its objective. 
This allocation will change over time to reflect the risks and opportunities identified by the Investment 
Manager across global financial markets, with an underlying focus on capital preservation. The allocation of 
the portfolio between different asset classes will vary from time to time so as to enable the Company to 
achieve its objective. There are no restrictions on the geographical or sectoral exposure of the portfolio 
(except those restrictions noted below). 
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In selecting investments, the Company does not adopt any investment weightings by reference to any 
benchmark. Both the Board and the Investment Manager believe that the adoption of any index related 
investment style would inhibit the ability of the Company to deliver its objective. 

The universe of equity, equity related securities or bonds in which the Company may invest is wide and may 
include companies domiciled in, and bonds issued by entities based in, non-European countries, including 
countries that are classed as emerging or developing. This may result in a significant exposure to currencies 
other than pound sterling. Where appropriate, the Investment Manager will also use in-house funds to gain 
exposure to certain asset classes. 

 

Borrowing and gearing policy 
It is not intended for the Company to have any structural gearing. The Company has the ability to borrow 
up to 30 per cent. of the NAV at any time for short term or temporary purposes, as may be necessary for 
settlement of transactions, to facilitate share redemption or to meet ongoing expenses. 

 

Use of derivatives 
The Company may use derivatives, including (but not limited to) futures, options, swap agreements, 
structured products, warrants and forward currency contracts, for investment and efficient portfolio 
management purposes. 

Investment restrictions 
 

The proportion of the portfolio invested into companies based in emerging or developing countries will be 
limited, at the time of any investment, to below 15 per cent. of the Company’s gross assets. 

The Directors have determined that the Company will engage in currency hedging where the Investment 
Manager considers such hedging to be in the interests of efficient portfolio management.  

Total exposure to any single counterparty in the management of cash and the use of derivatives, should not 
exceed 15 per cent. of the Company’s gross assets. 

The Directors have determined that no more than 15 per cent. in aggregate of the Company’s gross assets 
at the time of acquisition will be invested in listed investment companies (including investment trusts), with 
a maximum of 10 per cent. of gross assets invested in investment companies not having stated investment 
policies allowing them to invest no more than 15 per cent. of their own gross assets in other UK listed 
investment companies (including investment trusts). 

 

Breach of investment policy 
In the event of a breach of the investment objective and/or investment policy set out above, a notification 
will be made to a Regulatory Information Service if the Directors consider the breach to be material. 

 

Material change to investment objective and/or investment policy 
In accordance with the requirements of the FCA, any material changes in the Company’s investment 
objective and/or investment policy set out above will require the approval of the FCA and Shareholders by 
way of an ordinary resolution at a general meeting. 

5      COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS 
The Directors believe that the Company has a number of competitive strengths, including: 

l      The absence of an index-based benchmark ensures that only the highest conviction ideas are 
incorporated into the investment strategy. There is no pressure to mirror a benchmark or be subject 
to the perverse incentive of trying to do less badly than a falling index-related benchmark. 

l      The Investment Manager’s parent company, Ruffer LLP, is a privately owned partnership controlled by 
partners working in the business. This aligns its interests with the Shareholders as there is no incentive 
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or pressure to grow in an unsustainable manner nor to chase performance in fashionable but 
overvalued asset classes. It also contributes to a high level of staff retention. 

l      The Investment Manager has a good track record of producing positive returns with low volatility in a 
variety of market conditions and historically has done well at inflection points in markets. 

l      The Investment Manager has a good track record of integrating macro-economic views with effective 
stock-specific research. 

l      The strength of compounding has had a powerful effect on long-term performance of the Company. 
By minimising drawdowns in falling markets the Company has been able to deploy capital into severely 
depressed assets and benefit from the subsequent recovery.  

l      The Company typically has a low (and sometimes negative) correlation to other asset classes making 
it a true diversifier for Shareholders. Many aspects of people’s lives are aligned with the economic cycle 
(earned income, job security, asset values) and so an investment that is a-cyclical can be beneficial in 
a downturn. 

l      The Investment Manager has an integrated approach to responsible investing. This includes a 
dedicated ESG team who manage engagement with individual companies and oversee collaboration 
with other investors. For more information on the Company’s and the Investment Manager’s approach 
to ESG, see paragraph 8 of this Part 5 (The Company).  

 

6      INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
In order to achieve the investment objective the Company seeks to create a balance of offsetting 
investments, that is, protective and growth assets (as described below). The starting point for asset allocation 
is based on the Investment Manager’s view of prevailing risks and opportunities in financial markets, rather 
than any pre-determined benchmark or asset class ranges, and therefore the balance between protective 
and growth assets will change over time.  

 

For protective assets (such as debt securities, gold investments, derivatives for hedging strategies and 
cash), the Investment Manager translates risks into investment opportunities by identifying asset classes 
that may benefit from an occurrence of risk events. Growth assets (such as equities and equity related 
securities) are the Investment Manager’s view on the best opportunities available globally and allocations 
may be geographic, thematic or special situations.  

Security selection is the result of fundamental analysis with the Investment Manager seeking to identify 
opportunities that offer asymmetric risk-reward. The analysis can include, but may not be limited to, an 
assessment of a company’s markets, product/service offering, competitive position, financial strength, 
the competence of its management and ESG considerations.  

7      DIVIDEND POLICY AND TARGET RETURNS 
 

The Board’s policy is to pay dividends semi-annually, which are typically declared in October and February, 
with an objective of retaining no more than 15 per cent. of the Company’s income each year, with “income” 
interpreted in accordance with the HMRC conditions for approval as an investment trust, which does not 
include capital movements which are treated as income under IFRS but not for the purposes of corporation 
tax. 

Dividends will only be paid from the Company’s revenue account and not from capital. Dividend payments 
by the Company will depend on the net income stream generated by the underlying investments in the 
Company’s investment portfolio and therefore no assurance can be given that dividends will continue to be 
paid. 

The payment of any dividend by the Company is subject to the satisfaction of a solvency test as required 
by the Companies Law, whereby the Board must be satisfied on reasonable grounds that the Company 
will, immediately after payment of any dividend, be able to pay its debts as they become due and that the 
value of the Company’s assets would be greater than the value of its liabilities. 

The Board has the discretion to increase or reduce the dividend, or not to declare a dividend, as appropriate 
in consideration of the financial position of the Company. 
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Investors should note that the declaration and payment frequency of dividends are not profit 
forecasts. There may be a number of factors that adversely affect the Company’s ability to declare 
and pay a dividend and there can be no assurance that any dividend will be paid. This should not 
be seen as an indication of the Company’s expected or actual results or returns. Accordingly, 
investors should not assume that the Company will make any distributions at all in deciding 
whether to invest in the Shares. 

8      ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL GOVERNANCE (ESG) 
Whilst the Company has a limited carbon footprint in respect of its day-to-day activities, the Board notes 
that the Investment Manager recognises that responsible investing is core to its longer-term business 
success and integrates climate change and other ESG considerations into its investment process pursuant 
to Ruffer’s responsible investment policy. 

Amongst other things, Ruffer is a signatory to the UN Principles for Responsible Investment, to Climate 
Action 100+, to the Transition Pathway Initiative, to the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board 
Standards, the Net Zero Asset Managers Initiative, the Carbon Disclosure Project, the Institutional Investors 
Group on Climate Change (“IIGCC”) and the revised UK Stewardship Code. The Investment Manager 
regularly engages with portfolio companies and advocates for change where appropriate.  

A number of environmental initiatives have been introduced by the Board and the Administrator, as follows: 

l      minimising printing of Board materials; 

l      deemed consent from Shareholders to accept electronic copies of documents; 

l      use of recycled paper for annual and interim reports for shareholders requiring hard copies; and 

l      use of recycled Woodland Trust printer paper by the Administrator, which funds new UK woodland.  

In addition, the Board is looking into various carbon reducing and offsetting initiatives including carbon 
balancing flights taken by the Directors and representatives of the Investment Manager in connection with 
their involvement with the Company, increased virtual attendance at Board meetings and investigating a 
virtual or hybrid AGM. 

The portfolio has no exposure to any sanctioned assets, in particular in relation to Russia. 

Approach 

Integration  
At the macro level, ESG considerations enable Ruffer to assess systemic risk across markets and asset 
classes, such as sovereign bonds and listed equities. This level of analysis includes sector-specific trends 
or themes. 

At the micro level, fundamental analysis of the securities Ruffer chooses to buy, sell and hold on behalf of 
its clients is embedded into its ESG framework. This allows Ruffer to identify opportunities for engaging with 
management, proxy voting and to collaborate with other shareholders or industry-level initiatives. Ruffer’s 
framework affords a degree of flexibility, reflective of the fact that its investment conviction or stewardship 
activities (including the journey to ‘net zero’) may change in response to new information. 

Application and resources 
ESG considerations represent sources of both value and risk in the Company’s relatively concentrated 
portfolio of equity holdings. First, Ruffer explores industry and sector-specific trends or themes, such as 
potential regulatory headwinds or industry best practices. The framework is then applied to individual 
securities to examine ESG related risks and opportunities. 

Ruffer’s ESG analysis incorporates a range of qualitative and quantitative considerations. These are drawn 
from internal and external research and from formal and informal data sources. This includes: 

l      in-house ESG specialists working with research analysts to provide subject matter expertise both 
during the due diligence phase and throughout the holding period of the security;  
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l      company statements including annual accounting and sustainability reports; 

l      data and research insights from MSCI ESG Research, Bloomberg and FactSet; 

l      the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) framework; 

l      insights from the Transition Pathway Initiative (TPI) and CDP (previously, the Carbon Disclosure Project) 
in the assessment of carbon risk management and the transition to ‘net zero’; and  

l      Institutional Shareholder Services (ISS) providing proxy voting research and a voting platform. 

Ruffer’s ESG analysis extends to fixed income investments. In the case of the portfolio, this applies primarily 
to sovereign debt. Ruffer has developed a proprietary tool to analyse sovereign ESG risks, consisting of 
country-level indicators to gauge each sovereign issuer’s exposure. Specifically, Ruffer analyses 
environmental inputs ranging from renewable energy usage to waste recycling, and population studies 
assessing physical climate risk in low-lying areas. From a social and governance perspective, indicators are 
equally broad, touching on health and education, female labour force participation and measures of political 
stability and corruption. 

Stewardship: voting and engagement 
To act as responsible stewards of its investors’ assets, Ruffer uses its judgement to determine when to 
engage and how to vote at shareholder meetings to best protect the interests of its investors while being 
cognisant of the impact on all stakeholders. 

Engagement increases Ruffer’s understanding of the nature and significance of the various ESG risks facing 
investee companies. Ruffer engages independently and through collaborative initiatives, such as the 
Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC), Climate Action 100+ and the Investor Mining and 
Tailings Safety Initiative. 

Effective engagement is focused on improving outcomes - for the environment and society, as well as for 
investors and other stakeholders. 

Voting  
It is Ruffer’s policy to vote on annual general meeting and extraordinary general meeting resolutions, including 
routine shareholder resolutions and corporate actions – Ruffer votes on all shareholdings in the companies 
held within the portfolio. 

Ruffer has access to proxy voting research, currently from Institutional Shareholder Services, to assist its 
decision making. However, whilst Ruffer takes note of proxy advisers’ voting recommendations, it does not 
delegate or outsource its stewardship activities when deciding how to vote on the Company’s shareholdings. 

Voting can also be seen as an escalation method, especially if the outcome of engagement with 
management has been unsatisfactory. In 2021, Ruffer voted against management predominantly on issues 
relating to the independence and effectiveness of directors, audit-related resolutions and executive pay. 
Ruffer considers the effective governance of investee companies of paramount importance. Specifically, 
using voting rights to ensure the independence and effectiveness of board members. Governance concerns 
ranged from tenure and non-independence to attendance and remuneration. This has involved voting against 
the management of several investee companies including a US financial services firm, a UK bank, a US 
energy firm, a US healthcare business, and a Japanese media group. 

Reporting 
Since 2015, Ruffer has published an annual report, which presents its approach to responsible investment 
and stewardship activities. The report includes aggregated quantitative and qualitative voting data with 
explanations of its voting rationale. It also includes detailed case studies in relation to its engagement 
activities and an overview of the engagement themes that were prevalent throughout the year. In addition, 
Ruffer publishes a quarterly responsible investment report and a stewardship activities report. Each of these 
reports is made available, when published, from Ruffer’s website: ruffer.co.uk. 
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Climate change 
Ruffer’s commitment to reducing carbon emissions applies to investee companies in the Company’s 
portfolio, Ruffer’s own business and the Company.  

Businesses increasingly face two sorts of risk: physical risks from the increased incidence and severity of 
climatic events; and transition risks from the policy and technological changes necessary to move to a ‘net 
zero’ economy. These risks, if poorly managed, could harm the Company’s investments.  

The recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) helps Ruffer 
determine the nature, scale and management of climate-related risks and opportunities across sectors and 
regions.  

Ruffer published its inaugural TCFD report in 2021. It introduced Ruffer’s Climate Change Framework and 
directly responds to the recommendations of the TCFD. The report also exhibits Ruffer’s climate-related 
activities over the past few years and provides an insight into how its understanding of the risks facing its 
investee companies has evolved.  

In March 2022, Ruffer committed to the Net Zero Asset Managers initiative, and will disclose more 
information about how it will meet the requirements by March 2023.  

Ruffer discloses details of its voting, engagement activity and progress towards ‘net zero’ in its quarterly 
responsible investment reports and annual stewardship report, which are published on Ruffer’s website, 
ruffer.co.uk, and distributed to clients and investors. 

 

9      VALUATION POLICY 
9.1   The Articles provide that the Net Asset Value of the Company shall be equal to the value as at the 

relevant Valuation Point of all the assets, less all the liabilities of the Company, calculated on the basis 
set out below. The assets of the Company shall be deemed to include the following: 

        (a)     all cash on hand, on loan or on deposit, or on call including any interest accrued thereon;  

        (b)     all treasury bills, demand notes, promissory notes and accounts receivable; 

        (c)     all shares, stocks, units, participations, warrants, bonds, time notes, debenture stock, 
subscription rights, options, futures contracts and other investments and securities owned or 
contracted for by the Company, other than rights and securities issued by it; 

        (d)     all stock and cash dividends and cash distributions to be received by the Company and not yet 
received by it but declared payable to stockholders of record on a date before the day as of which 
the assets are being valued; 

        (e)     all interest accrued on any interest-bearing securities owned by the Company;  

        (f)      unrealised profits on open contracts; and 

        (g)     all other assets of the Company of every kind and nature including any claims for repayment of 
any taxation levied on capital (including capital gains) or on income accrued before the Valuation 
Point and prepaid expenses as valued and defined from time to time by the Directors. 

9.2   Any expense or liability of the Company may be amortised over such period as the Directors may 
determine (and the Directors may at any time and from time to time determine to lengthen or shorten 
any such period) and the unamortised amount thereof at any time shall also be deemed to be an asset 
of the Company. 

9.3   The investments of the Company shall be valued as follows: 

        (a)     subject to paragraph 9.5, assets listed, quoted or dealt in on a recognised securities exchange 
(including financial futures, warrants and rights expressed by reference to stock indices) are to 
be valued at the market dealing price, at the last close of business before the Valuation Point on 
the recognised securities exchange which, in the opinion of the Directors, is the principal 
recognised securities exchange on which the asset in question is listed, quoted or dealt in. 
If separate bid and offer prices are quoted, the price to be adopted for calculating the Net Asset 
Value shall be the bid price; 
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        (b)     deposits shall be valued at their principal amount plus accrued interest from the date of 
acquisition; 

        (c)     certificates of deposit acquired at their nominal value shall be valued at cost plus accrued interest 
from the date of acquisition on the nominal value at the coupon rate; 

        (d)     certificates of deposit acquired at a discount or premium on the sum of the nominal value and 
accrued interest at the date of acquisition shall be valued at their cost plus accrued interest from 
the date of acquisition on the nominal value at the coupon rate, and adjusted by an amount equal 
to the discount or premium at which they were acquired divided by the number of days unexpired 
at the date of acquisition and multiplied by the number of days elapsed from the date of 
acquisition to the date as of which the assets are being valued; 

       (e)     the value attributed to any open futures position will be the amount calculated by reference to 
the settlement price on the principal futures exchange on which that future is being traded after 
deduction of any commission or charge that would be incurred in liquidating that future at the 
settlement price on the relevant day. If any future cannot be valued by reference to the 
settlement price on that day due to the operation of daily limits or other rules of the market on 
which that future is traded, then the value of that future will be the value which is attributed to 
it by the Investment Manager after obtaining such professional advice as the Investment 
Manager thinks fit; 

        (f)      in relation to any future which is a forward contract for a currency other than Sterling which is not 
traded on a futures exchange, the value of any particular contract will be the average between 
the lowest offered price and the highest bid price at the close of business on the relevant day of 
the banker or broker through whom the contract is traded; 

        (g)     investments in unit trusts or other forms of collective investment schemes will be valued at the 
latest available mid-market price or valuation quoted by the manager or, as the case may be, the 
administrator of the unit trust or scheme in question; 

        (h)     any treasury bills and other government obligations held for margin deposits and any interest and 
exchange rate contracts will be valued at their market value, 

provided that if in the case of any investment the Directors at any time consider that the above basis of 
valuation is inapplicable or that the value determined in accordance with the foregoing principles is unfair 
they shall be entitled to substitute what in their opinion is a fair value thereof (or different values for the 
purpose of calculating offer prices and bid prices). 

9.4   Notwithstanding the foregoing, where at the time as of which the assets are being valued any 
investment of the Company has been realised or unconditionally contracted to be realised there shall 
be included in the assets of the Company in place of such investment the net amount receivable by 
the Company in respect thereof provided that if the net amount receivable is not payable until some 
further time after the time as of which the assets are being valued the Directors may make such 
allowance as they consider appropriate. 

9.5   Notwithstanding the rules in paragraph 9.3, where an option subsists for another person to purchase 
an asset from the Company or for the Company to sell an asset to another person, but such option 
has not been exercised, the value of the asset concerned shall be taken to be the price at which the 
option is exercisable, at any time at which such price is (in the case where another person is entitled 
to purchase) lower than, or (in the case where the Company is entitled to sell to another person) higher 
than, the price by reference to which the value would otherwise be calculated. 

9.6   Any valuations made shall be binding on all relevant persons. 

9.7   The liabilities of the Company shall be deemed to include all its liabilities (including such amount as the 
Directors determine to provide in respect of contingent liabilities including (but without limitation) 
liabilities in respect of taxation on income or capital gains whether realised or unrealised) of whatsoever 
kind and nature. Any unrealised loss on open contracts will be included as liabilities of the Company. 
In determining the amount of such liabilities the Directors may calculate any liabilities on an estimated 
figure for yearly or other periods in advance and accrue the same in equal proportions over any such 
period. All fees and expenses payable by the Company shall be treated as accruing on a daily basis 
unless the Directors shall otherwise determine. 

 

34



9.8   Brokerage commissions on open contracts shall be accrued as a liability of the Company upon the 
initiation of such positions. 

10    CALCULATION OF NET ASSET VALUE 
The Company Net Asset Value is the value of all assets of the Company less its liabilities (including provisions 
for such liabilities) calculated in Sterling in accordance with the Company’s valuation policy as set out at 
paragraph 9 above. The Net Asset Value per Share is the Net Asset Value divided by the number of Shares 
in issue at the relevant time (excluding any Shares held in treasury).  

An unaudited Net Asset Value and Net Asset Value per Share is calculated on a weekly basis and at the 
end of each month, pursuant to the valuation policy as set out at paragraph 9 above, by the Administrator 
in conjunction with the Investment Manager.  

The Net Asset Value and the Net Asset Value per Share is provided to Shareholders through a Regulatory 
Information Service and is also published on the Company’s website as soon as practicable thereafter.  

Suspension of the calculation of the Net Asset Value 
 

The calculation of the Net Asset Value (and Net Asset Value per Share) may only be suspended in 
circumstances where the underlying data necessary to value the investments of the Company cannot readily, 
or without undue expenditure, be obtained or in other circumstances (such as a systems failure of the 
Administrator and/or the Investment Manager) which prevents the Company from making such calculations. 
Details of any suspension in making such calculations will be announced through a RIS as soon as 
practicable after any such suspension occurs. 

11    REPORTS, ACCOUNTS AND MEETINGS 
The audited accounts of the Company are prepared under IFRS and applicable law. The Company’s 
accounting reference date is 30 June and the annual report and accounts are prepared up to 30 June each 
year. Copies of the report and accounts will be published by the end of October each year. Copies will be 
sent to Shareholders and/or made available on the Company’s website, according to Shareholder 
preferences, shortly following publication. Shareholders will also receive an unaudited half-yearly report 
covering the six months to 31 December each year, which is expected to be published each year within 
three months of this period end. 

The Company held its most recent annual general meeting on 2 December 2022 and it will continue to hold 
an annual general meeting each year. Other extraordinary general meetings may be convened from time to 
time by the Directors by sending notices to Shareholders. 

12    SHARE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

12.1 Premium management 
        In the event that the Shares trade at a premium to the Net Asset Value per Share, the Company may 

issue new Shares. The Company has issued 67,262,000 Tap Shares in the period from the publication 
of the Company’s previous prospectus on 16 May 2022 to 14 December 2022 (being the latest 
practicable date prior to the publication of this document) by way of regular issue of Tap Shares. The 
tap issues over that period have been undertaken at an average price of 307.0 pence per Share and 
at an average 2.77 per cent. premium to the Net Asset Value per Share at the time of issue. 

        Investors should note that the issue of new Shares is entirely at the discretion of the Board, and no 
expectation or reliance should be placed on such discretion being exercised on any one or more 
occasions or as to the number of new Shares that may be issued. 
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12.2 Discount management 

        Repurchase of Shares 
        The Directors will consider repurchasing Shares in the market if they believe it to be in the Company’s 

and Shareholders’ interests and as a means of correcting an imbalance between the supply of, and 
demand for, the Shares.  

        A resolution was passed at the Company’s annual general meeting held on 2 December 2022 granting 
the Directors authority to repurchase up to 14.99 per cent. of the Company’s issued share capital 
during the period expiring on the conclusion of the earlier of the Company’s next annual general meeting 
and the expiry of 15 months from the passing of such resolution, unless such authority is renewed 
prior to such time. Renewal of this buy-back authority will be sought at each annual general meeting 
of the Company or more frequently if required. Shares purchased by the Company may be held in 
treasury or cancelled.  

        In the event that the Board decides to repurchase Shares, purchases will only be made through the 
market for cash at prices not exceeding the last reported Net Asset Value per Share and such 
purchases will only be made in accordance with: (i) the Listing Rules, which currently provide that the 
maximum price (exclusive of expense) to be paid per Share must not be more than the higher of 
(a) 5 per cent. about the average of the mid-market quotations for the Shares for the five Business 
Days before the purchase is made; and (b) the higher of: (A) the price of the last independent trade; 
and (B) the highest current independent bid for Shares on the London Stock Exchange at the time the 
purchase is carried out; and (ii) the Companies Law, which provides among other things that any such 
purchase is subject to the Company passing the solvency test contained in the Companies Law at 
the relevant time.  

        Shareholders should note that the purchase of Shares by the Company is at the absolute discretion 
of the Directors and is subject to the working capital requirements of the Company and the amount of 
cash available to the Company to fund such purchases. Accordingly, no expectation or reliance should 
be placed on the Directors exercising such discretion on any one or more occasions. 

        Treasury Shares 
        Any Shares repurchased may be held in treasury. The Companies Law allows companies to hold shares 

acquired by way of market purchase as treasury shares, rather than having to cancel them. These 
shares may be subsequently cancelled or sold for cash. This would give the Company the ability to 
redistribute Shares quickly and cost efficiently, thereby improving liquidity and providing the Company 
with additional flexibility in the management of its capital base.  

        No Shares will be sold from treasury at a price less than the Net Asset Value per Share at the time of 
sale unless they are first offered pro rata to existing Shareholders. 

        Redemption Facility 
        In addition to the Company having the authority to purchase Shares when deemed appropriate by the 

Directors, the Company has a Redemption Facility (which takes the form of a tender offer to all holders 
of Shares). This facility may operate annually, in November each year, at the discretion of the Directors. 
Redemptions on any Redemption Date may be restricted to a maximum of 25 per cent. in aggregate 
of the Shares then in issue, with any tender requests from Shareholders in excess of this being scaled 
back pro rata.  

        The facility is intended, together with share buybacks, to address any imbalance in the supply and 
demand for the Shares and to assist in maintaining a narrow discount to the NAV per Share at which 
the Shares may be trading.  

13    TAXATION 
Shareholders are referred to Part 8 (Taxation) of this document for details of the principal Guernsey and 
United Kingdom tax consequences applicable to the Company and its Shareholders. Investors who are in 
any doubt as to their tax position or who are subject to tax in jurisdictions other than Guernsey and the 
United Kingdom are strongly advised to consult their own professional advisers immediately. 
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14    DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS 
The provisions of Chapter 5 of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules (as amended from time to 
time) (“DTR 5”) of the FCA Handbook apply to the Company on the basis that the Company is a “non-UK 
issuer”, as such term is defined in DTR 5. As such, a person is required to notify the Company of the percentage 
of voting rights it holds as a holder of Shares or holds or is deemed to hold through the direct or indirect holding 
of financial instruments falling within DTR 5 if, as a result of an acquisition or disposal of Shares (or financial 
instruments), the percentage of voting rights reaches, exceeds or falls below the relevant percentage thresholds 
being, in the case of a non-UK issuer, 5 per cent., 10 per cent., 15 per cent., 20 per cent., 25 per cent., 
30 per cent., 50 per cent. and 75 per cent. 

15    PROFILE OF A TYPICAL INVESTOR 
 

The Shares are designed to be suitable for institutional investors and professionally advised private investors. 
The Shares may also be suitable for investors who are financially sophisticated, non-advised private investors 
who are capable of evaluating the risks and merits of such an investment and who have sufficient resources 
to bear any loss which may result from such an investment. Such investors may wish to consult an 
independent financial adviser who specialises in advising on the acquisition of shares and other securities 
before investing in the Shares. 

16    RISK FACTORS 
The Company’s performance is dependent on many factors and potential investors should read the whole 
of this document and in particular Part 2 (Risk Factors) of this document. 
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Part 6 

The Portfolio and Investment Outlook 

 

1      THE PORTFOLIO 

1.1   Key performance indicators  
        The Company’s key performance indicators are as follows: 

30 June 30 June 

2022 2021 

(%) (%) 

Share price total return over twelve months(1) 

(unaudited) 5.6 19.5 
NAV total return per Share over twelve months(1) (unaudited) 6.0 15.3 
Premium/(discount) of Share price to NAV 
(unaudited) 1.7 2.0 
Dividends per Share over twelve months(2) 

(unaudited) 3.05p 1.90p 
Annualised dividend yield(3) 

(unaudited) 1.0 0.7 
Annualised total return per Share since launch(1)  

(unaudited) 7.7 7.9 
Ongoing charges ratio(4) 1.07 1.08 

(1)       Assumes reinvestment of dividends. 

(2)       Dividends declared during the year. 

(3)       Annual dividend yield is calculated using share price at the year end and dividends declared during the year. 

(4)       Calculated as the total ongoing charges for a period divided by the average NAV over that period using the AIC 
methodology. 

1.2   Financial highlights 
        The Company’s financial highlights include: 

30 June 30 June 

2022 2021 

Share price (unaudited) 300.00p 287.00p 
NAV at year end as calculated on an IFRS basis(1) £952,784,773 £575,851,333  
NAV at year end as reported to the LSE £947,554,437 £575,913,008 
Market capitalisation(2) 
(unaudited) £969,008,292 £587,541,854 
Number of Shares in issue 323,002,764 204,718,416 
NAV per Share at year end as calculated on an IFRS basis(1) 

(unaudited) 294.98p 281.29p 
NAV per Share at year end as reported to the LSE  
(unaudited) 293.36p 281.32p 

          (1)       This is the NAV/NAV per Share as per the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022 – 
refer to note 14 thereto for a reconciliation between this figure and the NAV/NAV per Share as reported to the LSE.  

          (2)        Market capitalisation is the value of a company that is traded on the stock market, calculated by multiplying the total 
number of shares by the share price on the reference date. 
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1.3   Performance drivers 

        Overview – financial year ended 30 June 2022 
        The following (unaudited) charts summarise the performance of the assets within the Company’s 

portfolio during the financial year ended 30 June 2022: 

 

          (Source: Investment Manager) 

        Six months to 30 June 2022 
        With nowhere to hide in conventional assets, it was the portfolio’s unconventional protective assets that 

drove performance in the last six months of the financial year ending 30 June 2022. Option protection 
via the Ruffer Protection Strategies Fund added 4.4 per cent., driven mostly by interest rate options 
and equity puts. Credit protection continued to be an essential hedge contributing 3.6 per cent. via the 
Ruffer Illiquid Multi-Strategies Fund.  

        Within equities, energy stocks were the strongest contributors, adding 2.0 per cent. to performance. 
Individual stock performance of note came from value cyclicals – for instance Chesapeake Energy 
(+31 per cent.) and Mitsubishi UFJ Finance (+19 per cent.). The decision to rotate into defence and 
healthcare stocks was also rewarded as Northrop Grumman (+29 per cent.) and Bristol Myers Squibb 
(+27 per cent.) performed well.  

        Towards the end of the period, as fears of recession grew, exposure to the auto manufacturing sector 
was hit hard with Volkswagen (-25 per cent.) and General Motors (-45 per cent.) together costing the 
portfolio -0.5 per cent. In the UK, exposure to domestic value stocks via Ruffer UK Mid & Small 
Companies Fund (-14 per cent.) was hurt by the political omnishambles, inflation and recession risk, 
detracting -0.4 per cent. from the portfolio. Both cases provided a stark reminder that cheap stocks 
can get cheaper in the short term.  

        The carnage in the long-dated inflation-linked bond market should not be understated. These assets 
cost the portfolio -6.0 per cent. The 2073 index-linked bond was down as much as 54 per cent. from 
its November 2021 all-time high.  

        Twelve months to 30 June 2022 
        The drivers of performance over 12 months were similar to those that shaped the second half of the 

financial year to 30 June 2022. The toolkit of unconventional protections performed exactly as desired. 
Options added 3.7 per cent. and Ruffer Illiquid Multi-Strategies Fund added 3.3 per cent. These 
protections provided both negative correlations and duration at a time of market stress and high 
cross-asset correlation in conventional markets.  
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        Energy equities added 2.8 per cent. to performance and the Company took significant profits during 
the period. In the summer of 2021, the Company had a 7 per cent. allocation to these stocks and at 
the end of the period this was closer to 4 per cent.  

        Gold exposure and gold equities cost the portfolio 0.9 per cent. during the period. The largest individual 
pain came from Kinross Gold (-0.4 per cent.), which was impacted by the Russian invasion of Ukraine. 
Gold is a prime example of the failure of conventional safe havens in recent times. Despite inflation 
and war being front page news, gold has misfired. The Investment Manager still thinks it has a valuable 
role to play, but this greater correlation with risk assets is a consequence of gold’s increased 
financialisation.  

        In the period, inflation-linked bonds cost the portfolio 3.5 per cent., with the longest dated 2073 issue 
down 51 per cent. The Investment Manager has long called these assets the ‘crown jewels’ in the 
Company’s portfolio due to the Investment Manager’s conviction that they should provide the perfect 
protection in the world of financial repression being entered. The Investment Manager is still of this 
view but the sensitivity to rising rates the Investment Manager has warned about has now been felt. 
This illustrates a distinction Ruffer has been labouring; investing for inflation and investing for inflation 
volatility are not the same thing and conflating the two will be costly. Derivative protection via the 
unconventional toolkit remains essential to safely navigating choppy and dangerous markets. 
Inflation-linked bonds are now back to pre-Brexit prices – and yet, in the Investment Manager’s 
assessment, the likelihood and proximity of the inflationary denouement is much greater.  

        Portfolio changes 
        In the last few months of the financial year to 30 June 2022, the Investment Manager reduced the risk 

in the portfolio, moving into ‘crouch mode’ for what the Investment Manager believes will be a 
particularly dangerous period in the six months to 31 December 2022. This de-risking included: 

          l      Reducing equities to a 25 per cent. weighting with relevant hedges on top for good measure – 
this is the lowest weighting for Ruffer portfolios since 2003.  

          l      Increasing portfolio duration as the rise in bond yields has increased its potential effectiveness as 
a hedge.  

          l      Rotating gold exposure from equities to bullion.  

        Overview – first quarter of financial year ending 30 June 2023 (unaudited) 
        During the first quarter of the financial year ending 30 June 2023, whilst the Share price decreased by 

4.0 per cent., the Company’s Net Asset Value per Share increased by 4.3 per cent.  

        Despite persistently high inflation coupled with central bank tightening during the quarter, the 
Company’s performance was supported by substantial protection strategies (predominantly credit 
defaults swaps and equity put protection). The most acute pain was, however, reserved for global 
bond markets, and in particular UK gilts. Therefore, it is pleasing that the Company posted a positive 
contribution (+0.9 per cent.) from its allocation to long-dated index-linked bonds, especially considering 
the 2068 issue fell over 12 per cent. during the period. Indeed, the 2068 issue finished the quarter 
almost 150 per cent. higher than the lowest price paid by the Company for the issue.  

        This is consistent with how Ruffer has built its long-term track record – capital preservation in times of 
crisis followed by the timely allocation of capital at opportune moments. 

        As at 30 September 2022, the Company’s Share price was 288p, whilst the Company’s Net Asset 
Value was 305.83p. 
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        The following (unaudited) table summarises the five largest positive and negative contributors to the 
Company’s portfolio for the first quarter of the financial year ending 30 June 2023:  

Five largest positive contributions               %                 Five largest negative contributions             % 

Ruffer Protection Strategies                   +3.1                 Gold exposure & gold equities               (0.4) 

Long-dated UK index-linked gilts           +1.3                 Japan equities                                       (0.2) 

Non-sterling currency exposure             +0.7                 Long-dated US TIPS                             (0.1) 

Ruffer Illiquid Multi Strategies Fund         +0.6                 Europe equities                                      (0.1) 
2015 Limited                                                                  Asia (ex-Japan equities)                         (0.1) 

Long-dated US conventional bonds       +0.4 

(Source: Investment Manager)  

1.4   Asset allocation (unaudited) 
 

The Company’s asset allocation as at 30 September 2022 was as follows: 

Asset                                                                                                                                               % 

Illiquid strategies and options                                                                                                       20.5 
Short-dated bonds                                                                                                                      19.5 
Index-linked gilts                                                                                                                         11.6 
Long-dated index-linked gilts                                                                                                       10.7 
Non-UK index-linked                                                                                                                     8.6 
UK equities                                                                                                                                    7.3 
Long dated bonds                                                                                                                         6.1 
Cash                                                                                                                                             5.4 
North America equities                                                                                                                  3.2 
Japan equities                                                                                                                               2.4 
Gold exposure and gold equities                                                                                                   2.1 
Europe equities                                                                                                                             1.8 
Global funds                                                                                                                                  0.4 
Asia ex-Japan equities                                                                                                                  0.1 
Other equities                                                                                                                                0.1 
Total                                                                                                                                            100 

        (Source: Investment Manager) 

1.5   Currency allocation (unaudited) 
        The Company’s currency allocation as at 30 September 2022 was as follows: 

Currency                                                                                                                                         % 

Sterling                                                                                                                                       66.2 
US dollar                                                                                                                                     16.3 
Yen                                                                                                                                               9.1 
Australian dollar                                                                                                                            6.6 
Euro                                                                                                                                              0.5 
Other                                                                                                                                            1.3 
Total                                                                                                                                            100 

(Source: Investment Manager) 
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1.6   Top ten equity holdings (unaudited) 
        The Company’s top ten equity holdings (excluding holdings in pooled funds) as at 30 September 2022 

were as follows: 

Equity holding                                                                                                                                  % 

BP                                                                                                                                                1.5 
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group                                                                                                     0.7 
Unilever                                                                                                                                         0.5 
American Express                                                                                                                          0.4 
UPM-Kymmene Oyj                                                                                                                       0.4 
NEC                                                                                                                                              0.4 
Chesapeake Energy                                                                                                                      0.4 
Shell                                                                                                                                              0.4 
Trident Royalties                                                                                                                            0.4 
Taylor Maritime                                                                                                                              0.3 

          (Source: Investment Manager) 

2      INVESTMENT OUTLOOK 
 

Looking forward, continued geopolitical tension and strong labour markets look set to add to the inflationary 
pressures which have already seeped into stickier economic categories. One year ago, the tick-up in inflation 
was going to prove ‘transitory’ – allegedly the product of one-off effects unique to the reopening of 
economies after the pandemic. However, as inflation continued surprising to the upside and began filtering 
into categories where price rises tend to prove more persistent, the narrative changed. Today, the Federal 
Reserve intends to bring inflation back down to target, regardless of the consequences for the economy 
and asset markets – meaning investors may have to wait longer for a so-called ‘Fed pivot’. So further central 
bank tightening looks probable and this could trigger further widespread de-risking across the asset 
management industry as higher risk-free rates incentivise lower allocations to risk assets, particularly as 
quantitative tightening drains liquidity from financial markets.  

Consistent with this challenging outlook, the Company’s portfolio has a defensive posture – in line with the 
primary objective of preserving capital. The Investment Manager has been reducing equities in recent months 
and the portfolio is now actively positioned to protect capital from falling markets via downside derivatives. 
The cash from equity sales has been recycled into highly liquid short-dated sovereign paper, including short 
maturity UK and US inflation-linked bonds (where the inflation pricing remains attractive), US floating-rate 
notes (which benefit from rising rates), and conventional bonds (where yields are now more attractive). This 
stable and liquid core not only helps limit downside and volatility itself: it will also allow the Company to 
capitalise as falling markets offer-up more attractively valued assets. The Company continues to own 
long-dated inflation-linked bonds as the risk of long-term financial repression – where interest rates are held 
below the rate of inflation – grows by the day. The Investment Manager continues to manage their duration 
risk using interest rate options.  

The Investment Manager concludes that the past year has shown the importance of derivative protection 
in volatile and inhospitable markets. Meanwhile, the Board remains confident that the Ruffer investment 
strategy holds the protections required to preserve and grow Shareholders’ capital both through a period 
of continued uncertainty and potentially unforeseeable tail events.
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Part 7 

Directors, Investment Manager and Administration 

 

1      THE DIRECTORS 
The Directors are responsible for the Company’s investment objective and investment policy and have overall 
responsibility for the Company’s activities including the review of investment performance and the control 
and supervision of the Investment Manager. All of the Directors are non-executive and are independent of 
the Investment Manager and the Company’s other service providers. A majority of the Board will, at all times, 
be independent of the Investment Manager. 

The Directors meet at least four times a year and otherwise as required to, inter alia, review and assess the 
Company’s performance in relation to the investment policy and strategy, the risk profile of the Company, 
the selection of investments and the Company’s service providers, including the Investment Manager, and 
generally to supervise the conduct of its affairs.  

The Directors are as follows: 

Christopher Russell (Independent Non-Executive Chairman) 
A resident of Guernsey, Christopher Russell is a non-executive director of investment and financial 
companies. These include Hanseatic Asset Management Ltd, a family office in Guernsey, and JPMorgan 
Global Core Real Estate Assets Ltd, a vehicle which invests in unlisted global JPMorgan real estate and 
infrastructure funds. Prior to a non-executive career, Christopher was a director of Gartmore Investment 
Management plc, where he was Head of Gartmore’s businesses in the US and Japan. Before that he was 
a holding board director of the Jardine Fleming Group in Asia, resident in Japan then Hong Kong. Prior to 
joining Flemings in London, he was with Phillips & Drew Asset Management. He is a Fellow of the UK Society 
of Investment Professionals and a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. 
In 2006, he was commissioned by John Wiley to publish Trustee Investment Strategy for Endowments and 

Foundations. Christopher was appointed to the Board on 1 December 2016 and became Chairman of the 
Board on 4 December 2020. 

Nicholas Pink (Independent Non-Executive Director and Senior Independent Director) 
A resident of the United Kingdom, Nicholas Pink has extensive senior management experience in financial 
services with previous roles at UBS Investment Bank, including Global Head of Research, Head of European 
Research, Head of Asia Research and Head of European Equities. Prior to this he was Head of European 
Utilities Research at UBS Investment Bank. He is a non-executive director of JPMorgan Emerging Europe, 
Middle East and Africa Securities plc, a UK-listed investment trust, and of Redburn Europe Limited, an 
independent provider of research and execution services to institutional investors. Nicholas was appointed 
to the Board on 1 September 2020 and became Senior Independent Director on 2 December 2022. 

Shelagh Mason (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
A resident of Guernsey, Shelagh Mason is a solicitor specialising in English commercial property. She retired 
as a consultant with Collas Crill LLP in October 2020. She is also non-executive Chairman of the Channel 
Islands Property Fund Limited, sits on the Board of Riverside Capital PCC and Skipton International Limited, 
a Guernsey Licensed bank, and until 28 February 2022 was a non-executive director of The Renewables 
Infrastructure Group Limited, a FTSE 250 company, stepping down after 9 years on the board. Shelagh 
also sits on the board of Starwood European Real Estate Finance Limited, a London-listed company. 
Previously Shelagh was a member of the board of directors of Standard Life Investments Property Income 
Trust Limited, a property fund listed on the London Stock Exchange for ten years until December 2014. 
She retired from the board of MedicX Fund Limited, a Main Market listed investment company investing in 
primary healthcare facilities in 2017 after ten years on the board. She is a past Chairman of the Guernsey 
Branch of the Institute of Directors, a member of the Chamber of Commerce and the Guernsey International 
Legal Association, and she also holds the IOD Company Direction Certificate and Diploma with distinction. 
Shelagh was appointed to the Board on 1 June 2020. 

 

43



Susie Farnon (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
A resident of Guernsey, Susie Farnon is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and 
Wales and a non- executive director of a number of property and investment companies including Apax 
Global Alpha Limited, Real Estate Credit Investments Limited and Bailiwick Investments Limited. Until 
20 July 2022 Susie was a non-executive director of HICL Infrastructure plc, a FTSE 250 company, stepping 
down after nine years on the board and five years as chair of the audit and risk committee. Susie was a 
Banking and Finance Partner with KPMG Channel Islands from 1990 until 2001 and Head of Audit KPMG 
Channel Islands from 1999. She has served as President of the Guernsey Society of Chartered and Certified 
Accountants and as a member of the States of Guernsey Audit Commission and Vice-Chairman of the 
Guernsey Financial Services Commission. Susie was appointed as a non-executive director of the AIC, 
the  UK investment companies’ trade body, on 1 April 2018. Susie was appointed to the Board on 
1 September 2022. 

Solomon Soquar (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
A resident of the United Kingdom, Solomon Soquar has a long and deep experience of over 30 years across 
investment banking, capital markets (and in particular in structuring risk management solutions) and wealth 
management. Solomon has worked with a number of major financial institutions, including Goldman Sachs, 
Bankers Trust, Merrill Lynch, Citi and Barclays. His most recent executive role has been as CEO of Barclays 
Investments Solutions Limited. Solomon studied and taught at Oxford University and holds a BA/MA in 
Politics, Philosophy and Economics and M.Phil in Economics from Balliol College, Oxford. Solomon currently 
devotes part of his time on pro-bono activities across global health, climate economics and developmental 
enablers for Africa. Solomon was appointed to the Board on 2 December 2022.  

 

2      THE INVESTMENT MANAGER 

2.1   Introduction 
        Ruffer has been looking after investments for institutions, pension funds, charities, financial planners 

and private clients, in the UK and internationally, since 1994, successfully navigating three major market 
corrections – the dot.com bust, global financial crisis and Covid-19. As at 30 September 2022, Ruffer 
had £26.5 billion assets under management, and boasted a 27 year track record of 8.9 per cent. net 
annualised returns2.  

        The Company has appointed Ruffer AIFM Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ruffer LLP, as the 
investment manager of the Company, pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement (further 
details of which are set out in paragraph 6.1 of Part 9 (General Information) of this document. The 
Investment Manager acts as the Company’s AIFM for the purposes of the EU AIFM Directive and the 
AIFM Regime and provides portfolio and risk management services to the Company, together with 
certain other ancillary services.  

2.2   Management Team 
        The personnel of the Investment Manager who are involved with the provision of investment 

management services to the Company consists of Duncan MacInnes and Jasmine Yeo (together, the 
“Management Team”). 

        Duncan MacInnes (Investment Director) 
        Duncan MacInnes joined Ruffer in 2012. He graduated from Glasgow University School of Law in 2007 

and spent four years working at Barclays in Glasgow, London and Singapore. Duncan is a CFA 
charterholder and is co-manager of the Company. 
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2 Cumulative performance 30 June 1995 to 30 September 2022, in Sterling. Ruffer’s representative portfolio is an unconstrained 
segregated portfolio following Ruffer’s investment approach. Ruffer performance is shown after deduction of all fees and management 
charges, and all figures include reinvested income. 30 September 2017 0.3 per cent., 30 September 2018 1.0 per cent., 30 September 
2019 0.4 per cent., 30 September 2020 11.1 per cent., 30 September 2021 14.8 per cent. and 30 September 2022 6.6 per cent. 
Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.



        Jasmine Yeo (Investment Manager) 
        Jasmine Yeo joined Ruffer in 2017. She graduated from Warwick Business School with a degree in 

International Business with Spanish in 2017. Jasmine became a member of the Chartered Institute for 
Securities & Investment in 2020, following completion of the Chartered Wealth Manager qualification. 
As well as being co-manager of the Company, Jasmine is an investment specialist in Ruffer’s UK 
Wholesale team, working closely with multi-family offices, wealth managers, financial planners and 
their clients.  

2.3   Investment Management Agreement 
        The Company initially appointed Ruffer LLP as investment manager. On 18 July 2014 the Company 

announced that, effective from 22 July 2014, Ruffer AIFM Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Ruffer 
LLP, would be appointed as the Company’s AIFM and investment manager and the existing 
arrangements with Ruffer LLP would terminate, as part of an adjustment to the Company’s operational 
arrangements to ensure compliance with the AIFM Regime and the EU AIFM Directive. The Company 
and the Investment Manager have entered into the Investment Management Agreement, a summary 
of which is set out at paragraph 6.1 of Part 9 (General Information) of this document, pursuant to which 
the Investment Manager has, subject to the overall supervision and direction of the Board, agreed to 
provide investment management services to the Company. The Investment Manager acts as the 
Company’s AIFM for the purposes of the AIFM Regime and the EU AIFM Directive and provides 
portfolio and risk management services, and certain other ancillary services to the Company.  

 

        Under the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager receives a management fee, 
payable monthly in arrears, calculated on the basis of the following formula: 

        A x B 

        where: 

        “A” equals the average of the weekly Net Asset Value calculations of the Company undertaken over 
the course of the relevant month as determined on the relevant Valuation Date; and  

        “B” equals 0.0833333 per cent., 

        which, in aggregate, shall be an amount equivalent to one per cent. per annum of the Net Asset Value 
of the Company, save that where the Company is invested in a fund managed by Ruffer and Ruffer 
takes a fee within that fund it is excluded from the A x B calculation. 

        The Investment Management Agreement may be terminated by the Company or by the Investment 
Manager giving 12 months’ notice at any time. 

3      OTHER ADVISERS 
 

3.1   Administrator and Company Secretary 
        Sanne Fund Services (Guernsey) Limited has been appointed as administrator and company secretary 

to the Company pursuant to the terms of the Administration and Secretarial Agreement (further details 
of which are set out at paragraph 6.6 of Part 9 (General Information) of this document) to provide 
administration and general company secretarial services to the Company (including, but not limited 
to, general administrative functions, such as the calculation in conjunction with the Investment Manager, 
and publication of, the Net Asset Value and maintenance of the Company’s accounting and statutory 
records, and providing the company secretarial functions required by the Companies Law and the 
Rules). The Administrator is a wholly owned subsidiary of Apex Group. 

 

3.2   Custodian and Depositary 
        Northern Trust (Guernsey) Limited has been appointed as custodian and depositary to the Company 

pursuant to the terms of the Depositary Agreement (further details of which are set out at paragraph 
6.7 of Part 9 (General Information) of this document). 
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3.3   Auditor 
 

        Deloitte LLP provides audit services to the Company. The fees charged by the Auditor depend on the 
services provided and on the time spent by the Auditor on the affairs of the Company.  

3.4   Registrar 
 

        Computershare Investor Services (Guernsey) Limited has been appointed to provide registrar services 
to the Company pursuant to the Registrar Agreement (further details of which are set out at paragraph 
6.8 of Part 9 (General Information) of this document). Under the Registrar Agreement the Registrar has 
responsibility for maintaining the register of Shareholders, receiving transfers of Shares for certification 
and registration and receiving and registering Shareholders’ dividend payments together with related 
services. 

4      FEES AND EXPENSES 
 

4.1   Expenses incurred in respect of the publication of this document 
        The Company has incurred and will incur issue expenses that arise from, or are incidental to, the 

publication of this document. These expenses include the fees payable under the Sponsor Engagement 
Letter, legal and accounting fees and any other applicable expenses. The costs and expenses of, and 
incidental to, the publication of this document payable by the Company are expected to be c.£205,000. 

 

4.2   On-going annual expenses 
        The Company incurs annual fees, charges and expenses in connection with the day to day running of 

the Company. The ongoing charges ratio for the year ended 30 June 2022 was 1.07 per cent., 
calculated in accordance with the AIC methodology, which is expected to reduce as fixed costs are 
spread over a larger capital base following the issue of new Shares. 

        The Investment Manager has prepared a key information document (KID) in respect of the Shares as 
required under the PRIIPs Regulation. That regulation requires costs to be calculated and presented 
in accordance with detailed and prescriptive rules. The KID is available on the Company’s website 
at ruffer.co.uk/ric. 

 

5      CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
The Investment Manager and its affiliates serve as the investment manager to other clients and, where 
appropriate and in accordance with the Company’s investment policy, the Investment Manager may invest 
on behalf of the Company in in-house funds to gain exposure to certain asset classes. As a result, the 
Investment Manager and its affiliates may have conflicts of interest in allocating investments among the 
Company and other clients and in effecting transactions between the Company and other clients, including 
ones in which the Investment Manager and its affiliates may have a greater financial interest. Where 
appropriate, the Investment Manager and its affiliates may give advice or take action with respect to such 
other clients that differs from the advice given to, or action taken in relation to, the Company. 

The Investment Manager and its affiliates may be involved in other financial, investment or professional 
activities which may on occasion give rise to conflicts of interest with the Company. In particular, the 
Investment Manager may provide investment management or other services in relation to other funds which 
may have similar investment policies to that of the Company or funds in which the Company invests. 

The Investment Manager will have regard to its obligations under the Investment Management Agreement 
or otherwise to act in the best interests of the Company, so far as is practicable having regard to its 
obligations to other clients, when potential conflicts of interest arise. The provision of services by the 
Investment Manager is governed by the Conduct of Business Sourcebook Rules (the “COBS Rules”) and 
in the event of a conflict of interest arising, the Investment Manager will ensure that it is managed and/or 
resolved fairly and in accordance with the COBS Rules. The COBS Rules require the Investment Manager 
to ensure fair treatment of all its clients. The COBS Rules also require that when an investment is made it 
shall be allocated fairly amongst all of its clients for whom the investment is appropriate. In particular, the 
Investment Manager will use its reasonable efforts to ensure that the Company has the opportunity to 
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participate in potential investments identified by the Investment Manager which fall within the Company’s 
investment objective and policy on the best terms reasonably obtainable at the relevant time with the aim 
of ensuring that the principle of best execution is attained in accordance with the COBS Rules. 

The Directors are required by the COBS Rules to take all reasonable steps to ensure that there is no breach 
of the conflicts of interest requirements of those rules. 

Directors are required to disclose all actual and potential conflicts of interest as they arise for approval by 
the Board, who may impose restrictions or refuse to authorise conflicts. The process of consideration and, 
if appropriate, approval will be conducted only by those Directors with no material interest in the matter 
being considered. The Board maintains a Conflicts of Interest Policy which is reviewed periodically and a 
Business Interests and Potential Conflicts of Interest Register which is reviewed by the Board at each 
quarterly Board meeting. 

As at the date of this document, there are: (i) no actual or potential conflicts of interest between any duties 
owed to the Company, the Directors, the Investment Manager or any of the Directors and their private 
interest or duties; and (ii) no material potential conflicts of interest which any of the services providers to the 
Company may have as between their duty to the Company and duties owed by them to third parties and 
their other interests. 

 

6      CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

6.1   Introduction 
        The Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules require the Company to: (i) make a corporate 

governance statement in its annual report and accounts based on the code to which it is subject, or 
with which it voluntarily complies; and (ii) describe its internal control and risk management 
arrangements. 

        The Directors currently report against the principles and recommendations of the AIC Code which applies 
to listed investment companies and addresses all of the principles set out in the UK Corporate Governance 
Code. The AIC Code has been endorsed by the UK Financial Reporting Council and the GFSC. 

        The Board has established an Audit & Risk Committee and a Management Engagement Committee. 
These committees undertake specific activities through delegated authority from the Board. Terms of 
reference for each committee have been adopted and are reviewed on a regular basis by the Board.  

 

        The Board does not have a separate Nomination Committee, the functions of which are fulfilled by the 
Board. Any proposals for a new Director are discussed and approved by the Board. The Board will 
determine whether an external search consultancy or open advertising is used in the appointments of 
future non-executive directors. In light of its non-executive and independent nature, the Board 
considers that it is not appropriate to have a Remuneration Committee as anticipated by the UK 
Corporate Governance Code because this function is carried out as part of the regular Board business.  

 

6.2   Audit & Risk Committee 
        The Audit & Risk Committee comprises the entire Board, all of whom are independent non-executive 

directors, and is chaired by Susie Farnon (who is considered to have recent and relevant financial 
experience). The Audit & Risk Committee meets at least three times a year. There are likely to be other 
regular attendees at meetings of the Audit & Risk Committee, including the Auditor, by invitation of the 
Audit & Risk Committee.  

        The Audit & Risk Committee is responsible for ensuring that the financial performance and position of 
the Company is properly reported and monitored. The Audit & Risk Committee reviews the financial 
statements of the Company and any formal announcements relating to the Company’s financial 
performance, considers the appropriateness of the accounting policies and practices of the Company 
(including critical estimates and judgement areas), monitors and reviews the quality, effectiveness and 
independence of the Auditor, the effectiveness of the audit and the continuing appointment, and 
remuneration, of the Auditor, and monitors and reviews the internal control and risk management 
systems of the Company and its service providers. It also monitors the procedures for the prevention, 
detection and reporting of fraud, bribery and corruption. 
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        Due to its size, structure and the nature of its activities, the Company does not have an internal audit 
function; the Audit & Risk Committee continues to keep this under review. 

6.3   Management Engagement Committee 
        The Management Engagement Committee is comprised of the entire Board, with Shelagh Mason 

appointed as Chairman. The Management Engagement Committee meets at least once a year or more 
often, if required. Its principal duties are to review the performance of and contractual arrangements 
with the Investment Manager and all other key service providers to the Company (other than the 
Auditor), which it does on an annual basis. In addition, the Management Engagement Committee 
monitors and reviews the level of remuneration of the Investment Manager to ensure that it is 
appropriate, competitive and sufficient to incentivise the Investment Manager.  

7      DIRECTOR SHARE DEALINGS 
The Company has adopted a share dealing code in relation to the Shares, which is based on the 
requirements of the Listing Rules and MAR. 
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Part 8 

Taxation 

 

The tax legislation of the investor’s home country and of the Company’s country of incorporation 
may have an impact on the income received from the Shares. Investors, and in particular those 
who are subject to tax in a jurisdiction other than Guernsey or the United Kingdom, should consult 
their professional advisers concerning the possible tax consequences of their subscribing for, 
purchasing, holding or selling Shares. The following summary of the principal Guernsey and 
United Kingdom tax consequences applicable to the Company and its Shareholders is based 
upon interpretations of existing laws in effect on the date of this document and no assurance 
can be given that courts or fiscal authorities responsible for the administration of such laws will 
agree with the interpretations or that changes in such laws will not occur. The tax and other 
matters described in this document are not intended as legal or tax advice. Each investor must 
consult its own advisers with regard to the tax consequences of an investment in Shares. None 
of the Company, the Directors, Investec, the Investment Manager or any of their respective 
Affiliates or agents accepts any responsibility for providing tax advice to any prospective investor. 

GUERNSEY TAXATION 

The Company 
The Company has been granted exempt company status under the Income Tax (Exempt Bodies) (Guernsey) 
Ordinance, 1989 (as amended) (the “Ordinance”) for the current calendar year. A company with exempt 
company status is treated as non-resident for the purposes of income tax. Exemption will be applied for 
annually and is granted on payment of a fee, currently fixed at £1,200 per annum, provided that the Guernsey 
Revenue Service is satisfied that the Company complies, and will continue to comply, with the provisions of 
the Ordinance. The Directors intend to manage the Company in such a way as to ensure that the Company 
at all times complies with the requirements of the Ordinance. As the Company should have no Guernsey 
source income other than relevant bank deposit income (which is not considered to be Guernsey source 
income for these purposes), it will not be liable to income tax in Guernsey. 

The Company is incorporated in Guernsey. The Directors intend to manage the operations of the Company 
so that it does not become tax resident in any other jurisdiction. 

Under current Guernsey tax law there is no liability to capital gains tax, wealth tax, capital transfer tax or 
estate or inheritance tax on the issue, transfer or realisation of the Shares (save for registration fees and 
ad valorem duty for a Guernsey grant of representation when the deceased dies leaving assets in Guernsey 
which require presentation of such a grant). 

Dividends paid by exempt companies to non-Guernsey residents will be free of Guernsey withholding tax 
and reporting requirements. Where a tax exempt company pays a dividend to shareholders that are 
Guernsey tax resident individuals, the company will only need to report the relevant details of those dividends. 

Withholding tax 
Provided the Company obtains and maintains its tax exempt status, there would currently be no requirement 
for the Company to withhold tax from the payment of a distribution. 

In the event that the Company does not have tax exempt status at the time a distribution is made it may be 
required to withhold tax at the applicable rate in respect of any distributions made (or deemed to have been 
made) to Shareholders who are Guernsey resident individuals. 

Stamp duty 
There is also no stamp duty or equivalent tax payable in Guernsey on the issue, transfer or redemption of 
the Shares. In addition, no stamp duty is chargeable in Guernsey on the issue, transfer, disposal or 
redemption of shares other than ‘Document Duty’ which can apply in some instances where a company 
holds Guernsey situated real estate. 
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Economic substance 
Companies and certain other bodies that are tax resident in Guernsey (which includes for these purposes 
companies that are treated as tax exempt under the Ordinance as described above) are required to declare 
if they have income from certain “relevant activities”. If so, they are required to demonstrate that they have 
adequate “economic substance” in Guernsey in relation to those activities.  

Failure to demonstrate adequate economic substance may lead to financial penalties, spontaneous 
automatic exchange of information in relation to the company by the Guernsey Revenue Service with other 
relevant tax authorities and, potentially, the company being compulsorily struck off the Guernsey company 
register. 

Collective investment vehicles are not usually expected to have relevant activities that would bring them 
within scope of the economic substance requirements in Guernsey unless they are considered to be 
“self-managed funds” which are treated as having the relevant activity of “investment management”. 

It is likely that the Company will be treated as a collective investment vehicle for as long as it remains income 
tax exempt under the Ordinance. However, it is likely that the Company will not be treated as a self-managed 
fund whilst the Investment Manager remains in office, or if an alternative external provider is appointed to 
fulfil the functions currently undertaken by the Investment Manager. 

Goods and services tax 
The States of Guernsey has been considering options for the introduction of a system of goods and services 
tax (“GST”) and published a policy letter in November 2022 regarding the introduction of GST. However, no 
decision as to the introduction of GST has been made and it is unlikely that GST will be introduced in 
Guernsey prior to 2025 at the earliest.  

FATCA and the Common Reporting Standard 
On 13 December 2013 the Chief Minister of Guernsey signed an intergovernmental agreement with the US 
(“US-Guernsey IGA”) regarding the implementation of the US Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act 
(“FATCA”). Under the legislation enacted in Guernsey to implement the US-Guernsey IGA, certain disclosure 
requirements will be imposed in respect of certain investors in the Company who are, or are entities that are 
controlled by one or more natural persons who are, residents or citizens of the US unless a relevant 
exemption applies. Certain due diligence obligations will also be imposed. Where applicable, information 
that will need to be disclosed will include certain information about investors, their ultimate beneficial owners 
and/or controllers, and their investment in and returns from the Company. The Company will be required to 
report this information each year in the prescribed format and manner as per local guidance. 

Guernsey also implemented the Common Reporting Standard (“CRS”) regime with effect from 1 January 
2016. Accordingly, reporting in respect of periods commencing on or after 1 January 2016 is required in 
accordance with the CRS (as implemented in Guernsey). 

Under the CRS and legislation enacted in Guernsey to implement the CRS, certain disclosure requirements 
have been imposed in respect of certain investors who are, or are entities that are controlled by one or more 
natural persons who are, residents of any of the jurisdictions that have also adopted the CRS, unless a 
relevant exemption applies. Certain due diligence obligations have also been imposed. Where applicable, 
information to be disclosed includes certain information about investors, their ultimate beneficial owners 
and/or controllers, and their investment in and returns from the Company. The CRS has been implemented 
through Guernsey’s domestic legislation in accordance with guidance issued by the Organisation for 
Economic Cooperation and Development as supplemented by guidance notes in Guernsey. 

Under the CRS, disclosure of information will be made to the Guernsey Revenue Service for transmission 
to the tax authorities in other participating jurisdictions. 

Under the CRS, there is currently no reporting exemption for securities that are ‘regularly traded’ on an 
established securities market, although it is expected that whilst a Share is held in uncertificated form through 
CREST, the holder of the Share will likely be a financial institution acting as an intermediary. Shareholders 
that own Shares through a financial intermediary may be required to provide information to such financial 
intermediary in order to allow the financial intermediary to satisfy its obligations under the CRS. 
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If the Company fails to comply with any due diligence and/or reporting requirements under Guernsey 
legislation implementing the US-Guernsey IGA and/or the CRS then the Company could be subject to (in 
the case of the US-Guernsey IGA) US withholding tax on certain US source payments, and (in all cases) the 
imposition of financial penalties introduced pursuant to the relevant implementing regulations in Guernsey. 
Whilst the Company will seek to satisfy its obligations under the US-Guernsey IGA and the CRS and 
associated implementing legislation in Guernsey to avoid the imposition of any financial penalties under 
Guernsey law, the ability of the Company to satisfy such obligations will depend on receiving relevant 
information and/or documentation about each Shareholder and the direct and indirect beneficial owners 
and/or controllers of each Shareholder (if any). There can be no assurance that the Company will be able 
to satisfy such obligations. 

In subscribing for or acquiring Shares, each Shareholder is agreeing, upon the request of the Company or 
its delegate, to provide such information as is necessary to comply with FATCA, the CRS and other similar 
regimes and any related legislation, intergovernmental agreements and/or regulations. 

FATCA/CRS AND SIMILAR MEASURES FOR THE AUTOMATIC EXCHANGE OF INFORMATION 
ARE PARTICULARLY COMPLEX AND THEIR APPLICATION TO THE COMPANY, THE SHARES AND 
INVESTORS IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE. EACH INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT ITS OWN TAX 
ADVISER TO OBTAIN A MORE DETAILED EXPLANATION OF FATCA/CRS AND TO LEARN HOW 
FATCA/CRS MIGHT AFFECT IT IN ITS PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES. 

The Articles grant the Directors the power by notice in writing to require any Shareholder to disclose to the 
Company the identity of persons (other than the Shareholder) who has an interest in the Shares held by the 
Shareholder or such other information as may be required by applicable law. The Directors may deal with 
any Shares held by a Shareholder in default of such a request in accordance with the Articles.  

Investors should consult with their respective tax advisers regarding the possible implications of FATCA, the 
CRS and any similar regimes concerning the automatic exchange of information and any other related 
legislation, intergovernmental agreements and/or regulations on their investment in the Company. If a 
Shareholder fails to provide the Company or the Administrator with information that is required by either of 
them to allow them to comply with any of the above reporting requirements, or any similar reporting 
requirements, adverse consequences may apply. 

Shareholders 
Shareholders who are not resident in Guernsey for tax purposes can receive distributions without deduction 
of Guernsey income tax. 

Shareholders who are resident for tax purposes in Guernsey (which includes Alderney and Herm) will incur 
Guernsey income tax at the applicable rate on a distribution paid to them (subject to their own 
circumstances). The Company will be required to provide the Guernsey Revenue Service such particulars 
relating to any distribution paid to Guernsey resident Shareholders as the Guernsey Revenue Service may 
require, including the names and addresses of the Guernsey resident Shareholders, the gross amount of 
any distribution paid and the date of the payment. 

Distributions made by the Company to non-Guernsey resident Shareholders, whether made during the life 
of the Company or by distribution on liquidation, will not be subject to Guernsey tax provided such payments 
are not taken into account in computing the profits of any permanent establishment situated in Guernsey 
through which such Shareholder carries on a business in Guernsey. 

Shareholders, whether or not Guernsey resident, should not be liable to Guernsey tax on disposal of Shares 
in the Company if those Shares are held for investment purposes. The Director of the Guernsey Revenue 
Service can require the Company to provide the name and address of every Guernsey resident who, on a 
specified date, has a beneficial interest in the Shares, with details of the interest. 

As already referred to above, Guernsey currently does not levy taxes upon capital inheritances, capital gains, 
gifts, sales or turnover, nor are there any estate duties (save for registration fees and ad valorem duty for a 
Guernsey Grant of Representation where the deceased dies leaving assets in Guernsey which require 
presentation of such a Grant). 
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No stamp duty or similar tax is chargeable in Guernsey on the issue, transfer or redemption of Shares. 

Request for information 
The Company reserves the right to request from any Shareholder or potential investor such information as 
the Company deems necessary to comply with FATCA, any agreement with the US Internal Revenue Service 
in relation to FATCA from time to time in force, or any obligation arising under the implementation of any 
applicable regime, including the CRS, relating to FATCA and the automatic exchange of information with 
any relevant competent authority. 

Anti-avoidance 
Guernsey has a wide-ranging anti-avoidance provision. This provision targets transactions where the effect 
of the transaction or series of transactions is the avoidance, reduction or deferral of a Guernsey tax liability. 
At her discretion, the Director of the Guernsey Revenue Service will make such adjustments to the tax liability 
to counteract the effect of the avoidance, reduction or deferral of the tax liability. 

In addition, Guernsey has committed to introduce mandatory disclosure rules for CRS avoidance 
arrangements and opaque offshore structures (“MDR”). These MDR rules would require promoters of such 
avoidance arrangements and services providers to disclose information on the arrangement or structure to 
the Director of the Guernsey Revenue Service. Such information would include the identity of any user or 
beneficial owner and would then be exchanged with the tax authorities of the jurisdiction in which the users 
and/or beneficial owners are resident, where there is a relevant information exchange agreement. 

UNITED KINGDOM TAXATION 

Introduction 
The following statements are intended only as a general guide to certain UK tax considerations relevant to 
investors in the Shares. They do not purport to be a complete analysis of all potential UK tax consequences 
of acquiring, holding or disposing of Shares. The following statements are based on current UK legislation 
and what is understood to be the current published practice (which may not be binding) of HMRC as at the 
date of this document, both of which may change, possibly with retroactive effect.  

They apply only to Shareholders who are resident (and in the case of individual Shareholders resident and 
domiciled) for UK tax purposes in (and only in) the UK, who hold their Shares as an investment, (other than 
in an individual savings account or pension arrangement), and who are the absolute beneficial owners of 
both their Shares and any dividends paid on them (for these purposes such Shareholders being, in the case 
of an individual, a “UK Individual Shareholder” and, in the case of a Shareholder within the charge to UK 
corporation tax, a “UK Corporate Shareholder”). 

The tax position of certain categories of Shareholders who are subject to special rules, such as persons 
who acquire (or are deemed to acquire) their Shares in connection with their (or another person’s) office or 
employment, traders, brokers, dealers in securities, insurance companies, banks, financial institutions, 
investment companies, tax-exempt organisations, persons connected with the Company, persons holding 
Shares as part of hedging or conversion transactions, persons who provide investment management 
services to the Company, Shareholders who are not domiciled or not resident in the UK, collective 
investments schemes, trusts and those who hold 5 per cent. or more of the Shares, is not considered. Nor 
do the following statements consider the tax position of any person holding investments in any 
HMRC-approved arrangements or schemes, including the enterprise investment scheme, venture capital 
scheme or business expansion scheme, able to claim any inheritance tax relief or any non-UK resident 
Shareholder holding Shares in connection with a trade, profession or vocation carried on in the UK (whether 
through a branch or agency or, in the case of a corporate Shareholder, a permanent establishment or 
otherwise). 

Investors who are in any doubt as to their tax position or who may be subject to tax in a jurisdiction other 
than the UK are strongly recommended to consult their own professional advisers. 
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The Company  

Tax residence 
The Directors intend to continue to conduct the management and control of the affairs of the Company in 
such a way that it should not be resident in the UK for UK tax purposes. Additionally, for so long as the 
Company is an “AIF” within the meaning given in regulation 3 of the Alternative Investment Fund 
Management Regulations 2013, is authorised or registered in Guernsey or has its registered office in 
Guernsey, and is not an “excluded entity” within the meaning given by section 363A of the Taxation 
(International and Other Provisions) Act 2010, then, in accordance with that section, the Company should 
not be regarded as resident in the UK for direct tax purposes (i.e. income tax, corporation tax and capital 
gains tax). 

Accordingly, on the basis that the Company is not intending to be resident in the UK and provided that the 
Company does not carry on a trade in the UK (whether or not through a branch, agency or permanent 
establishment situated therein), the Company will not normally be subject to UK corporation tax, nor will it 
be subject to UK income tax, other than (potentially) on any UK source income. 

Shareholders 

Taxation of capital gains 
Any gains on transfers or disposals of Shares (including a disposal on a winding-up of the Company) by UK 
resident Shareholders or Shareholders who carry on a trade in the UK through a permanent establishment 
with which their investment in the Company is connected may, depending on their circumstances, give rise 
to a liability to UK tax on capital gains. 

UK Individual Shareholders will generally be subject to capital gains tax in respect of any gain arising on a 
disposal of their Shares. Each such individual has an annual exemption, such that capital gains tax is 
chargeable only on gains arising from all sources during the tax year in excess of this figure. The annual 
exemption is £12,300 for the tax year 2022–2023. As announced by HM Treasury in the Autumn Statement 
2022, the annual exemption shall decrease to £6,000 for the tax year 2023-2024 and further decrease to 
£3,000 for the tax year 2024-2025 and subsequent tax years. No indexation allowance will be available. 
Capital gains tax chargeable will be at the current rate of 10 per cent. (for basic rate tax payers) and 
20 per cent. (for higher and additional rate tax payers) for the tax year 2022-2023. 

Shareholders who are individuals and who are temporarily non-resident in the UK may, under anti-avoidance 
legislation, still be liable to UK tax on any capital gain realised (subject to any available exemption or relief). 

UK Corporate Shareholders may be subject to corporation tax on chargeable gains arising on a disposal of 
their Shares, depending on the circumstances and subject to any available exemption or relief. No indexation 
allowance will be available to reduce any chargeable gain arising on disposal of the Shares. 

Capital losses realised on a disposal of Shares must be set off as far as possible against chargeable gains 
for the same tax year (or accounting period in the case of a UK Corporate Shareholder), even if this reduces 
a UK Individual Shareholder’s total gain below the annual exemption. Any balance of losses is carried forward 
without time limit and set off against net chargeable gains (that is, after deducting the annual exemption) in 
the earliest later tax year. Losses cannot generally be carried back, with the exception of losses accruing to 
a UK Individual Shareholder in the year of his death. 

Taxation of dividends 
Distributions made by the Company will take the form of ordinary dividends. Investors who are unsure about 
the tax treatment which will apply to them in respect of any distributions made by the Company should 
consult their own tax advisers. 

UK Individual Shareholders  

A £2,000 annual tax free dividend allowance is available to UK Individual Shareholders for the tax year 
2022-2023. Dividends received in excess of this threshold (taking account of any other dividend income 
received by the UK Individual Shareholder in the same tax year) will be taxed, for the tax year 2022-2023 at 
8.75 per cent. (basic rate taxpayers), 33.75 per cent. (higher rate taxpayers) and 39.35 per cent. 
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(additional rate taxpayers). As announced by HM Treasury in the Autumn Statement 2022, the annual tax 
free dividend allowance available to UK Individual Shareholders will be reduced to £1,000 for the tax year 
2023-2024 and further reduced to £500 for the tax year 2024-2025. 

For the purposes of determining which of the taxable bands dividend income falls into, dividend income is 
treated as the highest part of a Shareholder’s income. In addition, dividends within the nil rate band which 
would (if there was no nil rate band) have fallen within the basic or higher rate bands will use up those bands 
respectively for the purposes of determining whether the threshold for higher rate or additional rate income 
tax is exceeded. 

UK Corporate Shareholders 

UK Corporate Shareholders may be subject to corporation tax on dividends paid by the Company unless 
they fall within one of the exempt classes in Part 9A of CTA 2009, or if such a UK Corporate Shareholder 
elects for an otherwise exempt dividend to be taxable. 

It is particularly important that investors who are not resident in the UK for tax purposes obtain 
their own tax advice concerning tax liabilities on dividends received from the Company. 

Stamp Duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax (“SDRT”) 
No UK stamp duty or SDRT will arise on the issue of Shares. 

No UK stamp duty will be payable on a transfer of Shares, provided that no instruments effecting the transfer 
are executed in the UK, no matters, actions or other things relating to the transfer are performed or will be 
performed in the UK and no property situated in the UK relates to the transfer. 

Provided that the Shares are not registered in any register kept in the UK by or on behalf of the Company 
and that the Shares are not paired with shares issued by a company (or any other body corporate) 
incorporated in the UK, any agreement to transfer the Shares and any transfer of the Shares effected on a 
paperless basis through CREST will not be subject to UK SDRT. 

ISA, SSAS and SIPP 
Shares acquired by a UK Individual Shareholder on the secondary market should be eligible to be held in a 
stocks and shares ISA, subject to applicable annual subscription limits (£20,000 in the tax year 2022-2023). 
Investments held in ISAs will be free of UK tax on both capital gains and income. The opportunity to invest 
in shares through an ISA is restricted to certain UK resident individuals aged 18 or over. Junior ISAs are 
available to children under the age of 18 who are resident in the UK subject to the annual allowance of 
£9,000 for the 2022-2023 tax year. Sums received by a UK Individual Shareholder on a disposal of Shares 
would not count towards the UK Individual Shareholder’s annual limit; but a disposal of Shares held in an 
ISA will not serve to make available again any part of the annual subscription limit that has already been 
used by the UK Individual Shareholder in that tax year. 

The Directors have been advised that the Shares should be eligible for inclusion in a SIPP or a SSAS, subject 
to the discretion of the trustees (or, where applicable, the providers) of the SIPP or the SSAS, as the case 
may be. 

Individuals wishing to invest in Shares through an ISA, SIPP or SSAS should contact their 
professional advisers regarding their eligibility. 

Other United Kingdom tax considerations  

UK Offshore Fund Rules 

The Directors have been advised that the Company should not be, and the Shares should not be shares in, 
an “offshore fund” for the purposes of UK taxation, although the Company does not make any commitment 
to investors that it will not be treated as an offshore fund. 
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Controlled Foreign Companies 

If the Company is controlled by UK resident persons (corporate and individual) such that it would be a 
“Controlled Foreign Company” for UK tax purposes, UK Corporate Shareholders having an interest in the 
Company, such that broadly 25 per cent. or more of the Company’s profits for an accounting period could 
be apportioned to them, may be liable to corporation tax in respect of their share of the Company’s profits 
in accordance with the provisions of Part 9A of the Taxation (International and Other Provisions) Act 2010. 

Transfer of assets abroad 

The attention of UK Individual Shareholders is drawn to the provisions of Chapter 2 of Part 13 of the Income 
Tax Act 2007. These provisions are aimed at preventing the avoidance of income tax by individuals through 
transactions resulting in the transfer of assets or income to persons (including companies) resident or 
domiciled outside the UK and may render them liable to income tax in respect of undistributed income and 
profits of the Company. 

Attribution of gains to persons resident in the United Kingdom 

The attention of persons resident in the United Kingdom for taxation purposes is drawn to the provisions of 
Chapter 3 of Part 1 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 (“Chapter 3”). Broadly, this chapter 
applies to a “participator” (direct or indirect) for the purposes of Chapter 3 (which includes a Shareholder) 
if at any time when a gain accrues to the Company which constitutes a chargeable gain for those purposes, 
the Company would, were it to have been resident in the United Kingdom for UK taxation purposes, be a 
“close” company for those purposes. 

The provisions of Chapter 3 could, if applicable, result in any such person who is a “participator” in the 
Company being treated for the purposes of United Kingdom taxation of chargeable gains as if a part of any 
chargeable gain accruing to the Company had accrued to that person directly, that part being equal to the 
proportion of the gain that corresponds to that person’s proportionate interest in the Company as a 
“participator”. No liability under Chapter 3 should be incurred by such a person however, where the amount 
apportioned to such person and to persons connected with them does not exceed one quarter of the gain. 

Transactions in securities 

The attention of Shareholders is drawn to the provisions of (in the case of UK Individual Shareholders) 
Chapter 1 of Part 13 of the Income Tax Act 2007 and (in the case of UK Corporate Shareholders) Part 15 
of the CTA 2010, which give powers to HMRC to cancel tax advantages derived from certain transactions 
in securities. 

If any Shareholder is in doubt as to their taxation position, they are strongly recommended to consult an 
independent professional adviser without delay.
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Part 9 

General Information 

1      RESPONSIBILITY 
 

1.1   The Company and each of the Directors, whose names appear on page 25 of this document, accept 
responsibility for the information contained in this document. To the best of the knowledge of the 
Company and the Directors, the information contained in this document is in accordance with the facts 
and this document makes no omission likely to affect its import.  

 

1.2   The Investment Manager accepts responsibility for the information and opinions related to or attributed 
to the Investment Manager or any Affiliate of the Investment Manager contained in Part 2 (Risk Factors), 
paragraphs 1 and 8 of Part 5 (The Company), paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 6 (The Portfolio and 

Investment Outlook), and paragraphs 2 and 5 of Part 7 (Directors, Investment Manager and 

Administration) of this document (the “Investment Manager Sections”). To the best of the Investment 
Manager’s knowledge, the Investment Manager Sections are in accordance with the facts and make 
no omission likely to affect their import. 

2      THE COMPANY 
 

2.1   The Company was incorporated as a non-cellular company limited by shares in Guernsey under The 
Companies (Guernsey) Law 1994-1996, as amended, on 1 June 2004 with the name Ruffer Investment 
Company Limited and registered number 41996.  

2.2   The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is Sarnia House, Le Truchot, 
St Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 1GR with telephone number +44 (0)1481 737600. 

 

2.3   The principal legislation under which the Company operates is the Companies Law and ordinances 
and regulations made thereunder. The Company is regulated by the GFSC and authorised as a 
closed-ended investment scheme pursuant to the POI Law and the Rules. The Company is not 
regulated as a collective investment scheme by the FCA but is an AIF under the AIFM Regime and the 
EU AIFM Directive. The Company and the Shareholders are subject to the Listing Rules, the Prospectus 
Regulation Rules, the Prospectus Regulation, MAR, the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules 
and the rules of the London Stock Exchange.  

2.4   The Company’s accounting period ends on 30 June of each year. The current accounting period will 
end on 30 June 2023. The annual report and accounts are prepared in Sterling according to accounting 
standards laid out under IFRS and applicable law. 

 

2.5   The Company is domiciled in Guernsey, does not have any employees, and does not own any premises 
and, as at the date of this document, has no subsidiaries.  

 

2.6   Following the passing of a continuation resolution at the annual general meeting of the Company held 
on 8 November 2007, the Company has an indefinite life.  

2.7   The Company operates in accordance with its Memorandum and Articles.  

3      SHARE CAPITAL 
 

3.1   The principal legislation under which the Company operates, and under which the Shares were created, 
is the Companies Law and ordinances and regulations made thereunder. The Shares are denominated 
in Sterling. 

3.2   The issued share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2019 was 180,788,416 Shares. 
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3.3   The following changes in the share capital of the Company have taken place between 1 July 2019 
and the date of this document: 

(a)     between 4 February 2021 and 10 November 2021 (inclusive), in aggregate, 43,975,000 Shares were 
issued by the Company by way of tap issue at an average price of 286.38 pence per Share; 

(b)     on 6 December 2021, 13,787,221 Shares were issued by the Company by way of open offer, offer for 
subscription and intermediaries offer at 296.50 pence per Share; 

(c)     between 18 November 2021 and 12 May 2022 (inclusive), in aggregate, 57,955,127 Shares were 
issued by the Company by way of tap issue at an average price of 303.4 pence per Share; and  

(d)     between 18 May 2022 and 14 December 2022 (the latest practicable date prior to the date of this 
document) (inclusive), in aggregate, 67,262,000 Tap Shares were issued by the Company by way of 
Tap Issue at an average price of 307.0 pence per Share. 

 

3.4   All the net proceeds of the Shares issued as detailed at paragraph 3.3 have been invested and/or 
retained as cash in accordance with the Company’s investment objective and investment policy. 

 

3.5   As at the date of this document, the Company’s share capital consists of 363,767,764 Shares with an 
aggregate nominal value of £36,376.7764. 

 

3.6   At an extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 21 April 2022, a resolution of the 
Company was passed to authorise the Directors to issue up to an aggregate number of equity 
securities (as defined in the Articles) as represented 10 per cent. of the Shares admitted to trading on 
the Main Market immediately following the passing of the resolution on a non-pre-emptive basis, 
provided that such Shares were issued for cash at a price of not less than the Net Asset Value per 
Share plus the costs of the exercise at the time of any such issue and that such authority would expire 
(unless previously renewed, varied or revoked by the Company by special resolution), on the date 
which was 18 months from the date of passing of the resolution or, if earlier, at the conclusion of the 
next annual general meeting of the Company, save that the Company could, before such expiry, make 
an offer or agreement which would or might require Shares to be allotted after such expiry and the 
Directors could allot Shares in pursuance of any such offer or agreement as if this authority had not 
expired (the “April 2022 Authority”). The April 2022 Authority was granted in addition to any existing 
authority to allot equity securities on a non-pre-emptive basis at the time of the passing of the April 
2022 Authority.  

 

3.7   At an extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 16 June 2022, resolutions of the Company 
were passed to: 

        (a)     authorise the Directors to issue up to an aggregate number of equity securities (as defined in the 
Articles) as represented 10 per cent. of the Shares admitted to trading on the Main Market 
immediately following the passing of the resolution on a non-pre-emptive basis, provided that 
such Shares were issued for cash at a price of not less than the Net Asset Value per Share plus 
the costs of the exercise at the time of any such issue and that such authority would expire (unless 
previously renewed, varied or revoked by the Company by special resolution), on the date which 
was 18 months from the date of passing of the resolution or, if earlier, at the conclusion of the 
next annual general meeting of the Company, save that the Company could, before such expiry, 
make an offer or agreement which would or might require Shares to be allotted after such expiry 
and the Directors could allot Shares in pursuance of any such offer or agreement as if this authority 
had not expired; and 

        (b)     in addition to the authority detailed at paragraph 3.7(a) above, authorise the Directors to issue up 
to an aggregate number of equity securities (as defined in the Articles) as represented 10 per cent. 
of the Shares admitted to trading on the Main Market immediately following the passing of the 
resolution on a non-pre-emptive basis, provided that such shares were issued for cash at a price 
of not less than the Net Asset Value per Share plus the costs of the exercise at the time of any 
such issue and that such authority would expire (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked by 
the Company by special resolution), on the date which was 18 months from the date of passing 
of the resolution or, if earlier, at the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company, 
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save that the Company could, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or 
might require Shares to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors could allot Shares in 
pursuance of any such offer or agreement as if this authority had not expired, 

        (together, the “June 2022 Authorities” and together with the April 2022 Authority, the “Previous 
Authorities”). The June 2022 Authorities were granted in addition to the April 2022 Authority, being 
the only existing authority to allot equity securities on a non-pre-emptive basis that had not been fully 
utilised at the time of the passing of the June 2022 Authorities.  

 

3.8   In accordance with their terms, to the extent not already fully utilised pursuant to the issue of the Tap 
Shares, the Previous Authorities expired at the conclusion of the 2022 AGM.  

 

3.9   On 2 December 2022, resolutions of the Company were passed at the 2022 AGM to, inter alia: 

        (a)     authorise the Company in accordance with section 315 of the Companies Law to make market 
acquisitions (as defined in the Companies Law) of its Shares, provided that: 

                (i)      the maximum number of Shares authorised to be acquired by the Company is 14.99 per cent. 
of the Shares in issue at the date of the resolution;  

                (ii)     the minimum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for a Share is 0.01p, being 
the nominal value per Share; 

                (iii)     the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for a Share must not be 
more than the higher of: 

                        (A)    5 per cent. above the average market value of a Share for the five business days prior 
to the day the purchase is made; and 

                        (B)    the value of a Share calculated on the basis of the higher of the price quoted for the 
last independent trade and the highest independent bid for any number of the Shares 
on the trading venue where the purchase is carried out;  

                (iv)    acquisitions may only be made pursuant to this authority if the Shares are (at the date of 
the proposed acquisition) trading on the London Stock Exchange at a discount to the 
prevailing Net Asset Value per Share; 

                (v)     such authority will expire at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company 
in 2023 or, if earlier, on the expiry of 15 months from the passing of the resolution, unless 
such authority is renewed prior to such time; and 

                (vi)    the Company may make a contract to acquire Shares under the authority prior to the expiry 
of such authority which will or may be executed wholly or partly after the expiration of such 
authority and may make an acquisition of Shares pursuant to any such contract; 

        (b)     authorise the Directors to issue up to an aggregate number of equity securities (as defined in the 
Articles) as represents 10 per cent. of the Shares admitted to trading on the Main Market 
immediately following the passing of the resolution on a non-pre-emptive basis, provided that 
such Shares are issued for cash at a price of not less than the Net Asset Value per Share plus 
the costs of the exercise at the time of any such issue and that such authority will expire (unless 
previously renewed, varied or revoked by the Company by special resolution), on the date which 
is 18 months from the date of passing of the resolution or, if earlier, at the conclusion of the next 
annual general meeting of the Company, save that the Company may, before such expiry, make 
an offer or agreement which would or might require Shares to be allotted after such expiry and 
the Directors may allot Shares in pursuance of any such offer or agreement as if this authority 
had not expired; and 

        (c)     in addition to the authority detailed at paragraph 3.9(b) above, authorise the Directors to issue up 
to an aggregate number of equity securities (as defined in the Articles) as represents 10 per cent. 
of the Shares admitted to trading on the Main Market immediately following the passing of the 
resolution on a non-pre-emptive basis, provided that such shares are issued for cash at a price of 
not less than the Net Asset Value per Share plus the costs of the exercise at the time of any such 
issue and that such authority will expire (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked by the 
Company by special resolution), on the date which is 18 months from the date of passing of the 
resolution or, if earlier, at the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company, save 
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that the Company may, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or might 
require Shares to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot Shares in pursuance of 
any such offer or agreement as if this authority had not expired.  

3.10 The Company is permitted to fund the payments for purchases of Shares in any manner permitted by 
the Companies Law and the Directors must have reasonable grounds for believing that the Company 
will satisfy the solvency test prescribed by the Companies Law immediately after making such 
purchases. 

 

3.11 No shares in the capital of the Company are held by or on behalf of the Company. 

3.12 Save as disclosed in this paragraph 3 of this Part 9 (General Information), no share or loan capital of 
the Company has since 1 July 2019 been issued or been agreed to be issued, fully or partly paid, 
either for cash or for a consideration other than cash and no such issue is now proposed. 

 

3.13 As at the date of this document, the Company has not granted any options over its share or loan 
capital which remain outstanding and has not agreed, conditionally or unconditionally to grant any 
such options and no convertible securities, exchangeable securities or securities with warrants have 
been issued by the Company. 

 

3.14 All of the Shares are in registered form and are eligible for settlement in CREST. Temporary documents 
of title will not be issued.  

4      INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS, PRINCIPALS OF THE INVESTMENT MANAGER AND MAJOR 
SHAREHOLDERS  

 

4.1   The interests of the Directors (beneficial or non-beneficial) in the share capital of the Company as at 
14 December 2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document) are as 
follows:  

Percentage   

of issued  

Number of share  

Director Shares capital 

Christopher Russell 125,000 0.034 
Shelagh Mason 14,698(1) 0.004 
Nicholas Pink 45,027(2) 0.012 
Susie Farnon 16,200 0.004 
Solomon Soquar Nil Nil 
Total 200,925 0.055 

          (1)       All held beneficially jointly with her spouse. 

          (2)       This includes 7,831 Shares held beneficially by Nicholas Pink alone, 27,292 Shares held beneficially jointly with his spouse 
and 9,904 Shares held beneficially by his spouse. 

 

4.2   No Director has a service contract with the Company, nor are any such contracts proposed, each 
Director having been appointed pursuant to a letter of appointment entered into with the Company. 
Shelagh Mason, Nicholas Pink, Susie Farnon and Solomon Soquar have each been appointed for an 
initial term of three years with an option to extend for a further two terms. Christopher Russell was 
appointed for an initial term of five years, which was extended for a further four years in November 
2021. Each Director is required to retire from office at each annual general meeting and, if not re-elected 
following retirement, their appointment will cease immediately. The Directors’ letters of appointment 
do not provide for benefits upon termination. The Directors’ appointments can be terminated in 
accordance with the Articles without compensation. The Articles provide that the office of director shall 
be terminated by, among other things: (i) written resignation; (ii) resolution of the Board following 
absences from board meetings for six consecutive months or more; or (iii) written request of all of the 
other Directors.  
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4.3   Each of the Directors is entitled to receive a fee from the Company at such rate as may be determined 
in accordance with the Articles. The Directors’ respective current fees, dates of expiration of current 
term and dates of appointment to the Board are as follows:  

Date of   

Date of expiration of   

Director appointment current term Current fees 

Christopher Russell 1 December 2016 30 November 2025 £58,000 
Shelagh Mason 1 June 2020 31 May 2023 £41,500 
Nicholas Pink 1 September 2020 31 August 2023 £41,500 
Susie Farnon 1 September 2022 31 August 2025 £48,000 
Solomon Soquar 2 December 2022 1 December 2025 £39,000 

        The Directors are also entitled to out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the proper performance of their 
duties.  

 

4.4   The aggregate remuneration of the Directors in respect of the financial period ended 30 June 2022 
(which at the time included Jill May and David Staples, each of whom resigned on 2 December 2022, 
but not Susie Farnon or Solomon Soquar who were not appointed as Directors until 1 September 
2022 and 2 December 2022 respectively) was £185,900. No benefits in kind were paid to the Directors 
in respect of such period.  

 

4.5   No amount has been set aside or accrued by the Company to provide pensions, retirement or other 
similar benefits. 

4.6   None of the Directors has, or has had, an interest in any transaction which is or was unusual in its 
nature or conditions or significant to the business of the Company or that has been effected by the 
Company since 1 July 2019. 

4.7   The Company has not made any loans to the Directors which are outstanding, nor has it ever provided 
any guarantees for the benefit of any Director or the Directors collectively. 

 

4.8   Over the five years preceding the date of this document, the Directors hold or have held the following 
directorships (apart from their directorships of the Company) or memberships of administrative, 
management or supervisory bodies and/or partnerships:  

Name                          Current                                        Previous 

        Dawnfield Holdings Limited 
E.I.P. China Opportunities Fund SPC 
E.I.P. Funds (Cayman Islands) SPC 
Enhanced Index Funds pcc 
FCPT Holdings Limited 
F&C Commercial Property Holdings Limited 
F&C Commercial Property Trust Limited 
HICL Infrastructure Company Limited 
HICL Infrastructure 1 
HICL Infrastructure 2 
Leonardo Crawley Limited 
Lothian Capital Limited 
Macau Property Opportunities Fund Limited 
Marina View Management Limited 
Prime Four Limited 
RYSR Ltd 
SCP Estate Holdings Limited 
SCP Estate Limited 
Winchester Burma Limited

Absolute Return Objective SA 
Deska Holdings Limited 
Genki Holdings Limited 
Hanseatic Asset Management 
LBG 
JPMorgan Global Core Real 
Assets Limited 
Les Cotils Charitable 
Company LBG 
Taipa Holdings Ltd 
TISEF Limited

Christopher Russell
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Name                          Current                                        Previous 

       

       

       

       

 

4.9   Save as disclosed in paragraph 4.10 below, the Directors in the five years before the date of this 
document: 

        (a)     do not have any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences; 

        (b)     have not been associated with any bankruptcies, receiverships or liquidations of any partnership 
or company through acting in the capacity as a member of the administrative, management or 
supervisory body or as a partner, founder or senior manager of such partnership or company; 
and 

        (c)     do not have any official public incrimination and/or sanctions by statutory or regulatory authorities 
(including designated professional bodies) and have not been disqualified by a court from acting 
as a member of the administration, management or supervisory bodies of any issuer or from 
acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any issuer. 

 

4.10 Shelagh Mason was formerly a director of Global Fixed Income Realisation Limited, which was 
dissolved on 7 November 2022 pursuant to a solvent members’ voluntary liquidation. Susie Farnon 
was formerly a director of HICL Infrastructure Company Limited which was dissolved on 6 December 
2019 pursuant to a members’ voluntary liquidation following a change of domicile effected by way of 
scheme of reconstruction on 1 April 2019 pursuant to which it transferred its assets to 

Global Fixed Income  
Realisation Limited 
The Renewables  
Infrastructure Group Limited

Channel Islands Property Fund 
Limited 
Riverside Capital PCC Limited 
Skipton International Limited 
Starwood European Real  
Estate Finance Limited 
Third Point Independent  
Voting Company Limited

Shelagh Mason

Poundsbridge CIC 
St Christopher's School, Hove

Brighton College 
JPMorgan Emerging Europe, 
Middle East and  
Africa Securities plc 
Redburn (Europe) Limited

Nicholas Pink

Bailiwick Property Holdings Limited 
Baubigny Garage Limited 
BH Global Limited 
Breedon Group PLC 
Column Holdings Ltd 
Hagley Road Limited 
HICL Infrastructure Company Limited 
HICL Infrastructure plc 
Ravenscroft Holdings Limited 
Ravenscroft Limited 
Standard Life Investments Property Income 
Trust Limited 
Standard Life Property Holdings Ltd

Apax Global Alpha Limited 
Bailiwick Investment Holdings 
Limited 
Bailiwick Investments Limited 
C&E Laundrettes Limited 
Chromium Music Group 
Limited 
Les Cotils Charitable Company 
LBG 
Little Lucy Limited 
Guernsey Equestrian Holdings 
Limited 
Muffin Limited 
Real Estate Credit Investments 
Limited 
The Association of Investment 
Companies 
The Health Improvement 
Commission for Guernsey and 
Alderney LBG 
Timbertops Limited 
Vive La Vallete

Susie Farnon

Barclays Asset Management Limited 
Barclays Investment Solutions Limited

Africa Research Excellence 
Fund

Solomon Soquar
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HICL Infrastructure plc. Susie Farnon was also formerly a director of BH Global Limited which was 
dissolved on 26 April 2022 pursuant to a members’ voluntary liquidation following a combination with 
BH Macro Limited which became effective in August 2021. 

 

4.11 As at 14 December 2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document), 
the Company had been notified under the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules that the 
following persons held, directly or indirectly, 3 per cent. or more of the issued share capital and voting 
rights in the Company: 

 Percentage of  

issued share  

No. of capital/ 

Name Shares voting rights 

RBC Brewin Dolphin, stockbrokers                                                            55,033,474               15.13 
Hargreaves Lansdown, stockbrokers                                                         33,378,674                 9.18 
Rathbones                                                                                                 30,379,759                 8.35 
Interactive Investor                                                                                    28,046,744                 7.71 
Charles Stanley                                                                                          18,412,766                 5.06 
AJ Bell, stockbrokers                                                                                 16,545,566                 4.55 
Evelyn Partners                                                                                          16,232,224                 4.46 

          (Source: Based on latest available share register analysis produced by Richard Davies Investor Relations Limited) 

4.12 As at 14 December 2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document): 

        (a)     Duncan MacInnes, Investment Director of the Investment Manager owned 43,100 Shares; 

        (b)     Jonathan Ruffer, chairman of Ruffer LLP, owned 499,335 Shares; and 

        (c)     Ruffer LLP (the parent entity of the Investment Manager) and other entities within the Ruffer group 
exercised discretionary control over 2,773,248 Shares on behalf of its discretionary clients. 

 

4.13 All Shareholders of the same class have the same voting rights in respect of the share capital of the 
Company. 

 

4.14 As at 14 December 2022 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document), 
the Company and the Directors are not aware of any person who, directly or indirectly, jointly or 
severally, exercises or could exercise control over the Company. 

 

4.15 The Company and the Directors are not aware of any arrangements, the operation of which may at a 
subsequent date result in a change in control of the Company. 

 

4.16 Save as disclosed in: (i) note 16 on pages 84 to 86 of the annual report for the financial year ended 
30 June 2020; (ii) note 16 on pages 101 to 102 of the annual report for the financial year ended 30 June 
2021; and (iii) note 16 on pages 103 to 104 of the annual report for the financial year ended 30 June 
2022, each of which are incorporated by reference into this document, the Company has not entered 
into any related party transaction at any time during the period from 1 July 2019 to 14 December 2022 
(being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document). 

 

4.17 As at the date of this document, none of the Directors has any conflict of interest or potential conflict 
of interest between any duties to the Company and their private interests and/or other duties. 

4.18 The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance on behalf of the Directors at the 
expense of the Company. 

5      THE ARTICLES 
The Memorandum and Articles contain provisions, inter alia, to the following effect:  

 

5.1   Objects/purposes 
        The Memorandum provides that the objects of the Company are not restricted. 
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5.2   Voting rights 
 

        Subject to the restrictions referred to below and to any special rights or restrictions for the time being 
attached to any class of shares, every member present in person or by proxy has, on a show of hands, 
one vote and, on a poll, one vote for every share held by him. 

 

5.3   Shares  
 

        (a)     Shares of 0.01p each  

                (i)      Income 

                        Holders of Shares are entitled to participate in any dividends or other distributions out of 
the profits of the Company available for distribution and resolved to be distributed in respect 
of any accounting period or any other income right to participate therein. 

                (ii)     Capital 

                        Holders of Shares are entitled on the winding-up of the Company to receive out of the assets 
of the Company available for distribution an amount equal to the nominal value of the Shares 
plus the surplus (if any) remaining after payment of the nominal values of the Nominal Shares 
then in issue. 

                (iii)     Redemption 

                        The Directors are entitled in their absolute discretion to determine the procedures for 
redemption, on and after the Redemption Date (subject to the facilities and requirements of 
CREST). Without prejudice to the foregoing and subject to the Companies Law and to such 
pre-determined maximum, the Company shall on each Redemption Date redeem such 
number of Shares as the Board may determine. The Company shall notify Shareholders of 
the number of Shares, if any, to be redeemed (subject to such pre-determined maximum) 
and the discount to be applied to the Net Asset Value of the Shares in arriving at the 
redemption price. 

                        Payment of the redemption price in respect of any Shares in certificated form may be made 
by cheque or warrant made payable to the relevant Shareholders or, in the case of joint 
Shareholders, to such relevant joint Shareholders or to such person or persons as the 
relevant Shareholder or all the relevant joint Shareholders may in writing direct and sent (at 
the risk of the Shareholder or Shareholders) to the address specified by that Shareholder 
(or, if none is specified, to the address of the Shareholder as entered on the register, or in 
the case of joint Shareholders, to that one of the relevant joint Shareholders who is first 
named on the register in respect of such Shares). Due payment of the cheque or warrant 
will be in satisfaction of the redemption price represented thereby. The Company may 
alternatively make such payment by electronic transfer to a bank account nominated by the 
relevant Shareholder or all the relevant joint Shareholders and notified to the Registrar not 
less than three Business Days before the Redemption Date, at the Shareholder’s or 
Shareholders’ expense. Every such cheque or warrant which is sent through the post shall 
be sent by first class post. 

                        Each payment in respect of Shares held in uncertificated form (that is, in CREST) will be 
made by electronic transmission to an account in accordance with the mandate instruction 
in writing acceptable to the Company given by the relevant Shareholder or all the relevant 
joint Shareholders. 

 

        (b)     C Shares of 0.1p each and Deferred Shares of 0.01p each 

                (i)      Definitions 

                        The following definitions apply (for the purposes of this paragraph 5.3 only) in addition to, 
or (where applicable) in substitution for the definitions applicable elsewhere in this document: 

                        “C Share Surplus” in relation to any tranche of C Shares means the net assets of the 
Company attributable to the C Shares in that tranche, being the assets attributable to the 
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C Shares in that tranche (including for the avoidance of doubt, any income and/or revenue 
(net of expenses) arising from or relating to such assets) less such proportion of the 
Company’s liabilities as the Directors shall reasonably allocate to the assets of the Company 
attributable to such C Shares; 

                        “Calculation Time” in relation to any tranche of C Shares means the earliest of: 

                        (A)    the close of business on the date determined by the Directors that at least 80 per cent. 
of the assets attributable to that tranche of C Shares have been invested (as defined 
below) in accordance with the Company’s investment policy; 

                        (B)    the close of business on the last Business Day prior to the day on which Force Majeure 
Circumstances have arisen or the Directors resolve that such circumstances are in 
contemplation; 

                        (C)    the close of business on such date as the Directors may determine to enable the 
Company to comply with its obligations in respect of Conversion; and 

                        (D)    the close of business on the date falling six months after admission of that tranche of 
C Shares to the Official List; 

                        “Conversion” means in relation to any tranche of C Shares, the subdivision and conversion 
of that tranche of C Shares in accordance with paragraph 5.3(b)(ix) below; 

                        “Conversion Ratio” is A divided by B calculated to four decimal places (with 0.00005 being 
rounded upwards) where: 

                        A = C-D 
                                E 

                        and 

                        B = F-G 
                                H 

                        and where: 

                        “C” is the aggregate of: 

                        (A)    the value of the investments of the Company attributable to the C Shares of the relevant 
tranche (other than investments which are subject to restrictions on transfer or a 
suspension of dealings, which are to be valued in accordance with (B) below) which 
are listed or dealt in on a stock exchange or on a similar market: 

                                (1)     calculated in the case of investments of the Company which are listed on the 
London Stock Exchange according to the prices issued by the London Stock 
Exchange as at the Calculation Time, being the closing middle market prices for 
all investments other than the FTSE 100 constituents and FTSE 100 reserve list 
constituents for which the last trade prices shall be used. If any such investments 
are traded under the London Stock Exchange Daily Electronic Trading Service 
(“SETS”) and the latest recorded prices at which such investments have been 
traded as shown in the Daily Official List differ materially from the bid and offer 
prices of the investments quoted on SETS as at the Calculation Time, the value 
of such investments shall be adjusted to reflect the fair realisable value as 
determined by the Directors. Investments of the Company which are listed, 
quoted or dealt in on any other recognised stock exchange shall be valued by 
reference to the closing middle market prices on the principal stock exchange or 
market where the relevant investment is listed, quoted or dealt in as at the 
Calculation Time, as shown by the relevant exchange’s or market’s recognised 
method of publication of prices for such investments. Debt related securities 
(including government stocks) shall be valued by reference to the closing middle 
market price, subject to any adjustment to exclude any accrual of interest which 
may be included in the quoted price, as at the Calculation Time; or 
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                                (2)     where such published prices are not available, calculated by reference to the 
Directors’ belief as to a fair current trading price at the Calculation Time for those 
investments, after taking account of any other price publication services 
reasonably available to the Directors; 

                        (B)    the value of all other investments of the Company attributable to the C Shares of the 
relevant tranche at their respective acquisition costs, subject to such adjustments as 
the Directors may deem appropriate to be made for any variations in the value of such 
investments between the date of acquisition and the Calculation Time; and 

                        (C)    the amount which, in the Directors’ opinion, fairly reflects, at the Calculation Time, the 
value of the current assets of the Company attributable to the C Shares of the relevant 
tranche (including cash and deposits with or balances at bank and including any 
accrued income and other items of a revenue nature less accrued expenses); 

                        “D” is the amount which (to the extent not otherwise deducted in the calculation of C) in the 
Directors’ opinion fairly reflects the amount of the liabilities attributable to the C Shares of 
the relevant tranche at the Calculation Time; 

                        “E” is the number of C Shares of the relevant tranche in issue at the Calculation Time;  

                        “F” is the aggregate of: 

                        (A)    the value of all the investments of the Company (other than investments which are 
subject to restrictions on transfer or a suspension of dealings, which are to be valued 
in accordance with (B) below), other than investments attributable to the C Shares (of 
whatever tranche) in issue at the Calculation Time, which are listed or dealt in on a 
stock exchange or on a similar market: 

                                (1)     calculated in the case of investments of the Company which are listed on the 
London Stock Exchange according to the prices issued by the London Stock 
Exchange as at the Calculation Time, being the closing middle market prices for 
all investments other than the FTSE 100 constituents and FTSE 100 reserve list 
constituents for which the last trade prices shall be used. If any such investments 
are traded under the SETS and the latest recorded prices at which such 
investments have been traded as shown in the Daily Official List differ materially 
from the bid and offer prices of the investments quoted on SETS as at the 
Calculation Time, the value of such investments shall be adjusted to reflect the 
fair realisable value as determined by the Directors. Investments of the Company 
which are listed, quoted or dealt in on any other recognised stock exchange shall 
be valued by reference to the closing middle market prices on the principal stock 
exchange or market where the relevant investment is listed, quoted or dealt in as 
at the Calculation Time, as shown by the relevant exchange’s or market’s 
recognised method of publication of prices for such investments. Debt related 
securities (including government stocks) shall be valued by reference to the 
closing middle market price, subject to any adjustment to exclude any accrual of 
interest which may be included in the quoted price, as at the Calculation Time; or 

                                (2)     where such published prices are not available, calculated by reference to the 
Directors’ belief as to a fair current trading price at the Calculation Time for those 
investments, after taking account of any other price publication services 
reasonably available to the Directors; 

                        (B)    the value of all other investments of the Company, other than investments attributable 
to the C Shares (of whatever tranche) in issue at the Calculation Time at their respective 
acquisition costs, subject to such adjustments as the Directors may deem appropriate 
to be made for any variations in the value of such investments between the date of 
acquisition and the Calculation Time; and 

                        (C)    the amount which, in the Directors’ opinion, fairly reflects at the Calculation Time, the 
value of the current assets of the Company (including cash and deposits with or 
balances at bank and including any accrued income or other items of a revenue nature 
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less accrued expenses), other than such assets attributable to the C Shares (of 
whatever tranche) in issue at the Calculation Time; 

                        “G” is the amount which (to the extent not otherwise deducted in the calculation of F) in the 
Directors’ opinion fairly reflects the amount of the liabilities and expenses of the Company 
at the Calculation Time (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the full amount of all dividends 
declared but not paid) less the amount of D; 

                        “H” is the number of Shares in issue at the Calculation Time; 

                        “Conversion Time” means a time which falls after the Calculation Time being the time at 
which the admission of the New Shares to the Official List becomes effective and which is 
the earlier of: 

                        (A)    the opening of business on such Business Day as is selected by the Directors provided 
that such day shall not be more than 20 Business Days after the Calculation Time; or 

                        (B)    such earlier date as the Directors may resolve should Force Majeure Circumstances 
have arisen or the Directors resolve that such circumstances are in contemplation; 

                        “Force Majeure Circumstances” means in relation to any tranche of C Shares any political 
and/or economic circumstances and/or actual or anticipated changes in fiscal or other 
legislation which, in the reasonable opinion of the Directors, renders Conversion necessary 
or desirable notwithstanding that less than 80 per cent. of the assets attributable to the 
relevant tranche of C Shares are invested (as defined below) in accordance with the 
Company’s investment policy; 

                        “Independent Accountants” means Moore Stephens or such other firm of chartered 
accountants as the Directors may appoint for the purpose; 

                        “Investment Manager” means the firm or company from time to time appointed by the 
Company for managing the Company’s investments; 

                        “Issue Date” means in relation to any tranche of C Shares the date on which the admission 
of such C Shares to the Official List becomes effective or, if later, the day on which the 
Company receives the net proceeds of the issue of such C Shares; 

                        “New Shares” means new Shares arising on the conversion of the C Shares of the relevant 
tranche; 

                        “Share Surplus” means the net assets of the Company less the C Share Surplus;  

                        “Valuation Date” means the business day immediately preceding the Redemption Date. 

                        References to the Independent Accountants certifying any matter shall be construed to 
mean certification of their opinion as to such matter, whether qualified or not. 

                        For the purposes of this paragraph 5.3, other than in paragraph 5.3(b)(iv) below, assets or 
investments attributable to the C Shares of a particular tranche or the Shareholders of 
C Shares of a particular tranche shall mean the net cash proceeds (after all expenses relating 
thereto) as invested in or represented by investments or cash or other assets from time to 
time. 

                        For the purposes of paragraph (A) of the definition of Calculation Time and the definition of 
Force Majeure Circumstances in relation to any tranche of C Shares, the assets attributable 
to the C Shares of that tranche shall be treated as having been “invested” if they have been 
expended by or on behalf of the Company in the acquisition or making of an investment 
(whether by subscription or purchase) or if an obligation to make such payment has arisen 
or crystallised (in each case unconditionally or subject only to the satisfaction of normal 
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pre-issue conditions) in relation to which the consideration amount has been determined or 
is capable of being determined by operation of an agreed contractual mechanic. 

                (ii)     Issues of C Shares 

                        (A)    Subject to the Companies Law, the Directors shall be authorised to issue C Shares in 
tranches on such terms as they determine provided that such terms are consistent 
with the provisions summarised in this sub-paragraph (A). The Directors shall, on the 
issue of each tranche of C Shares, determine the Calculation Time and Conversion 
Time together with any amendments to the definition of Conversion Ratio attributable 
to each such tranche. 

                        (B)    Each tranche of C Shares, if in issue at the same time, shall be deemed to be a 
separate class of shares. The Directors may, if they so decide, designate each tranche 
of C Shares in such manner as they see fit in order that each tranche of C Shares can 
be identified. 

                (iii)     Dividends and pari passu ranking of C Shares and New Shares 

                        The holders of C Shares of a tranche shall be entitled to receive, and participate in, any 
dividends declared only insofar as such dividend is attributed, at the sole discretion of the 
Directors, to the C Shares Surplus of that tranche. 

                        If any dividend is declared after the issue of any tranche of C Shares and prior to the 
Conversion of that tranche, the holders of Shares shall be entitled to receive and participate 
in such dividend only insofar as such dividend is not attributed, at the sole discretion of the 
Directors, to the C Share Surplus of the relevant tranche of C Shares. 

                        The New Shares shall rank in full for all dividends and other distributions declared, made or 
paid after the Conversion Times and otherwise pari passu with the Shares in issue at the 
Conversion Time. 

                        The Deferred Shares (to the extent that any are in issue and extant) shall not entitle the 
holders thereof to any dividend or any other right as the holders thereof to share in the profits 
or net assets of the Company. 

                (iv)    Rights as to capital 

                        The capital and assets of the Company shall, on a winding-up or on a return of capital prior, 
in each case, to Conversion be applied as follows: 

                        (A)    the Share Surplus shall be divided amongst the shareholders of Shares and Nominal 
Shares according to the rights attaching thereto as if the Share Surplus comprised the 
assets of the Company available for distribution; 

                        (B)    the C Share Surplus shall be divided amongst the holders of C Shares pro rata 
according to their holdings of C Shares; and 

                        (C)    the Deferred Shares shall have no rights to the capital or assets of the Company. 

                (v)     Voting and transfer 

                        The C Shares shall carry the right to receive notice of, and to attend or vote at, any general 
meeting of the Company. The C Shares shall be transferable in the same manner as the 
Shares. The Deferred Shares shall not be transferable and shall not carry any rights to receive 
notice of, or attend or vote at, any general meeting of the Company. 

                (vi)    Redemption 

                        (A)    The C Shares are issued on terms that each tranche of C Shares and Deferred Shares 
shall be redeemable by the Company in accordance with the terms set out in the 
Articles. 
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                        (B)    At any time prior to Conversion, the Company may, at its discretion, redeem all or any 
of the C Shares then in issue by agreement with any holder(s) thereof in accordance 
with such procedures as the Directors may determine (subject to the facilities and 
procedures of CREST) and in consideration of the payment of such redemption price 
as may be agreed between the Company and the relevant holder(s) of C Shares. 

                        (C)    The Deferred Shares arising from Conversion of a particular tranche of C Shares (to 
the extent that any are in issue and extant) may be redeemed at the option of the 
Company at any time following Conversion of the relevant tranche of C Shares for an 
aggregate consideration of 1p for all such Deferred Shares, and for such purposes 
any Director is authorised as agent on behalf of each holder of Deferred Shares, in the 
case of any share in certificated form, to execute any stock transfer form and to do 
any other act or thing as may be required to give effect to the same including, in the 
case of a share in uncertificated form, the giving of directions to or on behalf of each 
holder of Deferred Shares who shall be bound by them. 

                        (D)    The Company shall not be obliged to issue share certificates to the holders of Deferred 
Shares. 

                (vii)    Class consents and variation of rights 

                        Without prejudice to the generality of the Articles, until Conversion the consent of the holders 
of C Shares as a class shall be required for, and accordingly, the special rights attached to 
the C Shares shall be deemed to be varied, inter alia, by: 

                        (A)    any alteration to the Memorandum or the Articles; or 

                        (B)    any alteration, increase, consolidation, division, sub-division, cancellation, reduction 
or purchase by the Company of any issued or authorised share capital of the Company 
(other than on Conversion); or 

                        (C)    any allotment or issue of any security convertible into or carrying a right to subscribe 
for any share capital of the Company or any other right to subscribe or acquire share 
capital of the Company; or 

                        (D)    the passing of any resolution to wind up the Company; or 

                        (E)    the selection of any accounting reference date other than 30 June. 

                (viii)   Undertakings 

                        Until Conversion, and without prejudice to its obligations under the Companies Law, the 
Company shall in relation to each tranche of C Shares; 

                        (A)    procure that the Company’s records and bank accounts shall be operated so that the 
assets attributable to the C Shares of the relevant tranche can, at all times, be 
separately identified and, in particular but without prejudice to the generality of the 
foregoing, the Company shall procure that separate cash accounts shall be created 
and maintained in the books of the Company for the assets attributable to the C Shares 
of the relevant tranche; and 

                        (B)    allocate to the assets attributable to the C Shares of the relevant tranche such 
proportion of the expenses or liabilities of the Company incurred or accrued between 
the Issue Date and the Calculation Time (both dates inclusive) as the Directors fairly 
consider to be attributable to the C Shares of the relevant tranche including, without 
prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, those liabilities specifically identified in the 
definition of Conversion Ratio above; and 

                        (C)    give appropriate instructions to the Investment Manager to manage the Company’s 
assets so that such undertakings can be complied with by the Company. 

                (ix)    Conversion 

                        In relation to each tranche of C Shares, the C Shares shall be sub-divided and converted 
into New Shares and Deferred Shares at the Conversion Time in accordance with the 
following provisions of this paragraph. The Directors shall procure that: 
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                        (A)    the Administrator shall be requested to calculate, within two Business Days after the 
Calculation Time, the Conversion Ratio as at the Calculation Time and the number of 
New Shares to which each holder of C Shares of that tranche shall be entitled on 
Conversion; and  

                        (B)    the Independent Accountants shall be requested to certify, within three Business Days 
after the Calculation Time, that such calculations: 

                                (1)     have been performed in accordance with the Articles; and 

                                (2)     are arithmetically accurate, 

                                whereupon, subject to the proviso in the definition of Conversion Ratio above, such 
calculations shall become final and binding on the Company and all holders of Shares 
and holders of C Shares. 

                        The Directors shall procure that, as soon as practicable following such certificate, an 
announcement is made to a Regulatory Information Service, advising holders of C Shares 
of that tranche, the Conversion Time, the Conversion Ratio and the aggregate number of 
New Shares to which holders of C Shares of that tranche are entitled on Conversion. 

                        Conversion shall take place at the Conversion Time. On Conversion: 

                        (A)    each issued C Share shall automatically be sub-divided into ten sub-divided C Shares 
of 0.01p each and such number of sub-divided C Shares shall automatically convert 
into such number of New Shares (such sub-division and conversion being deemed to 
be authorised by the special resolution creating the C Shares) as shall be necessary 
to ensure that, upon Conversion being completed, the aggregate number of 
sub-divided C Shares which are converted into New Shares equals the aggregate 
number of C Shares of that tranche in issue at the Calculation Time multiplied by the 
Conversion Ratio (rounded down to the nearest whole New Share). Each sub-divided 
C Share which does not so convert into a New Share shall automatically convert into 
a Deferred Share having the rights set out in paragraphs 5.3(b)(iv) and 5.3(b)(vii) above 
and shall be dealt with in accordance with paragraph (B) below. Share certificates will 
not be issued in respect of the sub-divided C Shares. 

                        (B)    each sub-divided C Share which does not convert into a New Share in accordance 
with paragraph (A) above and is converted into a Deferred Share shall immediately 
upon Conversion be redeemed by the Company in accordance with paragraph 
5.3(b)(vi)(C) above for an aggregate consideration of 1p for all of the Deferred Shares 
so redeemed. The Company shall not be obliged to account to any holder of C Shares 
for the redemption monies in respect of such shares. Immediately following such 
redemption every 10 redeemed Deferred Shares shall be consolidated into Deferred 
Shares of 0.1p each and each such share shall automatically be reclassified as a 
C Share in the authorised share capital of the Company. Any Deferred Share of 0.01p 
not consolidated and reclassified as described above shall be reclassified as a Share 
in the authorised share capital of the Company. If at a time such shares would 
otherwise be redeemed the Company may not lawfully effect such redemption except 
out of the proceeds of a fresh issue of shares made for the purpose of a redemption, 
the Company shall issue such number of Nominal Shares of 0.01p each to the 
Administrator at a sufficient price per share in order to provide the Company with the 
funds to effect such redemption. 

                        The New Shares arising upon Conversion shall be divided amongst the former holders of C 
Shares pro rata according to their respective former holdings of C Shares of the relevant 
tranche (provided always that the Directors may deal in such manner as they think fit with 
fractional entitlements to New Shares, including, without prejudice to the generality of the 
foregoing, selling any such Shares representing such fractional entitlements and retaining 
the proceeds for the benefit of the Company) and for such purposes any Director is hereby 
authorised as agent on behalf of the former holder of C Shares, in the case of a share in 
certificated form, to execute any stock transfer form and to do any other act or thing as 
may be required to give effect to the same including, in the case of a share in uncertificated 
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form, the giving of directions to or on behalf of the former holder of C Shares who shall be 
bound by them. 

                        Forthwith upon Conversion, any certificates relating to the C Shares of the relevant tranche 
shall be cancelled and the Company shall issue to each such former holder of C Shares 
new certificates in respect of the New Shares which have arisen upon Conversion unless 
such former holder of C Shares elects to hold their New Shares in uncertificated form. 

                        The Company will use its reasonable endeavours to procure that, upon Conversion, the 
New Shares are admitted to the Official List. 

 

        (c)     Nominal Shares 
                Nominal Shares of 0.01p each can only be issued at par to the Administrator in order to ensure 

that funds are available to redeem the nominal amount paid up on Shares if the Directors so 
decide at the time of Share redemption. The holder or holders of Nominal Shares shall have the 
right to receive notice of and to attend general meetings of the Company but shall not be entitled 
to vote thereat. Nominal Shares shall carry no right to dividends. In a winding-up, holders of 
Nominal Shares shall be entitled to be repaid an amount equal to their paid up nominal value out 
of the assets of the Company after payment of the nominal value of the Shares. 

                The Administrator is obliged to subscribe for Nominal Shares for cash at par when the Shares 
are redeemed to ensure that funds are available to redeem the nominal amount paid-up on each 
Share, unless the Directors decide that the nominal amount of such Shares is to be redeemed 
out of profits attributable to the Company. 

 

        (d)     Deferred Shares 
                As described in paragraph 5.3(b)(vi) above, Deferred Shares shall only be issued in respect of 

Conversion of C Shares. In a winding-up after Conversion, Deferred Shares shall be entitled to 
return an amount equal to their nominal value after return of capital on Shares, paid up on Nominal 
Shares. The provisions in the Articles as to voting, dividend and redemption of the Deferred Shares 
are summarised in sub-paragraphs 5.3(b)(iii), 5.3(b)(v) and 5.3(b)(vi) above.  

 

        (e)     Unclassified Shares of 0.01p each 
                Unclassified Shares of 0.01p each are only available for issue and designation as a Nominal Share 

or a Share. 
 

5.4   Dividends 
        Subject to compliance with section 304 of the Companies Law, the Board may at any time declare 

and pay any such dividends as appear to be justified by the position of the Company.  

        No dividend shall be in excess of the amounts permitted by the Companies Law or approved by the 
Board provided always that all monies realised on the sale or other realisation of any capital assets in 
excess of book value and all other monies in the nature of accretion to capital shall not be treated as 
profits available for distribution by way of dividend. 

        All unclaimed dividends may be invested or otherwise made use of by the Directors for the benefit of 
the Company until claimed and the Company shall not be constituted a trustee thereof. No dividend 
shall bear interest against the Company. Any dividend unclaimed after a period of 12 years from the 
date of declaration of such dividend shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company. 

        The Directors are empowered to create reserves before recommending or declaring any dividend. The 
Directors may also carry forward any profits which they think prudent not to distribute by dividend. 

5.5   Issue of shares 
        Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law and the Articles and without prejudice to any special 

rights conferred on the holders of any class of shares, any share in the Company may be issued with 
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or have attached thereto such preferred, deferred or other special rights, or such restrictions whether 
in regard to dividend, return of capital, voting or otherwise as the Company may from time to time by 
ordinary resolution determine and, subject to and in default of such resolution, as the Board may 
determine. 

        Subject to the Articles, including the pre-emption rights set out below, the unissued shares shall be at 
the disposal of the Directors, and they may allot, grant options over or otherwise dispose of them to 
such persons, at such times and generally on such terms and conditions as they determine but so 
that no share shall be issued at a discount except in accordance with the Companies Law and so that 
the amount payable on application of each share shall be fixed by the Board. 

        The Company may on any issue of shares pay such commission as may be fixed by the Board and 
disclosed in accordance with the Companies Law. The Company may also pay brokerages. 

 

5.6   Pre-emption rights 
        The following definitions govern the operation of applicable pre-emption rights in respect of any shares 

of any class in the Company: 

        “equity securities” means any class of share of the Company or any rights to subscribe for, or to 
convert securities into, any class of share of the Company; and 

        “allotment of equity securities” includes the grant of a right to subscribe for, or to convert any 
securities into any class of share of the Company and the sale of any class of share of the Company 
that immediately before the sale are held by the Company in treasury. 

        The Company shall only allot equity securities of a particular class to a person if it has made an offer 
to each person who holds shares of the relevant class to allot to him, on the same or more favourable 
terms, a proportion of those securities that is as nearly as practicable equal to the proportion in number 
held by him of that class of shares and the period during which such offer may be accepted has expired 
or the Company has received notice of the acceptance or refusal of every offer so made. 

        Any such offer required to be made by the Company should be made by a notice that states a period 
of no less than 21 days during which it may be accepted. 

        The Company may by special resolution resolve that, for a period not exceeding five years, pre-emption 
rights shall be excluded or that they shall apply with such modifications as may be specified in that 
special resolution in relation to the allotment by the Company of equity securities generally, to allotments 
of a particular description or to a specified allotment of equity securities. 

5.7   Variation of rights 
        If at any time the capital of the Company is divided into separate classes of share, the special rights 

attached to any class of shares may (unless otherwise provided by the terms of issue) be varied with 
the consent in writing of the holders of three-fourths of the issued shares of that class or with the 
sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of such shares. The 
necessary quorum shall be two persons holding or representing by proxy at least one third of the 
issued shares of the class. Every holder of shares of the class concerned shall be entitled at such 
meeting to one vote for every share held by him on a poll. The special rights conferred upon the holders 
of any shares or class of shares issued with preferred, deferred or other special rights shall not be 
deemed to be varied by the creation of or issue of further shares ranking pari passu therewith or the 
exercise of any power under the disclosure provisions requiring shareholders to disclose an interest in 
the Company’s shares as set out in the Articles. 

5.8   Restrictions on voting 
 

        A member of the Company shall not be entitled in respect of any share held by him to attend or vote 
(either personally or by representative or by proxy) at any general meeting or separate class meeting 
of the Company unless all amounts payable by him in respect of that share have been paid. 
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        A member of the Company shall not, if the Directors so determine, be entitled in respect of any share 
held by him to attend or vote (either personally or by representative or by proxy) at any general meeting 
or separate class meeting of the Company or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in 
relation to any such meeting if he or any other person appearing to be interested in such shares has 
failed to comply with a notice requiring the disclosure of shareholders’ interests and given under the 
Articles (see paragraph 5.9 below) within 14 days, in a case where the shares in question represent at 
least 0.25 per cent. of their class, or within 28 days, in any other case, from the date of such notice. 
The restrictions will continue until the information required by the notice is supplied to the Company or 
until the shares in question are transferred or sold in circumstances specified for this purpose in the 
Articles. 

5.9   Notice requiring disclosure of interest in shares 
        The Directors may serve notice on any member requiring that member to disclose to the Company 

the identity of any person (other than the member) who has an interest in the shares held by the 
member and the nature of such interest. Any such notice shall require any information in response to 
such notice to be given within such reasonable time as the Directors may determine. 

        The Directors may be required to exercise their powers under the relevant Article on a requisition of 
members holding not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right to 
vote at general meetings. If any member is in default in supplying to the Company the information 
required by the Company within the prescribed period (which is 28 days after service of the notice or 
14 days if the shares concerned represent 0.25 per cent. or more of the issued shares of the relevant 
class), the Directors in their absolute discretion may serve a direction notice on the member. The 
direction notice may direct that in respect of the shares in respect of which the default has occurred 
(the “default shares”) and any other shares held by the member, the member shall not be entitled to 
vote in general meetings or class meetings. Where the default shares represent at least 0.25 per cent. 
of the class of shares concerned the direction notice may additionally direct that dividends on such 
shares will be retained by the Company (without interest) and that no transfer of the shares (other than 
a transfer authorised under the Articles) shall be registered until the default is rectified. 

        Transfer of shares 
 

        The Articles provide that the Directors may implement such arrangements as they may think fit in order 
for any class of shares to be admitted to settlement by means of the CREST system. If the Directors 
implement any such arrangements no provision of the Articles shall apply or have effect to the extent 
that it is in any respect inconsistent with: 

        (a)     the holding of shares of that class in uncertificated form; 

        (b)     the transfer of title to shares of that class by means of the CREST system; or 

        (c)     the CREST Guernsey Requirements. 

        Where any class of shares is for the time being admitted to settlement by means of the CREST system 
such securities may be issued in uncertificated form in accordance with and subject as provided in 
the CREST Guernsey Requirements. Unless the Directors otherwise determine, such securities held 
by the same holder or joint holder in both certificated form and uncertificated form shall be treated as 
separate holdings. Such securities may be changed from uncertificated to certificated form and from 
certificated to uncertificated form in accordance with and subject as provided in the CREST Guernsey 
Requirements. 

        Title to such of the shares as are recorded on the register as being held in uncertificated form may be 
transferred only by means of the CREST system. Every transfer of shares from a CREST account of a 
CREST member to a CREST account of another CREST member shall vest in the transferee a 
beneficial interest in the shares transferred, notwithstanding any agreements or arrangements to the 
contrary however and whenever arising and however expressed. 

        Subject to restrictions of the Articles, any member may transfer all or any of his shares which are in 
certificated form by instrument of transfer in any form which the Directors may approve. The instrument 
of transfer of a certificated share shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and, unless the share 
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is fully paid, by or on behalf of the transferee. The Directors may refuse to register any transfer of 
certificated shares unless the instrument of transfer is lodged at the Company’s registered office 
accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) and such other evidence as the Directors may 
reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the transfer. The Directors may refuse 
to register a transfer of any share which is not fully paid up or on which the Company has a lien provided 
that this would not prevent dealings from taking place on an open and proper basis. 

        Subject to the provisions of the CREST Guernsey Requirements the registration of transfers may be 
suspended at such times and for such periods as the Directors may from time to time determine 
provided that such suspension shall not be for more than 30 days in any year and shall be 
communicated to Shareholders, giving reasonable notice of such suspension, by means of a 
recognised regulatory news service. 

        If at any time the holding or beneficial ownership of any shares in the Company would (whether on its 
own or taken with other shares), in the opinion of the Directors, cause the assets of the Company to 
be considered “plan assets” within the meaning of Regulation S adopted by the United States 
Department of Labor under ERISA then any shares which the Directors decide are shares which are 
so held or beneficially owned (“Prohibited Share(s)”) must be dealt with in accordance with the 
provisions below. The Directors may at any time give notice in writing to the holder of a share requiring 
him to make a declaration as to whether or not the share is a Prohibited Share. 

        The Directors shall give written notice to the holder of any share which appears to them to be a 
Prohibited Share requiring him within 21 days (or such extended time as the Directors consider 
reasonable) to transfer (and/or procure the disposal of interests in) such share to another person so 
that it will cease to be a Prohibited Share. From the date of such notice until registration for such a 
transfer or a transfer arranged by the Directors as referred to below, the share will not confer any right 
on the holder to receive notice of or to attend and vote at general meetings of the Company and of 
any class of shareholders (and those rights will vest in the Chairman of any such meeting, who may 
exercise or refrain from exercising them entirely at his discretion). If the notice is not complied with 
within 21 days to the satisfaction of the Directors, the Directors shall arrange for the Company to sell 
the share at the best price reasonably obtainable to any other person so that the share will cease to 
be a Prohibited Share. The net proceeds of sale (with interest at such rate as the Directors consider 
appropriate) shall be paid over by the Company to the former holder upon surrender by him of the 
relevant share certificate. 

5.10 Alteration of capital and purchase of shares 
        The Company may from time to time by ordinary resolution increase its share capital by such sum to 

be divided into shares of such amount as the resolution may prescribe and of such class, preference 
or priority as the Board may determine. 

        The Company before the issue of any such new shares may resolve that all or some of them shall be 
offered to members in proportion to their existing shares at such price as the Company or the Board 
may fix. Such an offer shall be carried out according to the procedure set out in paragraph 5.6 above. 
In the absence of any such resolution, the new shares may be dealt with as if they formed part of the 
original capital and shall be subject to the Articles. 

        The Company may from time to time, subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, purchase its 
own shares (including any redeemable shares) in any manner authorised by the Companies Law. 

        The Company may by ordinary resolution: consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into 
shares of a larger amount than its existing shares; subdivide all or any of its shares into shares of a 
smaller amount than is fixed by the Memorandum provided however that in subdivision the proportion 
between the amount paid and the amount if any unpaid on each reduced share shall be the same as 
it was in the case of the share from which the reduced share is derived and so that the resolution 
whereby any share is subdivided may determine that as between the holders of the shares resulting 
from subdivision one or more shares may have such preferred, deferred or other rights over the others 
as the Company has power to attach to unissued or new shares; cancel any shares which at the date 
of the resolution have not been taken or agreed to be taken and diminish the amount of its authorised 
share capital by the amount of shares so cancelled. 
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        The Company may reduce its share capital, any capital redemption reserve fund or any share premium 
account in any manner and with and subject to any incident authorisation and consent required by 
the Companies Law. 

5.11 Interests of Directors 
        Save as mentioned below, a Director may not vote or be counted in the quorum on any resolution of 

the Board (or a committee of the Directors) in respect of any matter in which he has (together with any 
interest of any person connected with him) a material interest (other than by virtue of his interest in 
shares or debentures or other securities of the Company). 

        A Director shall be entitled to vote (and be counted in the quorum) in respect of any resolution 
concerning any of the following matters: 

        (a)     the giving of any guarantee, security or indemnity in respect of money lent or obligations incurred 
by him or any other person at the request of or for the benefit of the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries; 

        (b)     the giving of any guarantee, security or indemnity in respect of a debt or obligation of the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries for which the Director himself has assumed responsibility in 
whole or in part and whether alone or jointly with others under a guarantee or indemnity or by the 
giving of security; 

        (c)     the offer of securities of the Company or its subsidiaries in which offer he is or may be entitled to 
participate or in the underwriting or sub-underwriting of which he is to participate; 

        (d)     any proposal concerning any other company in which he is interested, directly or indirectly, as an 
officer or shareholder or otherwise, provided that he, together with persons connected with him, 
is not to his knowledge the holder of or beneficially interested in one per cent. or more of any 
class of the equity share capital of any such company or of the voting rights of such company; 

        (e)     any arrangement for the benefit of employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries which 
accords to the Director only such privileges and advantages as are generally accorded to the 
employees to whom the arrangement relates; or 

        (f)      any proposal for the purchase or maintenance of insurance for the benefit of Directors or persons 
including the Directors. 

        Any Director may act by himself or by his firm in a professional capacity for the Company and he or 
his firm shall be entitled to remuneration for professional services as if he were not a Director provided 
that neither he nor his firm shall be authorised to act as auditor to the Company. 

        Any Director may continue to be or become a director, managing director, manager or other officer or 
member of a company in which the Company may be interested and (unless otherwise agreed) no 
such Director shall be accountable to the Company for any remuneration or other benefits received by 
him as a director, managing director, manager or other officer or member of any such other company.  

5.12 Directors 
        Directors need not be members of the Company but when they are, the Company may fix a share 

qualification for a Director. 

        The Directors shall be remunerated for their services at such rate as the Directors shall determine 
provided that the aggregate amount of such fees shall not exceed £300,000 per annum (such cap 
having been increased from £200,000 as originally provided for in the Articles pursuant to an ordinary 
resolution passed by Shareholders on 21 April 2022) (or such sums as the Company in general meeting 
shall from time to time determine). The Directors shall also be entitled to be paid all reasonable 
expenses properly incurred by them in attending general meetings, board or committee meetings or 
otherwise in connection with the performance of their duties. 

        If any Director having been requested by the Board shall render or perform extra or special services or 
shall travel or go to or reside in any country not his usual place of residence for any business or purpose 
of the Company he shall be entitled to receive such sum as the Board may think fit for expenses and 
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also such remuneration as the Board may think fit either as a fixed sum or as a percentage of profits 
or otherwise and such remuneration as the Board shall determine be either in addition to or in 
substitution for any other remuneration which he may be entitled to receive. 

        A Director may hold any other office or place of profit under the Company (other than the office of 
auditor) in conjunction with his office of Director on such terms as the Directors may determine. 

        The Directors may from time to time appoint one or more of their body (other than a Director resident 
in the UK) to the office of managing director or to any other executive office for such periods and upon 
such terms as they determine. 

        A Director, notwithstanding his interest, may be counted in the quorum present at any meeting whereat 
he or any other Director is appointed to hold any such office or place of profit under the Company, or 
where the terms of appointment are arranged or any contract in which he is interested is considered 
and he may vote on any such appointment or arrangement other than his own appointment or the 
terms thereof. 

        The Directors may at any time appoint any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as 
an addition to the existing Directors. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until, and shall be 
eligible for re-election at, the next general meeting following his appointment but shall not be taken 
into account in determining the Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at 
that meeting if it is an annual general meeting. Without prejudice to those powers, the Company in 
general meeting may appoint any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an 
additional Director. 

        At each annual general meeting thereafter, one-third of the Directors (or if their number is not three or 
an integral multiple of three), the number nearest to, but (except where there are less than three 
Directors) not greater than one-third shall retire from office. 

        Subject to the provisions of the Articles, the Directors to retire by rotation on each occasion shall be 
those of the Directors who have been longest in office since their last appointment or re-appointment 
but, as between persons who became or were last re-appointed Directors on the same day, those to 
retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot. In addition, any 
Director who would not otherwise be required to retire at any annual general meeting which is the third 
annual general meeting after the later of his appointment by the Company in general meeting and re-
election as a Director in general meeting, shall nevertheless be required to retire at such annual general 
meeting. Notwithstanding these provisions of the Articles, the Board has determined that all of the 
Directors should stand for re-election at each annual general meeting in line with best practice. 

        The maximum number of Directors shall be seven and the minimum number of Directors shall be two. 
At no time shall a majority of the Directors be resident in the United Kingdom. 

        The office of Director shall be vacated if the Director resigns his office by written notice (not being a 
person holding for a fixed term an executive office subject to termination if he ceases from any cause 
to be a Director), if he shall have absented himself from meetings of the Board for a consecutive period 
of six months and the Board resolves that his office shall be vacated, if he becomes of unsound mind 
or incapable, if he becomes insolvent, suspends payment or compounds with his creditors, if he is 
requested to resign by written notice signed by all his co-Directors, if the Company in general meeting 
by ordinary resolution shall declare that he shall cease to be a Director, or if he becomes resident in 
the United Kingdom and, as a result, a majority of the Directors are resident in the United Kingdom. 

5.13 General meetings 
        Notice for any general meeting shall be sent by the secretary or officer of the Company or any other 

person appointed by the Board not less than fourteen days before the meeting. The notice must specify 
the time and place of the general meeting and, in the case of any special business, the general nature 
of the business to be transacted. With the consent in writing of all the members, a meeting may be 
convened by a shorter notice or at no notice in any manner they think fit. The accidental omission to 
give notice of any meeting or the non-receipt of such notice by any Shareholder shall not invalidate 
any resolution, or any proposed resolution otherwise duly approved, passed or proceeding at any 
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meeting. The quorum for the general meeting shall be two members present in person or by proxy. At 
the 2021 AGM, a resolution was passed, in recognition of the constraints on public gatherings created 
by the Covid-19 pandemic to amend the Articles to enable hybrid or virtual general meetings to take 
place going forwards.  

5.14 Duration of the Company 
        At the annual general meeting of the Company in 2007 an ordinary resolution was passed that the 

Company continue as an investment company. The Company therefore continues indefinitely and no 
such further resolutions will automatically be proposed at subsequent annual general meetings. 

 

5.15 Winding-up 
        On a winding-up, the surplus assets remaining after payment of all creditors, including payment of 

bank borrowings, shall be applied in the following priority: 

        (a)     first, in the payment to the holders of Shares of a sum equal to the nominal amount of the Shares 
of such class held by such holders provided that there are sufficient assets available in the 
Company to enable such payment to be made; 

        (b)     second, in the payment to the holder or holders of the Nominal Shares of sums up to the nominal 
amount paid up thereon out of the assets of the Company remaining after recourse thereto under 
5.15(a) above; 

        (c)     third, in the payment to the holders of the Shares of any balance then remaining, including but 
without limitation the balance of any assets in the Company. 

        On a winding-up the liquidator may, with the authority of a special resolution, divide amongst the 
members in specie any part of the assets of the Company. The liquidator may with like authority vest 
any part of the assets in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of members as he shall think fit but 
no member shall be compelled to accept any assets in respect of which there is any liability. 

        Where the Company is proposed to be or is in the course of being wound up and the whole or part of 
its business or property is proposed to be transferred or sold to another company the liquidator may, 
with the sanction of an ordinary resolution, receive in compensation, or part compensation for the 
transfer or sale, shares, policies or other like interests for distribution among the members or may enter 
into any other arrangements whereby the members may, in lieu of receiving cash, shares, policies or 
other like interests, participate in the profits of or receive any other benefit from the transferee. 

5.16 Borrowing powers 
        The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money and to give guarantees, 

mortgage, hypothecate, pledge or charge all or part of its undertaking, property or assets and uncalled 
capital and to issue debentures and other securities whether outright or as collateral security for any 
liability or obligation of the Company or of any third party provided always that the aggregate principal 
amount from time to time outstanding of all borrowings (as defined in the Articles) by the Company 
(exclusive of borrowings wholly within the Company) shall not at any time exceed 30 per cent. of the 
Net Asset Value of the Company. 

6      MATERIAL CONTRACTS 
 

The following are all of the contracts, not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, 
that have been entered into by the Company in the two years immediately preceding the date of this 
document and are, or may be, material or contain any provision under which the Company has any obligation 
or entitlement which is or may be material to it as at the date of this document:  

6.1   Investment Management Agreement 
        Pursuant to an investment management agreement dated 10 July 2014 between the Company and 

the Investment Manager, the Investment Manager has agreed, subject to the overall supervision and 
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direction of the Board, to provide investment management services to the Company and, in particular, 
to provide portfolio management and risk management services to the Company and to act as the 
Company’s AIFM for the purposes of the AIFM Regime and the EU AIFM Directive.  

 

        Under the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager receives a management fee, 
payable monthly in arrears, calculated on the basis of the following formula: 

        A x B 

        where:  

        “A” equals the average of the weekly Net Asset Value calculations of the Company undertaken over 
the course of the relevant month as determined on the relevant Valuation Date; and  

        “B” equals 0.0833333 per cent., 

        which, in aggregate, shall be an amount equivalent to one per cent. per annum of the Net Asset Value 
of the Company, save that where the Company is invested in a fund managed by Ruffer and Ruffer 
takes a fee within that fund it is excluded from the A x B calculation. 

        In addition, the Investment Manager is entitled to reimbursement of any professional fees and expense 
incurred on behalf of the Company and/or in the performance of its duties.  

        The Investment Management Agreement may be terminated by either party giving 12 months’ written 
notice at any time, and by the Company on 30 days’ written notice where a key representative of the 
Investment Manager ceases to be employed by the Investment Manager and no replacement 
acceptable to the Board is put in place, provided such right is exercised within 90 days of the Company 
becoming aware of the departure of such representative. Either party may terminate the Investment 
Management Agreement immediately by written notice (without prejudice to any right of action accruing 
or already accrued to it) on the insolvency of the other party. The Investment Management Agreement 
will also terminate with immediate effect if the Investment Manager ceases to be authorised and 
regulated by the FCA to carry out its obligations under the Investment Management Agreement. The 
Investment Manager is entitled to terminate the Investment Management Agreement with immediate 
effect by notice in writing if the FCA requires it to cease acting as the AIFM of the Company or it is 
unable to ensure compliance by the Company with the AIFM Regime, and is further entitled to resign 
its appointment under the Investment Management Agreement on 60 days’ written notice if the 
Company commits any material breach of its obligations under the Investment Management Agreement 
which it fails to rectify within 30 days of written notice from the Investment Manager of such breach.  

        The Company has given certain market standard warranties and indemnities in favour of the Investment 
Manager, including an indemnity in respect of the Investment Manager’s potential losses in carrying 
on its responsibilities under the Investment Management Agreement. 

        The Investment Management Agreement is governed by English law. 

6.2   Sponsor Engagement Letter 
 

        On 15 December 2022, the Company, the Investment Manager and Investec entered into a sponsor 
engagement letter pursuant to which Investec has agreed to act as the Company’s sponsor for the 
purposes of the Listing Rules in relation to the publication of this document. The Sponsor Engagement 
Letter contains customary warranties given by the Company and the Investment Manager to Investec 
in relation to, inter alia, certain matters relating to the Company and its business. In addition, the 
Company and the Investment Manager have agreed to indemnify Investec in relation to certain liabilities 
that it may incur in respect of the publication of this document. The obligations of Investec under the 
Sponsor Engagement Letter are subject to certain conditions and Investec has the right to terminate 
the Sponsor Engagement Letter in certain circumstances including, without limitation, in the event of 
a material breach by the Company or the Investment Manager of their respective obligations under 
the Sponsor Engagement Letter, the occurrence of a force majeure event or a material adverse change 
in the financial condition of the Company. Under the terms of the Sponsor Engagement Letter, the 
Company has agreed to pay Investec a corporate finance fee. The Sponsor Engagement Letter is 
governed by the laws of England and Wales. 
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6.3   May 2022 Sponsor Engagement Letter 
 

        On 16 May 2022, the Company, the Investment Manager and Investec entered into a sponsor 
engagement letter pursuant to which Investec agreed to act as the Company’s sponsor for the 
purposes of the Listing Rules in relation to the publication of a prospectus by the Company that took 
place in May 2022 in connection with an earlier re-setting of the Company’s 20 per cent. capacity to 
issue further Shares by way of tap issue afforded under the Prospectus Regulation (the “May 2022 
Prospectus”). The May 2022 Sponsor Engagement Letter contained customary warranties given by 
the Company and the Investment Manager to Investec in relation to, inter alia, certain matters relating 
to the Company and its business. In addition, the Company and the Investment Manager agreed to 
indemnify Investec in relation to certain liabilities that it may incur in respect of the publication of the 
May 2022 Prospectus. The obligations of Investec under the May 2022 Sponsor Engagement Letter 
were subject to certain conditions and Investec had the right to terminate the May 2022 Sponsor 
Engagement Letter in certain circumstances including, without limitation, in the event of a material 
breach by the Company or the Investment Manager of their respective obligations under the May 2022 
Sponsor Engagement Letter, the occurrence of a force majeure event or a material adverse change in 
the financial condition of the Company. Under the terms of the May 2022 Sponsor Engagement Letter, 
the Company agreed to pay Investec a corporate finance fee. The May 2022 Sponsor Engagement 
Letter is governed by the laws of England and Wales.  

6.4   Sponsor Agreement 
 

        On 15 November 2021, the Company, the Investment Manager and Investec entered into a sponsor 
agreement pursuant to which Investec agreed to act as the Company’s sponsor for the purposes of 
the Listing Rules in relation to the Company’s open offer, offer for subscription and intermediaries offer 
that took place in November 2021 (the “2021 Offer”). The sponsor agreement contained customary 
warranties given by the Company and the Investment Manager to Investec in relation to, inter alia, 
certain matters relating to the Company and its business. In addition, the Company and the Investment 
Manager agreed to indemnify Investec in relation to certain liabilities that it may incur in respect of the 
2021 Offer. The obligations of Investec under the sponsor agreement were subject to certain conditions 
and Investec had the right to terminate the sponsor agreement in certain circumstances prior to 
admission of the Shares to be issued pursuant to the 2021 Offer including, without limitation, in the 
event of a material breach by the Company or the Investment Manager of their respective obligations 
under the sponsor agreement, the occurrence of a force majeure event or a material adverse change 
in the financial condition of the Company. Under the terms of the sponsor agreement, the Company 
agreed to pay Investec a corporate finance fee and commissions in respect of the Shares to be issued 
pursuant to the 2021 Offer. The sponsor agreement is governed by the laws of England and Wales. 

6.5   Broker Agreement 
 

        Pursuant to an engagement letter dated 21 December 2017 between the Company and Canaccord, 
a novation agreement relating thereto dated 18 June 2019 and with effect from 22 June 2019 between 
the Company, Canaccord and Investec, and a letter of addendum between Investec and the Company 
dated 5 December 2022 and with effect from 1 January 2023, Investec has agreed to act as broker 
and financial adviser to the Company by providing advisory and corporate broking services. Under the 
Broker Agreement, Investec is entitled to an annual retainer fee, which is paid half yearly in advance, 
as well as commissions in respect of tap issuances and share buybacks, provided that, from 1 January 
2024, where tap issuance commissions in the previous calender year have exceeded a certain 
threshold, no annual retainer fee will be payable in respect of the next calendar year. The Company 
has given certain market standard indemnities to Investec in the provision of its services. Either the 
Company or Investec may terminate the Broker Agreement with immediate effect at any time without 
liability. The Broker Agreement is governed by the laws of England. 

6.6   Administration and Secretarial Agreement 
        Pursuant to an administration and secretarial agreement dated 1 April 2019 between the Company, 

the Administrator and the Investment Manager, the Administrator has agreed to act as administrator 
and company secretary to the Company.  

 

78



        Under the Administration and Secretarial Agreement, the Administrator is responsible for the day-to-
day administration of the Company and the Company’s general administrative functions, such as the 
calculation, in conjunction with the Investment Manager, and publication of the Net Asset Value and 
maintenance of the Company’s accounting and statutory records, as well as for providing the company 
secretarial functions required by the Companies Law and the Rules.  

 

        The Administrator is entitled to an administration and secretarial fee which is charged quarterly in 
arrears and calculated with reference to the Company’s Net Asset Value on a tiered basis– the 
Administrator is entitled to a fee equal to 0.08 per cent. of the first £100 million of the Company’s Net 
Asset Value, 0.04 per cent. of the next £100 million of the Company’s Net Asset Value, 0.02 per cent. 
of the next £100 million of the Company’s Net Asset Value and 0.015 per cent. of the Company’s Net 
Asset Value thereafter, subject to a minimum fee of £100,000 per annum plus disbursements. The 
Administrator is also entitled to reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses properly incurred 
in providing its services. The Administrator may charge additional fees in respect of services undertaken 
outside the scope of the Administration and Secretarial Agreement.  

        The Company and the Investment Manager have each given certain warranties in favour of the 
Administrator that are standard for an agreement of this nature, including, in respect of the Company, 
warranties concerning the Company’s status, capacity and authority to enter into, and perform its 
obligations under, the Administration and Secretarial Agreement. The Company has also given 
customary indemnities in favour of the Administrator, including in respect of the Administrator’s potential 
losses in carrying on its responsibilities under the Administration and Secretarial Agreement.  

        The Administration and Secretarial Agreement, amongst other termination rights, is terminable upon 
not less than 90 calendar days’ written notice. The Administration and Secretarial Agreement is also 
terminable immediately upon the occurrence of certain customary termination events including the 
insolvency of any party, a party committing a material or persistent breach of the Administration and 
Secretarial Agreement (where such breach has not been remedied within 30 days of written notice 
being given) or any party acting in violation or default or in non-compliance with any securities or 
taxation laws or regulations applicable to them.  

        The Administration and Secretarial Agreement is governed by Guernsey law.  

6.7   Depositary Agreement 
 

        Pursuant to a depositary agreement dated 10 July 2014 between the Company, the Investment 
Manager and the Depositary, as amended pursuant to the variation letter dated 17 November 2014 
between the same parties, the Depositary has been appointed to provide custody and “depo-lite” 
depositary services to the Company, which includes, inter alia, monitoring the Company’s cash flows 
and the safekeeping of the assets of the Company. The Depositary is permitted to delegate (and 
authorise its delegates to sub-delegate) the safekeeping of the assets of the Company.  

 

        The Depositary is entitled to a depositary fee, payable monthly in arrears, of one basis point per annum 
of the Net Asset Value of the Company up to £100 million, falling to 0.80 basis points per annum on 
the next £100 million of the Company’s Net Asset Value and to 0.60 basis points per annum of the 
Company’s Net Asset Value thereafter, subject to a minimum of £20,000 per annum. In addition, the 
Depositary is entitled to custody fees and certain other fees for ad hoc services rendered from time to 
time. The Depositary is also entitled to reimbursement of all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred in connection with its duties. 

 

        The Depositary Agreement is terminable by any party giving 90 days’ written notice to the other parties. 
The Depositary Agreement may be terminated with immediate effect by either the Company or the 
Depositary on the occurrence of certain events, including, inter alia: (i) any party having committed a 
material breach of the terms of the Depositary Agreement (where such breach has not been remedied 
within 30 days of written notice being given); (ii) the insolvency of a party; and (iii) where fraud is proven 
against the Company or the Investment Manager. 

        The Company and the Investment Manager have given certain market standard warranties in favour 
of the Depositary, and the Company has also given certain market standard indemnities in favour of 
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the Depositary in respect of the Depositary’s potential losses in carrying on its responsibilities under 
the Depositary Agreement. 

        The Depositary Agreement is governed by the laws of Guernsey. 

6.8   Registrar Agreement 
        Pursuant to a registrar agreement dated 26 August 2014 between the Company and the Registrar as 

amended pursuant to variation letters dated 27 January 2015, 16 March 2018 and 30 July 2018, the 
Registrar has been appointed to act as registrar to the Company. 

 

        Under the terms of the Registrar Agreement, the Registrar is entitled to an annual maintenance fee 
per Shareholder account per annum, subject to a minimum fee. The fee is subject to increase in line 
with the RPI; any proposed increases above RPI require the Company’s agreement but, if rejected, 
trigger the Registrar’s right to terminate the Registrar Agreement on six months’ written notice. The 
Registrar is also entitled to activity fees under the Registrar Agreement, and to reimbursement of 
charges and costs incurred in performing its duties.  

        The Registrar Agreement may be terminated on six months’ notice and is also terminable on written 
notice in the event of, inter alia, breach of the agreement (which has not been remedied within 21 days’ 
written notice of such breach) or insolvency. 

        The Company has given certain market standard indemnities in favour of the Registrar in respect of 
the Registrar’s potential losses in carrying on its responsibilities under the Registrar Agreement. The 
Registrar’s liability under the Registrar Agreement is subject to a cap. 

        The Registrar Agreement is governed by the laws of Guernsey. 
 

7      TAKEOVER CODE 

7.1   Mandatory bid 
        The Takeover Code applies to the Company. Under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code, if: 

          l      a person acquires an interest in shares which, when taken together with shares already held by 
him or persons acting in concert with him, carry 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights in the 
Company; or 

          l      a person who, together with persons acting in concert with him, is interested in not less than 
30 per cent. and not more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights in the Company acquires 
additional interests in shares which increase the percentage of shares carrying voting rights in 
which that person is interested, 

        the acquirer and, depending on the circumstances, its concert parties, would be required (except with 
the consent of the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers) to make a cash offer for the outstanding shares 
at a price not less than the highest price paid for any interests in the shares by the acquirer or its 
concert parties during the previous 12 months. 

7.2   Compulsory acquisition 
        The Companies Law provides that if an offer is made for the shares or any class of shares in the capital 

of a company and if, within four months after the date of such offer, the offer is approved or accepted 
by shareholders comprising not less than 90 per cent. in value of the shares affected, then the offeror 
may, within a period of two months immediately after the last day on which the offer can be approved 
or accepted, give notice to any dissenting shareholders informing them that it wishes to acquire their 
shares (an “Acquisition Notice”). Where an Acquisition Notice is given, the offeror is then entitled 
and bound to acquire the dissenting shareholders’ shares on the terms of the offer approved by the 
shareholders comprising not less than 90 per cent. in value of the shares affected; and where the 
terms of the offer provided a choice of consideration, the Acquisition Notice must give particulars of 
the choice and state, (a) the period within which, and the manner in which, the dissenting shareholder 
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must notify the offeror of his choice, and (b) which consideration specified in the offer will apply if it 
does not so notify the offeror. 

8      OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 

The Historical Financial Information, which has been incorporated by reference into this document, includes, 
on the pages specified below, descriptions of the Company’s financial condition (in both capital and revenue 
terms), details of the Company’s investment activity and portfolio exposure and changes in its financial 
condition for the financial years ended 30 June 2020, 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2022: 

Annual Report for Annual Report for Annual Report for 

the financial year the financial year the financial year 

ended 30 June ended 30 June ended 30 June 

2020 2021 2022 

Page nos. Page nos. Page nos. 

Investment Manager’s report 18 to 23 19 to 31 19 to 29 
Responsible investment report N/a 32 to 38 30 to 36 
Top ten holdings 24 39 37 
Report of the Directors 27 to 32 42 to 47 40 to 45 

9      WORKING CAPITAL 
 

The Company is of the opinion that the working capital available to the Company is sufficient for its present 
requirements, that is for at least the next 12 months from the date of this document.  

10    CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS 

10.1 Statement of capitalisation  
 

        The following table, sourced without material adjustment from the Company’s unaudited management 
accounts for the period ended 30 September 2022, sets out the Company’s capitalisation as at 
30 September 2022, being a date no earlier than 90 days prior to the date of this document: 

As at  

30 September 2022 

(unaudited) 

£’000 

Total current debt (including current portion of non-current debt): 
Guaranteed – 
Secured – 
Unguaranteed/unsecured – 

Total non-current debt (excluding current portion of non-current debt): 
Guaranteed – 
Secured – 
Unguaranteed/unsecured – 

Shareholder equity 
Share capital 672,102 
Legal reserve – 
Other reserves 370,683 

–––––––––––– 
Total 1,042,785 

–––––––––––– –––––––––––– 

Notes: 

Shareholder equity does not include the profit and loss reserve in accordance with Primary Market Technical Note 619.1: Guidelines 
on disclosure requirements under the Prospectus Regulation and Guidance on specialist issuers published by the FCA in May 2022. 

‘Other reserves’ comprises the capital reserve and other reserve relating to amounts converted from share premium in 2004 and 2008. 
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10.2 Statement of indebtedness 
        The following table, sourced without material adjustment from the Company’s unaudited management 

accounts for the period ended 30 September 2022, sets out the Company’s net indebtedness as at 
30 September 2022, being a date no earlier than 90 days prior to the date of this document:  

As at  

30 September 2022 

(unaudited) 

£’000 

A. Cash 71,642 
B. Cash equivalents – 
C. Other current financial assets – 

–––––––––––– 
D. Liquidity (A + B + C) 71,642 

–––––––––––– 
E. Current financial debt (including debt instruments, 

but excluding current portion of non-current financial debt) – 
F. Current portion of non-current financial debt – 

–––––––––––– 
G. Current financial indebtedness (E + F) – 

–––––––––––– 
H. Net current financial liquidity (G – D) 71,642 

I. Non-current financial debt  
(excluding current portion and debt instruments) – 

J. Debt instruments – 
K. Non-current trade and other payables – 

–––––––––––– 
L. Non-current financial indebtedness (I + J + K) – 

–––––––––––– 
M. Total financial liquidity (H + L) 71,642 

–––––––––––– –––––––––––– 
Notes:  

‘Other current financial assets’ excludes investments made in line with the Company’s investment policy.  

The indebtedness statement excludes receivables in respect of fixed interest income receivable (£2,294,000), dividends receivable 
(£346,000) and derivative financial liabilities (£11,995,000).  

The Company had no indirect or contingent indebtedness as at 30 September 2022.  

Save for net capital raises of, in aggregate, £59,177,252 pursuant to the issue of Tap Shares between 
30 September 2022 and the date of this document, there has been no material change in the Company’s 
capitalisation and indebtedness position since 30 September 2022. 

11    SIGNIFICANT CHANGE 
 

Save for net capital raises of, in aggregate, £122,685,241 pursuant to the issue of Tap Shares between 
1 July 2022 and the date of this document, there has been no significant change in the financial position of 
the Company since 30 June 2022, being the end of the last financial period for which audited financial 
statements of the Company have been published. 

 

12    LITIGATION 
There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings nor, so far as the Company is aware, are any 
such proceedings pending or threatened which may have, or have had during (at least) the 12 months 
preceding the date of this document, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the 
Company.  
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13    DEALING CODES AND LEI 
 

13.1 The dealing codes for the Shares are as follows: 

        ISIN                                                       GB00B018CS46 

        SEDOL                                                             B018CS4 

        TIDM                                                                        RICA 
 

13.2 The LEI for the Company is 21380068AHZKY7MKNO47. 

14    GENERAL 
 

14.1 Where third party information has been referenced in this document, the source of that third party 
information has been disclosed. All information in this document that has been sourced from third 
parties has been accurately reproduced and, as far as the Company is aware and able to ascertain 
from information published by such third parties, no facts have been omitted which would render the 
reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. 

 

14.2 The auditors of the Company are Deloitte LLP of Regency Court, Glategny Esplanade, St Peter Port, 
Guernsey GY1 3HW, who have been the only auditor of the Company for the period of the Historical 
Financial Information. Deloitte LLP is a member firm of the Institute of Chartered Accountants for 
England and Wales.  

14.3 Investec has given and not withdrawn its consent to the inclusion in this document of references to its 
name in the form and context in which they appear. 

 

14.4 Ruffer AIFM Limited, whose registered office is located at 80 Victoria Street, London SW1E 5JL 
(telephone number +44 (0)207 963 8100), acts as the investment manager of the Company. The 
Investment Manager was incorporated in England and Wales as a private limited company on 
13 December 2013 under the Companies Act 2006 (registration number 08813919). The Investment 
Manager is an FCA authorised and regulated fund manager under FSMA with reference number 
613490. The Investment Manager has been entered onto the UK register of UK AIFMs as a ‘full-scope 
UK AIFM’. The Investment Manager has given and not withdrawn its consent to the inclusion in this 
document of references to its name in the form and context in which they appear. 

 

14.5 Northern Trust (Guernsey) Limited, whose registered office is located at Trafalgar Court, Les Banques, 
St Peter Port, Guernsey GY1 3DA (telephone number +44 (0)1481 745 000), acts as the Company’s 
depositary and custodian and has certain specific custody, safekeeping, monitoring and oversight 
duties in respect of the assets of the Company. The Depositary was incorporated with limited liability 
in Guernsey on 19 September 1972 with registration number 2651 and is a wholly-owned indirect 
subsidiary of Northern Trust Corporation, a corporation established in the United States. The Depositary 
is authorised by the GFSC (registration number 33). The principal business of the Depositary is the 
provision of custodial, banking, depositary and related financial services.  

15    DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION 
 

Copies of the following documents will be available: (i) for inspection at the registered office of the Company 
during normal business hours on any Business Day for the life of this document; and (ii) on the Company’s 
website (ruffer.co.uk/ric): 

(a)     the Memorandum and Articles of the Company; 

(b)     the Historical Financial Information; and 

(c)     this document. 

Dated: 15 December 2022
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Part 10 

Fund 3.2 Disclosures 

The AIFM Regime requires certain disclosures to be made by UK AIFMs, such as the Investment Manager, 
when they market interests in an alternative investment fund to investors located in the United Kingdom. 

In addition, the EU AIFM Directive imposes detailed and prescriptive obligations on fund managers 
established in the EEA (the “Operative Provisions”). These do not currently apply to fund managers 
established outside the EEA, such as the Investment Manager. Rather, non-EEA managers are only required 
to comply with certain disclosure, reporting and transparency obligations of the EU AIFM Directive (the 
“Disclosure Provisions”) and, even then, only if the non-EEA manager markets shares in an alternative 
investment fund to EEA domiciled investors within the EEA. Where the Disclosure Provisions appear to 
require disclosure on an Operative Provision which does not apply to the Company, no meaningful disclosure 
can be made. These Operative Provisions include prescriptive rules on measuring and capping leverage in 
line with known European standards, the treatment of investors, liquidity management, the use of 
“depositaries” and cover for professional liability risks. 

This document contains the information required to be made available to investors in the Company before 
they invest, pursuant to the AIFM Regime and the EU AIFM Directive. Article 23 of the EU AIFM Directive 
has been implemented in the United Kingdom through Chapter 3.2 of the Investment Funds sourcebook of 
the FCA Handbook (“FUND 3.2”). The table below sets out information required to be disclosed pursuant 
to FUND 3.2 and the EU AIFM Directive and related national implementing measures. 

This document contains solely that information that Ruffer AIFM Limited (as the AIFM of the Company) is 
required to make available to investors pursuant to the AIFM Regime and the EU AIFM Directive and should 
not be relied upon as the basis for any investment decision. 

Regulatory Reference 
EU AIFM 
Directive      FUND        DISCLOSURE                                  DISCLOSURE OR LOCATION OF RELEVANT 
Article 23    3.2.2R       REQUIREMENT                               DISCLOSURE 

         

         

         

         

         

1(a)              1(a) a description of the investment 
strategy and objectives of the 
Company

Information on the investment strategy and 
objectives of the Company are outlined in 
paragraphs 4 and 6 of Part 5 (The Company) 
of this document. 

1(a)              1(b) if the Company is a feeder fund, 
information on where the master 
fund is established;

Not applicable.

1(a)              1(c) if the Company is a fund of funds, 
information on where the 
underlying funds are established;

Not applicable.

1(a)              1(d) a description of the types of 
assets in which the Company 
may invest;

The types of assets in which the Company 
may invest are outlined in paragraph 4 of Part 5 
(The Company) of this document. 

The investment techniques used by the 
Company are described in paragraphs 4 and 
6 of Part 5 (The Company) of this document. 

Part 2 (Risk Factors) of this document provides 
an overview of the risks involved in investing in 
the Company.  

the investment techniques that 
the Company may employ and all 
associated risks;

1(a)              1(e)
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EU AIFM 
Directive      FUND        DISCLOSURE                                  DISCLOSURE OR LOCATION OF RELEVANT 
Article 23    3.2.2R       REQUIREMENT                               DISCLOSURE 

         

         

         

         

 

         

         

1(a)              1(f) any applicable investment 
restrictions;

The investment restrictions applicable to the 
Company are set out in paragraph 4 of Part 5 
(The Company) of this document under the 
heading “Investment restrictions”. 

1(a)              1(g) the circumstances in which the 
Company may use leverage;

The circumstances in which the Company may 
use leverage are described in paragraph 4 of 
Part 5 (The Company) of this document under 
the heading “Borrowing and gearing policy”.

1(a)              1(h) the types and sources of leverage 
permitted and the associated 
risks;

The AIFM Regime and the EU AIFM Directive 
prescribe two methods of measuring and 
expressing leverage (as opposed to gearing) 
and require disclosure of the maximum amount 
of ‘leverage’ the Company might be subject to. 
The definition of leverage is wider than that of 
gearing and includes exposures that are not 
considered to be gearing. 

Certain risks associated with the Company’s 
use of leverage are described in Part 2 (Risk 
Factors) of this document. 

The restrictions on the use of leverage are 
described in paragraph 4 of Part 5 (The 
Company) of this document under the heading 
“Borrowing and gearing policy”. The Company 
is not specifically restricted in regards to 
collateral and asset reuse arrangements, 
however, there are no such arrangements.

any restrictions on the use of 
leverage and any collateral and 
asset reuse arrangements;

1(a)              1(i)

1(a)              1(j) the maximum level of leverage 
which the AIFM is entitled to 
employ on behalf of the 
Company;                  

Without prejudice to the foregoing (in 
compliance with the investment policy 
concerning gearing), the Company has set a 
maximum amount of leverage of 250 per cent. 
on a gross basis and 150 per cent. on a 
commitment basis.

1(b)             2 a description of the procedures by 
which the Company may change 
its investment strategy or 
investment policy, or both;

The Company will not make any material 
change to its published investment policy 
without the approval of the FCA and of 
Shareholders by way of an ordinary resolution 
at a general meeting. Any change to the 
investment policy which does not amount to a 
material change to the investment policy may 
be made by the Company without the approval 
of the FCA or the Shareholders.

 

85



EU AIFM 
Directive      FUND        DISCLOSURE                                  DISCLOSURE OR LOCATION OF RELEVANT 
Article 23    3.2.2R       REQUIREMENT                               DISCLOSURE 

         1(c)              3 a description of the main legal 
implications of the contractual 
relationship entered into for the 
purpose of investment, including 
information on jurisdiction, the 
applicable law and the existence or 
absence of any legal instruments 
providing for the recognition and 
enforcement of judgments in the 
territory where the Company is 
established;       

The Company is a company limited by shares, 
incorporated in Guernsey. While investors 
acquire an interest in the Company on 
subscribing for or purchasing Shares, the 
Company is the sole legal and/or beneficial 
owner of its investments. Consequently, 
Shareholders have no direct legal or beneficial 
interest in those investments. The liability of 
Shareholders for the debts and other 
obligations of the Company is limited to the 
amount unpaid, if any, on the Shares held by 
them.  

Shareholders’ rights in respect of their 
investment in the Company are governed by 
the Articles and the Companies Law. Under 
Guernsey law, the following types of claim may 
in certain circumstances be brought against a 
company by its shareholders: contractual 
claims under its articles of incorporation; claims 
in misrepresentation in respect of statements 
made in its prospectus and other marketing 
documents; unfair prejudice claims; and 
derivative actions. If a Shareholder considers 
that it may have a claim against the Company 
in connection with such investment in the 
Company, such Shareholder should consult its 
own legal advisers. 

Jurisdiction and applicable law 
As noted above, Shareholders’ rights are 
governed principally by the Articles and the 
Companies Law. By subscribing for Shares, 
investors agree to be bound by the Articles, 
which are governed by, and construed in 
accordance with, the laws of Guernsey. 

Recognition and enforcement of foreign 
judgments 
Subject to the provisions and requirements of 
Guernsey’s reciprocal enforcement legislation, 
the Royal Court in Guernsey (the “Royal 
Court”) will recognise as a valid judgment and, 
without review of its substance, enforce any 
final and conclusive judgment obtained against 
the Company in the superior courts of a 
defined list of jurisdictions. The requirements of 
such reciprocal enforcement legislation include 
that the relevant judgment be given by a 
superior court of competent jurisdiction and 
that it be: (i) final and conclusive as between 
the parties thereto; and (ii) in respect of a sum 
of money not being a sum payable in respect
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of taxes or other charges of a like nature or in 
respect of a fine or other penalty. The relevant 
legislation provides further that the registration 
of any such judgment may be set aside if, 
inter alia, the Royal Court is satisfied that: (i) the 
judgment is not a judgment to which reciprocal 
enforcement legislation applies or was 
registered in contravention of such reciprocal 
enforcement legislation; (ii) relevant superior 
courts have no jurisdiction in the circumstances 
of the case or the judgment debtor, being the 
defendant in the proceedings in the original 
court, did not receive notice of proceedings in 
the original court in sufficient time to enable him 
to defend the proceedings and did not appear; 
(iii) the judgment was obtained by fraud; 
(iv) enforcement would be contrary to public 
policy in Guernsey; or (v) the rights under the 
judgment are not vested in the person by 
whom the application for registration was 
made. The Royal Court would recognise as a 
valid judgment any final and conclusive 
judgment obtained in certain other jurisdictions 
against the Company and would give judgment 
based thereon without reconsideration of the 
merits, assuming proper service of process and 
assumption of jurisdiction in accordance with 
the laws of such jurisdictions if: (i) the judgment 
was for a fixed or ascertainable sum of money; 
(ii) the judgment was not obtained by fraud or 
in a manner opposed to the principles of natural 
justice; (iii) the judgment was not obtained in 
proceedings of a penal or taxation character; 
and (iv) recognition of the judgment is not 
contrary to public policy as applied by the 
Royal Court.

1(d)             4 the identity of the AIFM, the 
Company’s depositary, the auditor 
and any other service providers 
and a description of their duties 
and the investors’ rights;

Investment Manager: 
Pursuant to the Investment Management 
Agreement, the Company has appointed 
Ruffer AIFM Limited to act as the Company’s 
AIFM. The Investment Manager will maintain 
responsibility for implementing appropriate 
portfolio and risk management standards and 
procedures for the Company and will also carry 
out the on-going oversight functions and 
ensure compliance with the applicable 
requirements of the AIFM Regime and EU 
AIFM Directive.  

Further details of the Investment Management 
Agreement are set out in paragraph 6.1 of 
Part 9 (General Information) of this document. 
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         Administrator and Company Secretary: 
Pursuant to the Administration and Secretarial 
Agreement, the Company has appointed Sanne 
Fund Services (Guernsey) Limited as the 
Company’s administrator and company 
secretary. The Administrator and Company 
Secretary provides the day-to-day administration 
of the Company and is also responsible for the 
Company’s general administrative functions, 
such as the calculation (in conjunction with the 
Investment Manager) and publication of the Net 
Asset Value, the maintenance of the Company’s 
accounting and statutory records, and providing 
the company secretarial functions required by 
the Companies Law and the Rules. 

Further details of the Administration and 
Secretarial Agreement are set out in paragraph 
6.6 of Part 9 (General Information) of this 
document. 

Registrar: 
The Company utilises the services of 
Computershare Investor Services (Guernsey) 
Limited as registrar in relation to the transfer 
and settlement of Shares. 

Further details of the Registrar Agreement 
pursuant to which the Registrar has been 
appointed to act as the Company’s registrar 
are set out in paragraph 6.8 of Part 9 (General 
Information) of this document. 

Depositary and Custodian: 
Pursuant to the Depositary Agreement, 
Northern Trust (Guernsey) Limited has been 
appointed to provide custody and “depo-lite” 
depositary services to the Company, which 
includes, inter alia, monitoring the Company’s 
cash flows and the safekeeping of the assets 
of the Company. 

Further details of the Depositary Agreement are 
set out in paragraph 6.7 of Part 9 (General 
information) of this document. 

Auditor: 
Deloitte LLP provides audit services to the 
Company. The Auditor’s principal responsibilities 
are to audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements of the Company in 
accordance with applicable law and auditing 
standards.  

 

88



EU AIFM 
Directive      FUND        DISCLOSURE                                  DISCLOSURE OR LOCATION OF RELEVANT 
Article 23    3.2.2R       REQUIREMENT                               DISCLOSURE 

 

         Investors’ rights 
The Company is reliant on the performance of 
third party service providers, including the 
Investment Manager, the Administrator, the 
Depositary, the Auditor and the Registrar. 

Without prejudice to any potential right of 
action in tort that a Shareholder may have to 
bring a claim against a service provider, each 
Shareholder’s contractual relationship in 
respect of its investment in Shares is with the 
Company only. Accordingly, no Shareholder 
will have any contractual claim against any 
service provider with respect to such service 
provider’s default. 

If a Shareholder considers that it may have a 
claim against a third party service provider in 
connection with such Shareholder’s investment 
in the Company, such Shareholder should 
consult its own legal advisers. 

The above is without prejudice to any right a 
Shareholder may have to bring a claim against 
an FCA authorised service provider under 
section 138D of FSMA (which provides that 
breach of an FCA rule by such service provider 
is actionable by a private person who suffers 
loss as a result), or any tortious cause of action. 
Shareholders who believe they may have a 
claim under section 138D of FSMA, or in tort, 
against any service provider in connection with 
their investment in the Company, should 
consult their legal adviser. 

Shareholders who are “Eligible Complainants” 
for the purposes of the FCA “Dispute 
Resolutions Complaints” rules (natural 
persons, micro-enterprises and certain 
charities or trustees of a trust) are able to refer 
any complaints against FCA authorised service 
providers (having complained to the provider 
first) to the Financial Ombudsman Service 
(“FOS”) (further details of which are available at 
www.fscs.org.uk). Additionally, Shareholders 
may be eligible for compensation under the 
Financial Services Compensation Scheme 
(“FSCS”) if they have claims against an FCA 
authorised service provider which is in default. 
There are limits on the amount of 
compensation. Further information about the 
FSCS can be found at www.fscs.org.uk. To 
determine eligibility in relation to either the FOS 
or the FSCS, Shareholders should consult the 
respective websites above and speak to their 
legal adviser.
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In order to cover potential professional liability 
risks resulting from the Investment Manager’s 
activities, the Investment Manager holds a 
professional indemnity insurance policy against 
liability arising from professional negligence 
which is appropriate to the risks.

a description of how the 
Investment Manager complies with 
the requirements referred to in 
IPRU-INV 11.3.11G (Professional 
negligence) relating to professional 
liability risk;

1(e)              5

a description of:1(f)               6

Not applicable.any management function 
delegated by the Investment 
Manager;

1(f)               6(a)

The Depositary is permitted to delegate (and 
authorise its delegates to sub-delegate) the 
safekeeping of the assets of the Company.

any safe-keeping function 
delegated by the depositary;

1(f)               6(b)

The following activities are delegated by the 
Investment Manager to its parent entity, Ruffer 
LLP, for the Company and other AIFs it 
manages: 

l      dealing in investments, including 
currencies, and associated settlement 
activities for all the AIFs managed by the 
Investment Manager, including the 
Company. The Investment Manager 
retains its portfolio management function 
activities but the deals that the 
Investment Manager wants to carry out 
for the Company are done by Ruffer LLP; 
and  

l      voting on securities held by all the AIFs 
managed by the Investment Manager, 
including the Company. This enables 
securities managed by different entities in 
the Ruffer group to be collated for the 
purposes of voting and major 
shareholding notifications. 

the identity of each delegate 
appointed in accordance with 
FUND 3.10 (Delegation); and

1(f)               6(c)

No conflicts. One of the reasons behind the 
aforementioned delegations is to mitigate 
conflicts that could arise if the activities were 
not delegated.

any conflicts of interest that may 
arise from such delegations;

1(f)               6(d)

A description of the Company’s valuation 
procedure is outlined in paragraph 9 of Part 5 
(The Company) of this document. The 
Company will not actively invest in hard-to-
value assets. In the event unquoted or illiquid 
stock is held, where a published price or 
valuation in relation to an underlying investment 
is not available, the Administrator will seek to 
obtain an appropriate value from either an 
independent third party or from the Investment 
Manager, who would provide a best estimate 
of the fair value.

a description of the Company’s 
valuation procedure and of the 
pricing methodology for valuing 
assets, including the methods 
used in valuing any hard-to-value 
assets, in line with FUND 3.9 
(Valuation);                  

1(g)              7
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The Company has a Redemption Facility 
(which takes the form of a tender offer to all 
holders of Shares). This facility may operate 
annually, in November each year, at the 
discretion of the Directors. Redemptions on 
any Redemption Date may be restricted to a 
maximum of 25 per cent. in aggregate of the 
Shares then in issue, with any tender requests 
from Shareholders in excess of this being 
scaled back pro rata.  

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the 
Company will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another 
financial asset. Exposure to liquidity risk arises 
because of the possibility that the Company 
could be required to pay its liabilities earlier 
than expected. In managing the Company’s 
assets, therefore, the Investment Manager will 
seek to ensure that the Company holds at all 
times a portfolio of assets that is sufficiently 
liquid to enable it to discharge its liabilities.  

The Company is a closed-ended investment 
company with a fixed pool of capital and may 
from time to time at the absolute discretion of the 
Board undertake share buy backs. However, it 
is generally expected that investors seeking an 
exit from their investment will do so by disposing 
of their Shares in the secondary market, subject 
to the prevailing liquidity conditions. 

a description of the Company’s 
liquidity risk management, 
including the redemption rights of 
investors in normal and 
exceptional circumstances, and 
the existing redemption 
arrangements with investors;

1(h)              8

The Company incurs annual fees, charges and 
expenses in connection with the day to day 
running of the Company. The ongoing charges 
ratio as at 30 June 2022 was 1.07 per cent., 
calculated in accordance with the AIC 
methodology, which is expected to reduce as 
fixed costs are spread over a larger capital 
base following the issue of new Shares. 

The Investment Manager has prepared a key 
information document (“KID”) in respect of the 
Shares as required under the PRIIPs Regulation. 
That regulation requires costs to be calculated 
and presented in accordance with detailed and 
prescriptive rules. The KID is available on the 
Company’s website: ruffer.co.uk/ric 

Given that many of the fees are irregular in their 
nature, the maximum amount of fees, charges 
and expenses that Shareholders will bear in 
relation to their investment cannot be disclosed 
in advance.

a description of all fees, charges 
and expenses, and the maximum 
amounts directly or indirectly 
borne by investors;

1(i)               9
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The Directors of the Company have certain 
statutory duties with which they must comply. 
These include a duty upon each Director to act 
in the way he considers, in good faith, would 
be most likely to promote the success of the 
Company for the benefit of its members as a 
whole. The Company must comply with the 
FCA’s Premium Listing Principles which require 
the Company to treat all Shareholders of a 
given class equally. 

The Investment Manager maintains a conflicts 
of interest policy to avoid and manage any 
conflicts of interest that may arise between it 
and the Company. 

No investor has a right to obtain preferential 
treatment in relation to their investment in the 
Company and the Company does not give 
preferential treatment to any investors. 

The Shares of each class rank pari passu with 
all Shares of the same class.

a description of how the AIFM 
ensures a fair treatment of 
investors;

1(j)               10

Not applicable.whenever an investor obtains 
preferential treatment or the right 
to obtain preferential treatment, a 
description of: that preferential 
treatment; the type of investors 
who obtain such preferential 
treatment; and where relevant, 
their legal or economic links with 
the AIF or the AIFM;  

1(j)               11(a) to 
11(c)

New Shares may be issued at the Board’s 
discretion and providing relevant Shareholder 
issuance authorities are in place.  

The Company has a Redemption Facility 
(which takes the form of a tender offer to all 
holders of Shares). This facility may operate 
annually, in November each year, at the 
discretion of the Directors. Redemptions on 
any Redemption Date may be restricted to a 
maximum of 25 per cent. in aggregate of the 
Shares then in issue, with any tender requests 
from Shareholders in excess of this being 
scaled back pro rata. 

the procedure and conditions for 
the issue and sale of units or 
shares;

1(l)               12
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While the Company will typically have 
Shareholder authority to buy back Shares, any 
such buy back is at the absolute discretion of 
the Board and no expectation or reliance 
should be placed on the Board exercising such 
discretion. It is generally expected that 
investors seeking an exit from their investment 
will do so by disposing of their Shares in the 
secondary market, subject to the prevailing 
liquidity conditions.

the latest net asset value of the 
Company or the latest market 
price of the unit or share of the 
Company, in line with FUND 3.9 
(Valuation);        

1(m)             13 The latest published unaudited NAV of the 
Company, being as at 13 December 2022, is 
£3.0252 and can be found in the 
‘Announcements’ section of the Company’s 
website: ruffer.co.uk/ric

The Company’s latest annual report can be 
found under the heading ‘Documents and 
Announcements’ on the Company’s website: 
ruffer.co.uk/ric

the latest annual report, in line 
with FUND 3.3 (Annual report of 
an AIF);

1(k)              14

The Company’s historic annual and interim 
financial statements can be found under the 
heading ‘Documents and Announcements’ on 
the Company’s website: ruffer.co.uk/ric 

where available, the historical 
performance of the Company;     

1(n)              15

Not applicable.the identity of the prime brokerage 
firm;

1(o)              16(a)     

Not applicable.a description of any material 
arrangements of the Company 
with its prime brokerage firm and 
the way any conflicts of interest 
are managed;

1(o)              16(b)     

The Depositary Agreement provides at clause 
5.18 that neither the Depositary or any sub-
custodian appointed thereunder shall reuse the 
assets (provided that cash is excluded) of the 
Company.

the provision in the contract with 
the depositary on the possibility of 
transfer and reuse of Company 
assets; and

1(o)              16(c)

Not applicable.information about any transfer of 
liability to the prime brokerage firm 
that may exist; and

1(o)              16(d)     
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        The Investment Manager as AIFM is required 
under the AIFM Regime to make certain 
periodic disclosures to Shareholders of the 
Company. 

Under the AIFM Regime, the Investment 
Manager must periodically disclose to 
Shareholders: 

l      the percentage of the Company’s assets 
which are subject to special 
arrangements arising from their illiquid 
nature; 

l      any new arrangements for managing the 
liquidity of the Company; and 

l      the current risk profile of the Company 
and the risk management systems 
employed by the Investment Manager to 
manage those risks. 

This information shall be disclosed as part of 
the Company’s annual and half year reporting 
to Shareholders. 

Under the AIFM Regime, the Investment 
Manager must disclose to Shareholders on a 
regular basis: 

l      any changes to: (i) the maximum level of 
leverage that the Investment Manager 
may employ on behalf of the Company; 
and (ii) any right or re-use of collateral 
(including any security, guarantee or 
indemnity) or any guarantee granted 
under the leveraging arrangement; and 

l      the total amount of leverage employed by 
the Company. 

Information on changes to the maximum level 
of leverage and any right of re-use of collateral 
or any guarantee under the leveraging 
arrangements shall be provided without undue 
delay. 

Information on the total amount of leverage 
employed by the Company shall be disclosed 
as part of the Company’s periodic reporting to 
Shareholders. 

Without limitation to the generality of the 
foregoing, any information required to be 
disclosed may be disclosed to Shareholders: 
(i) in the Company’s annual report or half-yearly 
report; (ii) by the Company issuing an 
announcement via a RIS; (iii) in a subsequent 
prospectus; and/or (iv) by the Company 
publishing the relevant information on 
ruffer.co.uk/ric.

a description of how and when 
the information required under 
FUND 3.2.5 R and FUND 3.2.6 R 
will be disclosed.

1(p)             17
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Part 11 

Definitions 

The following definitions apply throughout this document unless the context otherwise requires. 

2021 AGM                                           the annual general meeting of the Company held on 3 December 
2021 

2022 AGM                                           the annual general meeting of the Company held on 2 December 
2022 

  the administration and secretarial agreement dated 1 April 2019 
between the Company, the Administrator and the Investment 
Manager, a summary of which is set out in paragraph 6.6 of Part 9 
(General Information) of this document 

  Sanne Fund Services (Guernsey) Limited 

Affiliate                                               an affiliate of, or person affiliated with, a specified person, including 
a person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediate 
holding companies, controls or is controlled by, or is under common 
control with, the person specified, and includes in the case of 
Investec any affiliate as such term is defined in Rule 405 under the 
US Securities Act 

AIC                                                      the Association of Investment Companies 

AIC Code                                            the AIC Code of Corporate Governance published by the AIC from 
time to time 

AIF                                                       an alternative investment fund within the meaning of the EU AIFM 
Directive and the AIFM Regime (as appropriate) 

AIFM                                                   an alternative investment fund manager within the meaning of the 
EU AIFM Directive and the AIFM Regime (as appropriate) 

AIFM Regime                                     together, The Alternative Investment Fund Managers Regulations 
2013 (as amended by The Alternative Investment Fund Managers 
(Amendment etc.) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019) and the Investment 
Funds Sourcebook forming part of the FCA Handbook 

Articles                                               the articles of incorporation of the Company 

Auditor                                                Deloitte LLP 

Board                                                  the board of directors of the Company or any duly constituted 
committee thereof 

Broker Agreement                             the engagement letter dated 21 December 2017 between the 
Company and Canaccord as novated by a novation agreement 
dated 18 June 2019 and with effect from 22 June 2019 between 
the Company, Canaccord and Investec and as amended pursuant 
to a letter of addendum dated 5 December 2022 and with effect 
from 1 January 2023 between Investec and the Company, pursuant 
to which Investec has agreed to act as broker and financial adviser 
to the Company, a summary of which is set out in paragraph 6.5 of 
Part 9 (General Information) of this document 

Administration and Secretarial 
Agreement

Administrator or Company 
Secretary 
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Business Day                                     any day which is not a Saturday or Sunday or a bank holiday in the 
City of London 

C Share                                               voting convertible shares of 0.1p each in the capital of the Company, 
as described in paragraph 5.3(b) of Part 9 (General Information) of 
this document 

Calculation Time                               has the meaning given in paragraph 5.3(b)(i) of Part 9 (General 

Information) of this document 

Canaccord                                         Canaccord Genuity Limited 

certificated or in certificated form     not in uncertificated form 

Companies Law                                 the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 and any statutory modification 
or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force 

Company                                           Ruffer Investment Company Limited 

Conversion Ratio                               has the meaning given in paragraph 5.3(b)(i) of Part 9 (General 

Information) of this document 

Conversation Time                            has the meaning given in paragraph 5.3(b)(i) of Part 9 (General 

Information) of this document 

CREST                                                the computerised settlement system operated by Euroclear which 
facilitates the transfer of title to shares in uncertificated form 

CREST Guernsey Requirements      Rule 8 and such other rules and requirements of CREST as may be 
applicable to issuers from time to time specified in the CREST 
Manual 

CREST Regulation                             the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001 
No. 2001/3755), as amended 

CTA 2009                                            Corporation Tax Act 2009 and any statutory modification or 
re-enactment thereof for the time being in force 

CTA 2010                                            Corporation Tax Act 2010 and any statutory modification or 
re-enactment thereof for the time being in force 

Custodian                                           Northern Trust (Guernsey) Limited 

Daily Official List                               the daily official list of the London Stock Exchange 

Deferred Shares                                the redeemable deferred shares of 0.01p each in the capital of the 
Company, as described in paragraph 5.3(d) of Part 9 (General 

Information) of this document 

Depositary                                          Northern Trust (Guernsey) Limited  

Depositary Agreement                      the depositary agreement dated 10 July 2014 between the 
Company, the Investment Manager and the Depositary, as amended 
pursuant to the variation letter dated 17 November 2014 between 
the same parties, a summary of which is set out in paragraph 6.7 of 
Part 9 (General Information) of this document 

Directors                                            the directors from time to time of the Company and “Director” is to 
be construed accordingly 
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  the disclosure guidance published by the FCA and the transparency 
rules made by the FCA under section 73A of FSMA, as amended 
from time to time 

DP Legislation                                   the laws which govern the handling of personal data, including but 
not limited to, the Data Protection (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2017 
and any other legislation in Guernsey concerning data protection, 
the General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 and any other 
applicable laws implementing that regulation or related to data 
protection 

EEA                                                     European Economic Area 

ERISA                                                 US Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended 

ESG                                                     environmental and social governance 

EU AIFM Directive                             Directive 2011/61/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council 
on Alternative Investment Fund Managers, as amended from time 
to time 

Euroclear                                            Euroclear UK & International Limited, being the operator of CREST 

European Union or EU                       the European Union first established by the treaty made at 
Maastricht on 7 February 1992 

Euros or EUR or €                              the lawful currency of participating member states of the European 
Union 

FATCA                                                 the US Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act of 2010, as amended 
from time to time 

FCA                                                     the Financial Conduct Authority or any successor authority 

FCA Handbook                                  the FCA handbook of rules and guidance as amended from time to 
time 

FSMA                                                  the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and any statutory 
modification or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force 

GFSC                                                  the Guernsey Financial Services Commission  

Historical Financial Information       has the meaning given to it at Part 12 (Documents Incorporated by 

Reference) of this document 

HMRC                                                 His Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 

IFRS                                                    International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union 

  the investment management agreement dated 10 July 2014 
between the Company and the Investment Manager  

Investment Manager                         Ruffer AIFM Limited 

IPO                                                      the admission of the Company’s entire issued share capital to the 
premium segment of the Official List and to trading on the Main 
Market, which took place on 8 July 2004  

Investment Management 
Agreement

Disclosure Guidance and 
Transparency Rules or DTRs
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ISA                                                      an individual savings account maintained in accordance with the UK 
Individual Savings Account Regulations 1998 (as amended from time 
to time) 

ISIN                                                     International Securities Identification Number 

Key Information Document or KID   the key information document(s) relating to the Shares and/or any 
other class of shares issued by the Company from time to time (as 
the context requires), produced pursuant to the PRIIPs Regulation, 
as amended and updated from time to time 

LEI                                                       Legal Entity Identifier 

Listing Rules                                      the listing rules made by the FCA under section 73A of FSMA, 
as amended from time to time 

London Stock Exchange or LSE      London Stock Exchange plc 

Main Market                                       the London Stock Exchange’s main market for listed securities 

MAR                                                    Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 of the European Parliament and of the 
Council of 16 April 2014 on market abuse, as amended from time 
to time which is part of UK law by virtue of the European Union 
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 

  the sponsor engagement letter between the Company, the 
Investment Manager and Investec dated 16 May 2022, a summary 
of which is set out in paragraph 6.3 of Part 9 (General Information) 
of this document 

Memorandum                                    the memorandum of incorporation of the Company 

MiFID II                                               Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council 
of 15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments and amending 
Directive 2002/92/EC and Directive 2011/61/EU (“MiFID”) and 
Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 of the European Parliament and the 
Council of 15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments and 
amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 (together with MiFID, 
“MiFID II”), as amended from time to time 

Net Asset Value or NAV                     the value, as at any date, of the assets of the Company after 
deduction of all liabilities determined in accordance with the 
accounting policies adopted by the Company from time-to-time 

Net Asset Value per Share                at any time the Net Asset Value divided by the number of Shares in 
issue (other than Shares held in treasury) at the date of calculation 

Nominal Shares                                 non-participating shares of 0.01p each in the capital of the 
Company, as described in paragraph 5.3(c) of Part 9 (General 

Information) of this document 

Official List                                         the official list maintained by the FCA pursuant to Part VI of FSMA 

POI Law                                              the Protection of Investors (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2020 

PRIIPs Regulation                             the UK version of Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 26 November 2014 on key 
information documents for packaged retail and insurance-based 
investment products and its implementing and delegated acts which 
is part of UK law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 

May 2022 Sponsor  
Engagement Letter
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2018, as amended by The Packaged Retail and Insurance-based 
Investment Products (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 

Prospectus Regulation                     the UK version of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 on the prospectus 
to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted 
to trading on a regulated market, and repealing Directive 
2003/71/EC, which is part of UK law by virtue of the European Union 
(Withdrawal) Act 2018, as amended by The Prospectus 
(Amendment, etc.) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 

Prospectus Regulation Rules           the prospectus regulation rules made by the FCA under section 73A 
of FSMA, as amended from time to time 

Redemption Date                              if the Directors at their sole discretion decide to operate the 
Redemption Facility, such date as may be nominated by the Board 
in November of any year 

Redemption Facility                          the facility allowing Shareholders to redeem their Shares which will 
be operated by the Directors at their sole discretion as further 
described under the heading “Redemption Facility” in paragraph 
12.2 of Part 5 (The Company) of this document 

Register                                              the register of Shareholders of the Company 

Registrar                                            Computershare Investor Services (Guernsey) Limited  

Registrar Agreement                         the registrar agreement dated 26 August 2014 between the 
Company and the Registrar as amended pursuant to variation letters 
dated 27 January 2015, 16 March 2018 and 30 July 2018, a 
summary of which is set out in paragraph 6.8 of Part 9 (General 

Information) of this document 

Regulation S                                      Regulation S promulgated under the US Securities Act, as amended 
from time to time 

  a service authorised by the FCA to release regulatory 
announcements to the London Stock Exchange 

RPI                                                      the Retail Price Index published by the UK Office for National 
Statistics 

Ruffer                                                  Ruffer LLP and its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings, 
including the Investment Manager 

Rules                                                   the Authorised Closed Ended Investment Schemes Rules and 
Guidance, 2021 

SEDOL                                                the Stock Exchange Daily Official List 

Shares                                                Unclassified Shares of 0.01p each in the capital of the Company 
issued and designated as redeemable participating preference 
shares, as described in paragraph 5.3(a) of Part 9 (General 

Information) of this document, and “Share” shall be construed 
accordingly, which includes the Tap Shares 

Shareholder                                       a holder of Shares 

Regulatory Information  
Service or RIS
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SIPP                                                    a self-invested personal pension as defined in Regulation 3 of the 
Retirement Benefits Schemes (Restriction on Discretion to Approve) 
(Permitted Investments) Regulations 2001 of the UK 

Sponsor Engagement Letter            the sponsor engagement letter between the Company, the 
Investment Manager and Investec dated 15 December 2022, 
a summary of which is set out in paragraph 6.2 of Part 9 (General 

Information) of this document 

SSAS                                                   a small self-administered scheme as defined in Regulation 2 of the 
Retirement Benefits Schemes (Restriction on Discretion to Approve) 
(Small Self-Administered Schemes) Regulations 1991 of the UK 

Sterling or GBP or £ or p or pence    the lawful currency of the United Kingdom 

Takeover Code                                   the UK City Code on Takeovers and Mergers, as amended from time 
to time 

Tap Issue                                            issue of Tap Shares by the Company utilising the exemption from 
the requirement to publish a prospectus contained in the Prospectus 
Regulation 

Tap Shares                                         the 67,262,000 Shares issued by way of Tap Issue between 16 May 
2022 and the date of this document (inclusive) 

Target Market Assessment              has the meaning defined on page 21 of this document 

Unclassified Shares                          unclassified shares of 0.01p each in the authorised capital of the 
Company available for issue and designated as a Nominal Share or 
a Share, as described in paragraph 5.3(e) of Part 9 (General 

Information) of this document 

United Kingdom or UK                      the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 

  the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any 
state of the United States of America and the District of Columbia 

USD or US$                                        US dollars, being the lawful currency of the United States of America 

US Investment Company Act           US Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended 

US Person                                          any person who is a US person within the meaning of Regulation S 
adopted under the US Securities Act 

US Securities Act                              US Securities Act of 1933, as amended  

US Tax Code                                      the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to 
time 

  a share recorded on the Register as being held in uncertificated form 
in CREST and title to which, by virtue of the CREST Regulations, 
may be transferred by means of CREST 

Valuation Point                                   the time at which the Net Asset Value of the Company is calculated 
under the Administration and Secretarial Agreement, generally being 
the close of business on the last Business Day of each week and of 
each month or such other time as the Directors may from time to 
time determine 

VAT                                                      value added tax 

United States of America or 
United States or US

uncertificated or in  
uncertificated form
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Part 12 

Documents Incorporated by Reference 

 

The Company’s annual report and accounts for the financial years ended 30 June 2020, 30 June 2021 and 
30 June 2022 (together the “Historical Financial Information”) contain information which is relevant to 
the publication of this document. These documents are available on the Company’s website at 
ruffer.co.uk/ric. The Company’s annual report and accounts for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 were 
updated and re-published to the Company’s website on 1 December 2022 and re-uploaded to the National 
Storage Mechanism of the FCA on 8 December 2022, to reflect the correction of the figure stated as the 
‘total assets’ as at 30 June 2022 in the ‘Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022’ (page 84) 
following it being discovered that this figure had previously been mis-stated due to a typographical error.  

The table below sets out the information from the Historical Financial Information which is incorporated by 
reference into, and forms part of, this document and which is available for inspection as set out in paragraph 
15 of Part 9 (General Information) of this document.  

Any non-incorporated parts of the Historical Financial Information are either not relevant for investors or 
covered elsewhere in this document. Any documents themselves incorporated by reference or referred or 
cross-referred to in the Historical Financial Information shall not form part of this document. 

Document                                       Sections                                                                    Page numbers 

    Chairman’s review                                                     5 – 10 

    Business model and strategy                                    11 – 17 

    Investment Manager’s report                                     18 – 23 

                                                       Top ten holdings                                                        24 

                                                       Report of the Directors                                              27 – 32 

                                                       Corporate governance statement                              33 – 44 

                                                       Audit and Risk Committee report                              47 – 52 

                                                       Management Engagement Committee report            53 – 54 

                                                       Report of the Depositary                                           55 – 56 

                                                       Independent Auditor’s report to the members of  
                                                       the Company                                                            57 – 65 

                                                       Statement of financial position                                   66 

                                                       Statement of comprehensive income                        67 

                                                       Statement of changes in equity                                 68 

                                                       Statement of cash flows                                            69 

                                                       Notes to the financial statements                              70 – 102 

                                                       Portfolio statement                                                    103 – 106 

                                                       Appendix (unaudited)                                                109 

Annual report for the year 
ended 30 June 2020 
ruffer.co.uk/ric
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Document                                       Sections                                                                    Page numbers 

    Chairman’s statement                                               5 – 11 

    Business model and strategy                                    12 – 18 

    Investment Manager’s report                                     19 – 31 

                                                       Responsible investment report                                  32 – 38 

                                                       Top ten holdings                                                        39 

                                                       Report of the Directors                                              42 – 47 

                                                       Corporate governance statement                              48 – 59 

                                                       Audit and Risk Committee report                              62 – 67 

                                                       Management Engagement Committee Report           68 – 69 

                                                       Report of the depositary                                            70 – 71 

                                                       Independent Auditor’s report to the members of  
                                                       the Company                                                            72 – 81 

                                                       Statement of financial position                                   82 

                                                       Statement of comprehensive income                        83 

                                                       Statement of changes in equity                                 84 

                                                       Statement of cash flows                                            85 

                                                       Notes to the financial statements                              86 – 119 

                                                       Portfolio statement                                                    120 – 123 

                                                       Appendix (unaudited)                                                127 – 128 

    Chairman’s statement                                               4 – 11 

    Strategic report                                                         12 – 18 

    Investment Manager’s report                                     19 – 29 

    Responsible investment report                                  30 – 36 

                                                       Top ten holdings                                                        37 

                                                       Report of the Directors                                              40 – 45 

                                                       Corporate governance statement                              46 – 59 

                                                       Directors’ remuneration report                                   60 – 62 

                                                       Audit and Risk Committee report                              63 – 68 

                                                       Management Engagement Committee Report           69 – 70 

                                                       Report of the depositary                                            71 – 72 

                                                       Independent Auditor’s report to the members of  
                                                       the Company                                                            73 – 83 

                                                       Statement of financial position                                   84 

                                                       Statement of comprehensive income                        85 

                                                       Statement of changes in equity                                 86 

                                                       Statement of cash flows                                            87 

                                                       Notes to the financial statements                              88 – 122 

                                                       Portfolio statement                                                    123 – 126 

                                                       Appendix (unaudited)                                                130 – 131

Annual report for the year 
ended 30 June 2021 
ruffer.co.uk/ric

Annual report for 
the year ended 
30 June 2022 
ruffer.co.uk/ric
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